LETTERS ON THE AMERICAN REPUBLIC

J. R. BALME.

THOS. KENNARD,
SECOND-HAND BOOKSELLER,
6, RUSSELL STREET,
AND 48½, REGENT STREET,
LEAMINGTON. -

BOOKS BOUGHT.

227

100 - COLL.

V WIT)



Jud Pheysey 1866 LETTERS

ON THE

AMERICAN REPUBLIC,

OR.

COMMON FALLACIES AND MONSTROUS ERRORS REFUTED
AND EXPOSED.

BY THE

REV. JOSHUA R. BALME.

Author of the "Lever of the Gospel," "Mirror of the Gospel," "Magnet of the Gospel," "Telescope of the Gospel," "Telegraph of the Gospel," "American States, Churches, and Slavery," and the "American War Crusade."

FOURTH EDITION.

LONDON: HAMILTON, ADAMS, & CO.
THE AUTHOR, WILSDEN, NEAR BINGLEY, YORKSHIRE.

Digitized by the Internet Archive in 2011 with funding from The Institute of Museum and Library Services through an Indiana State Library LSTA Grant

http://www.archive.org/details/lettersonamerica00balm

CONTENTS.

AMERICAN PRIVILEGE,	-	1
THE REPUBLIC OF AMERICA AND ITS GLORIES, -	-	8
AMERICAN MELODRAMATIC SCENES,	-	16
AMERICAN SUBSTRATUMS OF MORAL AND RELIGIOUS PRIN	1 -	
CIPLES EXAMINED,	-	26
EXPLOSIVE ELEMENTS AND PYRAMIDAL SCENES IN AMER	1-	
CAN SOCIETY,	-	37
ON THE AMERICAN UNION,	-	42
THE HAPPY FAMILY AND ITS QUARRELS, -		54
THE BLACK PARTNERSHIP CONCERN,	_	65
THE TIP OF THE LAST JOINT; OR GENTLEMANLY HONOR	TR	0.0
AND STANDING,	_	73
THE LORD MAYOR'S BANQUET IN LONDON, -		88
THE REV. HENRY WARD BEECHER	-	100
ENGLISH AND AMERICAN DIVINES,		134
NEW CAMBRIA, THE NEW WELSH COLONY IN NORTHER	N	101
Missouri,	-	135
AMERICAN DIVINES,	_	136
A MARTIN LUTHER WANTED,		140
TRUE POLICY DEFINED,		147
Mock Philanthropy; or Canterism,		158
Non Comeatibus,	_	179
FREEDMEN'S AID COMMISSION,		187
THE FREEDMEN'S AID COMMISSION AND ITS ENGLIS	H	101
Auxiliaries,		192
FREEDMEN'S AID SOCIETY AND ITS REPRESENTATIVES AND)	102
Supporters,	•	196
MEMBERS OF THE PEACE SOCIETY AND THE AMERICA	N	100
WAR,	•	209
PEACE BACKSLIDERS,		215
THE AMERICAN WAR CRUSADE,		225
Coons, False Shepherds, and President of the		
Wesleyan Conference,	' <u> </u>	263
THE EXPLATORS, OR SAVIOURS OF THE SOUTHERN PEOPL	JE.	230
of America,	-	283
Conclusion,		301



AMERICAN PRIVILEGE

TO THE EDITORS OF THE LIVERPOOL MERCURY.

GENTLEMEN,-The words of John Bright must ever sound strangely in the ears of enlightened and upright men, and produce immense mischief in stirring up animosity and strife both in the Old and New World. "Privilege came forth every morning, and with blatant voice cursed the American republic. Privilege had beheld thirty millions happy and prosperous, without an emperor or a king, or a state bishop or priest." By the word "privilege," I suppose Mr Bright means the aristocracy with its vested rights, and its use in the above relationship presents him to the view of mankind as the opponent of monarchy and a paid ministry, denouncing them as "kingcraft and priestcraft." But as monarchy and the noble ordination of the ministry will not lack noble intellects, hearts and arms to defend them in this country, should the occasion demand it, let us lift up and make to pass in review before us "squatter sovereignty," another

name for aristocracy, or privilege, in America. Our "squatter sovereigns" are divided into two classes. The first is an aristocracy of men-stealers, or slave-holders. These look on slavery as the normal condition of the negro; consider property in him as inviolable as any other in the country; cherish a decided preference for that species of property so called; consider any interference with it by others as presumptuous, intrusive, and diabolical; avow that the emancipation of the slave would be dangerous to society and a curse to himself; certify that slavery is a great blessing, a kind of alkali which neutralises the antagonism of whites and blacks for the mutual interest of both; contend that slavery is invested with the sanction of religion and guaranteed by the constitution; affirm that they view it with thankfulness and gratitude as a providential arrangement ordained by the Almighty, and declare that all who call in question or entertain a doubt concerning the humanity and divinity of slavery display "bottomless ignorance," unteachable fanaticism, and blasphemously intrude between the negro and his God.

What fearful vested rights are disclosed in the above form of our so-called "privilege" in America. Into what bright forms the hideous features of slavery are transformed to woo and charm the unsuspecting and ignorant. With what presumptuous daring and matchless effrontery is it associated with the sacredness of religion. And with what subtlety and cunning do these "squatter sovereigns," or aristocrats, seek to

hide from the view of men the bloody slave-whip which is ever doing its cruel work, the red-hot branding iron which is ever hissing in the flesh of the wretched victims of its cruelty—and the anguish and sorrow which dwell in the hearts of multitudes of the oppressed!

O for a million tongues

To thunder freedom's name,

To utter a cry which should pierce the sky—

The indignant cry of shame!

Our eagle's talons are red
With the reeking blood of the slave,
And he proudly flings his protecting wings
O'er the sight of freedom's grave.
Awake in Thy mercy and might,
And hasten the day which shall open the way
Of truth, and justice, and right.

But whoever may speak against negro slavery, say our "squatter sovereigns," England must be silent, for if it be sinful and cruel to hold men in bondage, she has a heavy load of guilt to bear, since she first gave slavery to us in America. If true, England gave other things to us besides slavery, and we would not have them. She gave us Stamp Acts, but these created Riot Acts; she put threepenny taxes on our tea, and we threw it into the waters of Boston Harbour; and she imposed taxation without representation, and we resisted it with the rattling musketry of Bunker Hill and the roar of cannon from New Orleans to Saratoga. Each and all these we repudiated

because we did not like them, but we kept slavery because we liked it! How fearful, therefore, to delude ourselves and to seek to deceive others by casting off an awful responsibility which it becomes us to feel and meet with manly courage. And this we call privilege in America.

There is, however, another class of aristocrats in America whose "privileges" associate them with the "aristocracy of skin," which is the vilest thing the world ever knew or saw. These look upon the negro as a "superior animal" or "domesticated brute," and consider him as belonging to an inferior race to themselves. They say, "as the crocodile is to the negro, so is the negro to the white man; and as the white man may treat a negro, so the negro may treat a crocodile." "Prejudices," say they, "which neither refinement, nor argument, nor education can subdue, mark the people of colour, bond and free, as the subjects of a degradation inevitable and incurable; subject them to every imaginable insult in their expulsion from the railway car, steamboat saloon, social circle, sanctuary, the states of Illinois and New Jersey; and with beseechings made soft with tenderness, cause the President to entreat them to leave the country, whilst he solemnly and earnestly reminds them that America can never be the black man's home, and that his country cannot continue to be polluted with their footprints. sides," say our Northern aristocrats, "God has provided for the negro a Canaan in Liberia; and when it shall be great and prosperous it will then doubtlessly be seen (say they) that a wise Providence suffered the negro race to pass through a long season of oppression in order that they might be elevated and purified, and demonstrate that God had been long elaborating in the depths of his unfathomable counsel, just as he elaborates the diamond in the mine, a gem of Christian civilisation, to blaze on the sable brow of Africa; so that what Christianity could not do for them in America, it could, would, and should do for them in Africa; and this is what we sincerely believe to be no fault of the coloured or white man, but an ordination of Providence, and no more to be changed than the laws of nature."

Influenced by such considerations and governed by such principles and motives, need we wonder that our Northern class of aristocrats should spurn the negro, as the bigot of old did the Jew, or as the Turk did the Christian; reveal a fixedness of purpose never to allow the coloured man equal social, political or religious privileges with themselves; avow that in America the negroes "must be for ever debased, useless, and a nuisance from which it were a blessing for society to be rid;" and pass decrees of a most oppressive character which are to stand against them in all their rigour, and which they say were enacted to work out their "ultimate and unbounded good" in order to relieve us of "their unwelcome presence where they are not wanted, and to induce them to emigrate en masse to Liberia, where they could repeat with the highest gratification to each other and feel the captivating spell of the sentiment contained in those lines which the far-famed comedian Garrick proposed as the commencement of an address for the opening of a theatre at Botany Bay—

"True patriots we, for be it understood We left our country for our country's good."

What distinguished magi we have got in America. Is it not wonderful to contemplate such so-called far-

reaching sagacity and benevolence?

It is no less amusing to observe these aristocrats seeking to penetrate into the "mysteries of infinity," and to hear them talk with impious familiarity of the "designs of an all-wise Providence" to silence their fears in connexion with their own over-shadowing iniquities, and smother conviction arising from obligations which bring pressing claims to love mercy, do justly towards all men, and walk humbly with their God.

What phantoms of evil imaginations, which vanish into "airy nothings" when looked at with cool and undistorted vision! And how absurd to suppose that a people dwelling in so wide and rich a land as ours is, should be constantly saying to the millions of Europe, spiced with an invitation to the "cotton lords" to bring their mills and machinery with them to our "poor man's paradise," exclaiming "there is room enough for all,"and yet feel alarmed lest the coloured man should make his home amongst them to pollute or frighten them with the touch or colour of his skin.

How basely wicked is the thought! Oh, the deceitfulness of unrighteousness! Verily the "tender mercies of the wicked are cruel." And as these two forms of "privilege" cover our whole land, one pervading the South, and the other the North, it will be perceived that obnoxious as John Bright makes out "privilege" to be here; and sneeringly as he may refer to it, there are a few in the New World, and the writer amongst them, who have never been possessed or obsessed in favour of "privilege" there; and when "privilege" here and "privilege" there are brought into contrast would exclaim in regard to the former—

"O give us the freedom and home of the brave, With soil never trod by the foot of the slave; Where tyrants and dungeons and chains are unknown, And liberty's smile is the stay of the throne."

Should the above be deemed worthy of a place in your columns, and the opportunity present itself in connexion with other urgent claims, I hope you will allow me the privilege and gratification of calling attention to some other monstrous fallacies which are propounded with all earnestness and gravity and sought to be industriously circulated in this country in regard to America. Meanwhile, allow me to subscribe myself—Yours, for truth as well as liberty.

J. R. BALME.

An American Baptist Clergyman.

32 Sun-street, Brownlow-hill.

THE REPUBLIC OF AMERICA AND ITSGLORIES.

TO THE EDITORS OF THE LIVERPOOL MERCURY.

GENTLEMEN,-It is quite easy to fascinate men with the beauteous imagery which is employed by those who have embraced the Federal cause and policy in this country, and to excite their admiration and heroic appreciation of America by representing it as a "model country," "a thing for angels to dream of," for men are naturally fond of what is marvellous; but as the superb grandeur which invested the dignified order of our "squatter sovereigns" in America, and the bright halo of glory which surrounded their virtues, disappeared like the mist before the rising sun, on lifting up the mask in our last letter; even so, by pushing our inquiries into the real condition and true character of our country, we shall find that its bright colours will rapidly fade before us, and its towering glories speedily vanish at every step, and from every standpoint where we can have a glimpse of it.

If we look at America in the light of our great charters of freedom, such as the constitution and declaration of independence, and also our written laws, we shall find our honour as a people trampled in the dust, and our name made a reproach and byword amongst the nations. The constitution provides for all, without limitation, restriction, and distinction of colour, the act of habeas corpus, trial by jury, civil and religious liberty, the right of petition, and protection to person and property; and yet to the negro these grand clauses in the constitution have been as "inoperative as a bull against a comet" from the first hour of our independence until now; whilst through the perversion and misapplication of it the victims of slavery have increased from 647,000 to 4,000,000. What a black heritage of guilt has this tremendous feat of jugglery entailed on our land! How wonderful that an instrument which was associated with the bright angel of liberty, and was made to carry the eagles of freedom, should by some mysterious process have been made to carry "a devil" with it instead of an angel. Our declaration of independence avows that "all men are equal, and are born to life, liberty, and the pursuits of happiness;" and yet, although it has been the motto of a thousand speeches, and the text of a thousand sermons, it is gravely alleged by the president and governors from their chairs of state, the senator in the senate chamber, legislator in the house of legislature, the judge from the bench of judicature. and the divine from the pulpit, that the negro is not a man, and that his equality with them is simply neither more nor less than the equality of the ox; for as the law of Moses commanded that the mouth of the ox was not to be muzzled, that treadeth out the corn, even so, to use the language of President Lincoln, who denies the

right of negroes to vote, sit on juries, and intermarry with white people, yet this same negro has one right reserved by the President, and this right claimed by him and the magi who think with him, is simply and solely deemed to be the right of (the ox) to eat the bread which his own hand earns.

We have not only great charters of freedom in the documents referred to, but we have written laws. It has been truly said that no people are better than their laws. If so, in what a mean, low, and debased condition must our slave laws—our "black laws" so called in the Free States—and our congressional fugitive slave law, put us as a people. Our slave laws reduce the negro to a "chattel personal;" make every child born of a slave, the property of his master or owner so called; subject the slaves to the lash for learning to read, and the white man to fines and penalties for teaching them.

Our black laws in two of our Free States, so called, decree that no black man or mulatto shall enter, and in all but two exclude them from voting, and in one of these require a property qualification, whilst in all the Free States they are made the badge of an ignoble distinction, which excludes them from social rights and sanctuary privileges, and marks them out as the victims of a cruel prejudice. And then there is the Fugitive Slave Law, which strikes down in the most cruel and summary manner the natural right of the slave to be free, tramples under feet two of the most sacred guarantees of the **co**nstitution—the Habeas

Corpus Act and trial by jury—creates a tribunal unknown to the constitution in the persons of commissioners, offers a bribe to send men into slavery, and requires all citizens, under the heaviest penalties, to doff their manhood, don the bloodhound, and go yelping on the track of the weary, wayworn fugitive, in order to secure his arrest, although they may feel that the above law is opposed to every noble impulse of humanity, the express command of Jehovah, and that the code of Draco, which was written in blood, was white-robed innocence when compared with it.

What a glimpse our written constitution and laws give of our highly eulogised country. Our free representative government so called, gives us a further and deeper insight into the "wonders and glories of

our republic."

And first of all, there is our elective franchise, to which all citizens are entitled, and can therefore vote for the election of president, governors of States, mayors and members of city corporations; and those who are not citizens can be made so to subserve party purposes, whilst Indians sometimes are made to help to turn the tide of electioneering in favour of favourite partizans; and if these manœuvres are not sufficient to accomplish party purposes, men who have no regard to an oath, are induced by bribery to perjure themselves; "plug uglies" are also called in to block up every avenue to the ballot box to keep out opposing parties; and, recently, for the first time in the history of the world, whole regiments have had

furloughs granted them to leave the battlefield that they might vote in the interests of their military dictators.

Need we wonder, therefore, that by the use of such means, and from the force of contending parties who make a virtue of necessity, we should have had a succession of presidents who have violated the great charters of freedom, which they were sworn to uphold? so that if they had been dealt with as the law of the case demanded, many, if not all of them, would have had to expiate their crimes on the gallows! And such has been the corruption, peculation, and fraud which have filled every department of the Government and States, that our representative form of government, with its "unbalanced" democracy-which ought to be called "mobocracy"—has been brought into almost universal disrepute. Instead of winning favour, it has created dark withering frowns and shrugged-up shoulders amongst men! In the place of hosannas, it is bringing down upon itself a world's thundering anathemas! Instead of being a blessing, it has become the pesthouse of fraud, the lazar house of corruption-a great world nuisance!

The provision made for the education of the people gives us another manifestation of our republic. This provision is plentiful, for no country in the world has more schools, colleges, or churches; but the education is corrupt in quantity, and defective in quality. This is obvious from the fact, that if the simplest elements of justice, feeblest deductions of reason, or the first and

easiest lessons of Christianity, had been taught, a succession of ever-increasing victims could not have passed through the fires to the Moloch of slavery-the free negroes would not have so long continued under the ban of proscription. Northern schools, colleges, and churches would not have been filled with pro-slavery teachers, professors, and divines: the sons and daughters of slaveowners who have received their education almost exclusively in the North, would not have been so far inducted into the so-called humanity and divinity of slavery, as to have their moral sense extinguished—shown in their attempt to found a new republic based on slavery; all liberty sentiments would not have been expunged from tracts, pamphlets, and books written by authors in this country, before they have been put into circulation by our tract committees and publishers; men who have had the taint or smell of abolition about them would not have been isolated, ostracised, caricatured, abhorred, maltreated, or endangered in their position, prospects, or property; our best friend and ally, England, would not have been regarded and treated as our greatest foe; the fires of the volcano which is now sending forth its burning lava to ruin and devastate our land, would not have been so long concealed from the view of men. or allowed to gather its forces to produce such vast and extended mischief both in America and Europe; those who profess to hold in trust the enlightened principles of Christianity, which lie at the basis of a sound education, and to have a providential mission

14

to supply the antidote to those boundless elements of mischief, in the persons of Cheever, Beecher, Sloane, Conway, Mrs Stowe, and others, would not have abandoned moral for military issues, and have been running to and fro in our land with the Robespierre cry of liberty, fraternity, and equality on their lips to rouse the war passions and to let out deluges of blood. Captains and chaplains would not have been selected and appointed to go on a crusade to this country armed with "sacks of flour" and "butteries" to possess and obsess you in favour of our imaginary liberties, by making speeches and reading homilies on civil and religious liberty, and gravely reading Psalms in public which commence, "Not unto us, O Lordnot unto us, O Lord, but unto Thy name be all the glory," in homage of the greatness and glory of our republic now in ruins, and of our illustrious race of philanthropists, patriots, and Christians, who have accelerated its destruction. An all-pervading press and the wonderful powers of the telegraph would not have been controlled by military despotism, covered ignominous defeats with imaginary glorious victories, to enlist new recruits, to make more food for powder, or contract new loans, to prop up our doomed republic, or ambassadors sent to the Old World to astonish the nations by the assumption of extraordinary powers in connection with "tickets of leave." And yet, forsooth, we have philosophers, poets, statesmen, and divines, who point to the glory that dwells in our land, and strangely misguided pro-Federal advocates here who reciprocate the sentiment of John Bright in his avowal that "there would be a wild shriek of freedom to startle all the world if our republic in America was overthrown," and that Privilege here would shudder at what would happen. I have still a few more points of interest to comment upon.—Yours respectfully, for truth as well as liberty,

J. R. BALME,

American Baptist Clergyman

Sun-street, Liverpool.

AMERICAN MELODRAMATIC SCENES.

TO THE EDITORS OF THE LIVERPOOL MERCURY.

GENTLEMEN,—It is quite amusing to read the statements of poets, senators, orators, and divines in America, and the pro-Federals in this country, who claim for America the highest place amongst nations.

In a grandiloquent speech made by Secretary Seward in the senate chamber of the United States in the autumn of 1860, we find the following startling announcement, that the "worst slave state is in advance of England;" and in a lecture recently delivered by the celebrated novelist Thomas Hughes in the Collegiate Institute, the following paragraph was jotted down by the reporters, and published in the newspapers of this town-"He declared, from all his reading and his conversation with Americans and with Englishmen who had travelled in that country (America), that there was no country in the world where men are so free, so well educated, so noble in all respects—in all essential respects in which freemen ought to be noble—as the citizens of the States of the North, especially the New England States. (Cheers.) No nation had done so much to enlighten and elevate its people; and its people were worthy of the sympathy of those who had done well in the great ends for which nations were established."

If, therefore, we are to give credence to the utterances of the persons referred to, your illustrious characters, such as Brougham, Gladstone, Livingstone, Spurgeon, Florence Nightingale, and Queen Victoria, must vanish behind the scenes, whilst the aristocracy of slaveholders or menstealers in the Southern States make their appearance in the persons of Jeff. Davis, Howell Cobb, Mason, Slidell, Floyd, Wise, Pryor, Barkdale, accompanied by a large retinue of lady major domos, surrounded by bright and beautiful landscapes, where the skies cleave asunder to pour down righteousness in the way of retributive justice; where the incense laden gales of miasma from the dismal swamps of slavery fill every breeze; where the soft sweet lullaby dies away, and then swells into a grand hallelujah chorus amid the din and clatter of bludgeons, thumbscrews, pincers, cowhides, cat-o'-nine-tails, bowie knives, revolvers, and bloodhounds, as these aristocrats trip it with fantastic toe, making heaven to weep and hell to rejoice, while the lash plays and the blood flows; while women are whipped and children are sold; while the paternal tie is rudely torn, and the marriage annulled; while honest gains are filched and robbed, the souls of men are shut down in all the darkness of ignorance, and God himself is defied in the pretension that man can hold property in his fellow-man; while all around the great big serpent slavery draws its long slow length along, over every sunny bank, under every shady tree, by the side of every meandering stream, coiling its snaky

folds or darting its sting and breathing its hiss under the shadow of their "patriarchal domes," filling the land with its unclean presence and spirit, impregnating the atmosphere with its stench, and turning the blooming paradise of the South into an Aceldama. And yet, for sooth, with this monster that binds so many hands. cords so many feet, blinds so many eyes, blasts so many intellects, crushes so many hearts, and opens so wide the jaws of destruction, and makes such a smooth path to it-yes, with this monster, slavery, we are to be fascinated; with its patriarchal scenes, so called in the "sunny South," we are to be entranced; and with such sounds we are to be filled with joys divine and rhapsodies celestial, if we are to bow to the dogma of the Hon, Wm. H. Seward. And if we are to receive the teachings of Thomas Hughes, your distinguished celebrities must still hide their diminished heads whilst the genii, so called in the North, whom Beecher designates the "picklock of society and the pickpocket of the world," and whose daughters, especially in the New England States, according to the testimony of the same divine, are to regenerate the South without the aid of the first syllable—oh yes, your illustrious personages must still go down into the shade whilst the above wonderful genii crowd upon the stage.

And here the scene opens with the crowding of the shores of the New World with emigrants, whom Dr. Guthrie calls the "scum of Europe;" and as they enter upon the business activities of life, down goes the value of slave labour, and up goes the feverish

anxiety of their Northern fleshmongering owners to realise their full market value. Hence, when they could find no market around them, they sent them into the Southern market, that they might exemplify their "thrift to fawning." It must be some consolation therefore, to those who have constituted the so-called "scum of Europe," to be of some service to the commonwealths of America in the North. The next scene brings before us a large procession of distinguished citizens, with clergymen robed in their canonicals leading the way to church, where they offer their devout gratitude to Almighty God for the passing of the fugitive slave law, and condole each other and the people that the Union was saved, the storms which threatened the Republic were turned into a calm, and that they would have peace in their time. Again the curtain rises, and we hear the bells tolling, as they announce the "glory departed" of Northern free cities in the rendition of fugitive slaves amidst the military tramp of armed men who are conveying them to the ship or railway station to be consigned to the hell of the Carolinas

The next scene brings before us the fitting up of the slave ships and their departure from New York, Boston, and New Bedford, for Africa, to empty that country in order to humanise, civilise, and christianise them through the benign influences of the patriarchal institution of slavery.

Another scene opens to our view, and we see a parson salesman in a Baptist Convention in Philadelphia,

surrounded by great official dignitaries, such as Drs. Wayland, Cone, and others, and hear his voice as he proceeds, amidst the profound silence of the assembly, and without rebuke, to offer for sale his pious slave, whom he had brought with him from the South. We hear his voice exclaiming, "See, here is my christian slave, who has a desire to go to preach the gospel in I will take 200 dollars for him. Oh. what a chance for you who are anxious for the slave, to try your liberality." Then comes the Baptist missionary, Bushyhead, the agent of the Triennial Convention, which had its head-quarters in Boston. Bushyhead is surrounded with a beautiful plantation, well stocked with slaves, and is deeply solicitous about the Indians, and very assiduous in inducting them into the mysteries and blessings of the patriarchal institution, slavery, where this mystery of iniquity is now at work, showing its baleful influences among the red men of the forest.

Then comes before us the examination of the slave-breeding pens of Virginia and the border States by the representatives of the Bible, Tract, and Missionary Societies, appointed by committees in New York to see which slaves are ready for the market, and whether they can be speak any of the proceeds of their sale for the printing of the Holy Bible, and to send mission-aries to Turkey and India by getting their owners to become life members, or directors in the payment of the usual fee.

In the next scene the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher

leads the way in connection with a crowd of official dignitaries, and solicits attention whilst he reads a homily to prove that there is no malum in se in slavery. An electric flash goes through the crowd, and the editors of the New York Observer, Express, and Christian Intelligencer, frantic with delight, shout, "This our brother was dead, and is alive again; was lost, and is found." The Rev. Dr. Lord, of Dartmouth College, follows with another homily on the subject, to show that slavery is in accordance with natural and revealed religion, and the law of love. Professors Hoge of Princeton, and Stuart of Andover, thunder out the announcement that master and slave is a relationship of rightful authority, and that, after all the spouting on the subject, the Bible, which establishes that relationship, remains the same. The Rev. Van Dyke, of New York, with deepest and broadest emphasis avows that he finds slavery in nature and Providence. Dr. Nehemiah Adams declares that it is adapted to the beneficent workings of society, and regrets that he cannot introduce it into Boston, Dr. Blagden opens out his Bible and turns down chapter and verse in its defence. Dr. Baron Stowe finds that his Bible does not allow him to deny any courtesy to a man because he is a "Christian slaveholder." The Rev. Henry T. Cheever says a man may be a slaveholder and yet a Christian-there is no doubt of it. Dr. Gardiner Spring says if one prayer would free every slave he would not be the man to offer that prayer. And Mrs. Stowe brings up the

rear in this crowd of worthies with a brand-new mantle of piety for her dear "lady pious slaveholder," Mrs. Shelby, large enough to cover both the mistress and her stolen property—the slave; and whilst she looks with defiant scorn, and carries a whirlwind in her track against the pirate who has stolen a chest of goods, because he covets a mantle of piety to cover up himself and his stolen goods, thinking, doubtlessly, that if stolen men were no bar to the enjoyment of such a privilege, stolen goods ought not. But, poor soul, he is mistaken. He has not been inducted into the mysteries of our special justificatory circumstances in America, and the granting of special indulgences to absolution which exempt these great transgressors from the ban of condemnation.

Next comes a Republican convention, that makes America a place of torture for the black man, holds out to him Liberia as a Paradise, decrees no more slave territory, and yet elects a man to the presidency who declares that "if any territory desires slavery, and seeks admission into the Union, although he would be sorry to do it, yet he would admit it."

The next scene gives us a view of the successive plagues of America, the softening of the president's heart in view of all circumstances, and the cornucopias which rain down flowers upon him for his grand achievements as a rail splitter, tavern keeper, navigator of a flat boat, farmer catching coons, lawyer learning the "specious arts" to deceive, political debater in which he adapted himself to men of all

political creeds and shades of opinions, making Abolitionists believe that he hated slavery as much as any of them, Republicans feel that he had no love to the negro as a man, was quite inflexible in their belief that America was the country for the white man, and the white man only; and Democrats quiescent under the assurance that if he could save the Union and slavery as well, he would do it; or save the Union and slavery in part, he would do that; but if he could not save the Union without destroying slavery he would do it; and as President of the United States he has been honoured with the achievements of a Moses, although he has not acquired the power of a Pharaoh to let the slaves go.

In the next scene, Secretary Chase makes his appearance with his financial goose under his arm, and goes through the operation of putting gold into its mouth, and receiving a hurricane of greenbacks at its tail to show the sudden increase of wealth in our glorious republic, and assures the astonished crowds that if he can only monopolise the trade, he can prevent the republic from coming to grief or tottering to

its fall.

And to close these melo-dramatic scenes, the Marplots gather in great force; and amongst them we recognise the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher, armed with his knuckledusters, and bending his fists in the face of England amidst the wildest demonstrations of applause. There are also Cheever, Goodell, and Sloane, surrounded by torches of Greek fire, horns of powder,

percussive biscuits, and starvation shells, which, like so many Titans, they aspire to take up in the sling of mortal hate to hurl into the heart of the South, to start the slave population in revolt against their masters. Doolittle and Wadsworth claim that the thunderbolts of heaven will so avenge their cause that the South is sure to be turned into swamps for crocodiles if the southerners persist in their rebellion. Jim Lane, of Kansas notoriety, is so furious in the letting out of blood that he advocates the destruction of the Copperheads, or Democrats so called in the North, and certifies to a commencement of such a reign of terror in the state to which he belongs. Fred Douglas gives a significant look towards this country, administering at the same time a particular caution or warning that, if you interfere, Uncle Sam, though reduced to a skeleton with the scab, cancer, and barebones of slavery, will gather up the remnants of his Titanic power and "strike down the mailed hand of England." And Mrs. Stowe certifies that, on the bright roll of their war crusade, Garrisonians, and democrats, and republicans are all registered, and stand shoulder to shoulder, and with voice answering voice, and heart to heart, utter words of good cheer as they cry-

> Draw your good sabres bright, Gather your reins up tight, Buglemen blow: Now for the crimson fight, Charge on the foe.

Man to man, horse to horse, Hand to hand, force to force; Oh, but they fiercely fight: Give them your sabres bright, Pistol them too.

And these deluges of blood are let out in the name of justice, equality, and liberty. How deluded and misguided, to allow a love of country to override their love of justice! And yet, according to Thomas Hughes, these men are the world's greatest noblemen! What a satire upon the human race! This is what we call in America "beating the devil at long chalks."

In my next I shall notice "American Substratums."
—Yours, for truth as well as liberty,

J. R. BALME.

An American Baptist Clergyman.

32 Sun Street, May 4, 1863.

THE AMERICAN SUBSTRATUMS OF MORAL AND RELIGIOUS PRINCIPLE EXAMINED.

TO THE EDITORS OF THE LIVERPOOL MERCURY.

GENTLEMEN,-No nation any more than an individual can depart from the laws of God without being subject to His retributive justice. This is fearfully illustrated in the cataract outpourings of blood, and wide-spread scenes of suffering and woe which we now behold in the present unhappy condition of America. country recorded in the annals of history has evermore persistently departed from first principles, or wickedly violated the just and righteous laws of God-a fact which no "mysterious cypher" or "hieroglyph" can cover up or hide from the view of men, who are acquainted with our condition or history as a people. If, therefore, the punishment bears any proportion to our crimes or guilt, God's thunderbolts must flame with uncommon wrath to blast our country's greatness. and make desolate our land.

These great and terrible judgments had long been predicted by distinguished citizens and statesmen, who pointed to the coming whirlwind of Divine vengeance and raised the warning voice as if they had been almost inspired; but our nation rushed madly on in its career of guilt and shame, until God shook down

upon it the "bolted fires" of His wrath as a just penalty for its sins. Long, long ago Jefferson exclaimed, "I tremble for my country when I reflect that God is just. One day of American slavery is worse than a thousand years of that which we rose in arms to oppose. The Almighty has no attribute which can take sides with us in such a contest. And His justice will not sleep for ever." What words could have been more prophetic or appropriate?

Scarcely any, however, expected that the destruction of our "grand Republic," so called, was so near at hand or would be so suddenly affected; and fewer still anticipated that our Northern people would be the blind Samson in connexion with the terrible scenes now being enacted in the great drama of God's retributive providences in America, to pull down the pillars of our American commonwealth on themselves, and bury themselves in one common ruin with the Southern Lords or Philistines. Such, however, was the prediction of Longfellow when he dedicated his poem to the Senate of the United States, which contained the following stanza:—

There is a poor blind Samson in the land,
Shorn of his strength, and bound in bonds of steel,
Who may in some grim revel raise his hand
And strike the pillars of the commonwealth,
Till the vast temple of our liberties
A shapeless mass of wreck and rubbish lies!

When, however, the Unionists or pro-Federals cannot cover up the plague-spots of our country which

the crashing thunders and forked lightnings in the terrific displays of God's justice are now finding out, and disclosing to the view of men in their shifting policy, they acknowledge their severity, and recognise their appropriateness so far as the South is concerned, but claim exemption for the North, as if it had had no share in the bonds of wickedness to be unloosed, but had dwelt in the paradise of abiding peace established on the foundation of righteousness, than which nothing can be more fallacious or delusive.

Ah, but, says Dr. Guthrie, one of the vice-presidents of the Manchester Union Emancipation Society, "There is no country in the world, our own excepted, where there is such a deep substratum of moral and religious principle as is to be found in those portions of the American republic which have not been cursed with slavery, and considering so much scum from the old world has been poured into it by the tides of emigration, we have cause to wonder that the good bears such a proportion to the evil!"

Lincoln, Seward, and Co. are ever and anon introduced to our favourable notice by the pro-Federals as bright ornaments to the cause of humanity, liberty, morality and religion. These men have a more exalted opinion of the worth of European emigrants at the present time than Dr. Guthrie, or they would not have appropriated three millions of dollars to open the floodgates of emigration, that a flood of the above-mentioned "scum" might flow into our so-called "Poor Man's Paradise!" In an address which

that great and good man Dr. Guthrie gave in the Philharmonic Hall of this town, he truly remarked that "the genius of Christianity was love, and that her highest worship lay in such works as sprang from loving God with all the heart, and loving their neighbours as themselves;" but does Dr. Guthrie or his pro-Federal coadjutors admire the love or appreciate the work of the above Christian statesmen, so called, who are now turning so lovingly, and beckoning so kindly to the able-bodied men of this country through their consuls and crimps, whilst they repeat the old ditty of the nursery rhyme:—

"Come into my parlour,"
Said the spider to the fly,
"Tis the prettiest little parlour
That ever you did spy."

Now, if, to use the language of Guthrie, "faith without works is a lie, a monstrous lie, a devil's lie, and one of the blackest that ever came out of hell," what must faith with the works of those Christian menspiders be, in connection with the black and bloody work of enticing men away from home, friends, and country, to be dumped by Northern Christian scavengers into the "grand army of the North" to fill up the gaps of the dead and dying on the battle fields of the South, or amidst its pestilential swamps? What kind Christian solicitude! How deep or broad is the substratum of moral or religious principle that underlies such a work as that!

Moral and religious principle is a thing of great

value, and is everywhere very much required, but nowhere in God's creation is it more wanted than in our Free States, so called, in America. The scarcity of the thing there enhances the value of it very much. If we look to the science of political economy for it, we discover no trace of it in that department; for however minute or diligent we may be in our researches, we can find nothing but compromise, corruption, and fraud. In taking a survey of the whole field of political science in America and its different strata, we can confidently affirm that there is not a wicked or cruel act of the Federal Government on behalf of slavery, which has not been subscribed to, ratified, and endorsed by Northern senators and people, and for which they are alone responsible, as they could not have been enacted or put in force without their votes and consent. If we turn our attention to our religious theories and practises, as popularly taught and illustrated, we are again doomed to be disappointed in our researches for this deep, broad substratum of moral and religious principle, for there is no department in America that has been more perverted or corrupted than the science of religion, in theory or practice. Not only have the blasphemous doctrines that man may hold property in man, and that one man is inferior to the other, been chiefly taught and inculcated by our Northern professors and divines, but acted upon by our Northern people in their brokerage system with the Southern people, and, what is worse still, shown in their contempt of the negro race, and

usurpation of their sanctuary rights and privileges, where the negroes are met with the same biting sarcasms and blasting irony and scorn, as the Jews met the Gentiles when they drove them from their places in the temple and filled them with ordinary traffic, so that our Saviour in going into the temple had to pass through herds of cattle, flocks of sheep, and busy crowds who were selling turtle doves and exchanging money; indignant at the profanation of the sacredness of his house, he took a whip and drove them out of the temple, and overturned the tables of the moneychangers. And were our Saviour now on earth, would he not be indignant with the proud Vankees who drive men of a different colour from themselves from their places in the sanctuary, and show his displeasure by rebuking them, exclaiming, "My house shall be called a house of prayer for all people, but ye have made it a den of thieves,"-a brotherhood of thieves. Can we succeed any better in finding this deep, broad substratum of principle in our survey of the enlightened sentiments or opinions of the people? Had the people been touched with the fine issues that proceed from moral and religious principles, the overwhelming masses thereof would not have acquiesced in the death of that noble hero and martyr, John Brown, or demanded his execution for doing what he would have had every slave do to him under similar circumstances, and what the grand old Puritans covenanted to do in the cabin of the Mayflower at all costs and risks. Where, then, shall 32

we find this deep, broad substratum of moral and religious principle? Shall we find it in the fearful struggle now going on between the North and South? Is the fierce war spirit that is now cherished by the religious war crusaders, so called, evidence of its existence? If so, Robespierre and his coadjutors in the French revolution were great saints; and liberties lost, wrongs endured, hopes blasted, and sufferings undergone must be regarded as the work of a genuine philanthropy, putting darkness for light, and evil for good. And yet this terrible issue, which is sweeping all the mounds of authority, and ornaments of civilisation and safeguards of virtue before it, as with a whirlwind, is the only issue before the country. If this be the deep, broad substratum of moral and religious principle referred to by Dr Guthrie and his coadjutors the pro-Federals, what a terrible libertyloving element it must be; and how it illustrates those scenes of unutterable horror which marked the era of the French revolution! In the report of the committee adopted at the 46th anniversary meeting of the Liverpool auxiliary of the Wesleyan Missionary Society, recently held in Brunswick Chapel, Liverpool, there occurs the following extraordinary passage :- "We have no educated barbarian who tests the quality of his revolver and practises his own sportsmanship upon the bodies of the poor heathen whose souls he is sent to save. Nor can we find any one so afflicted with a mathematical monomania as to be driven by its delusions to leave his poor sheep in the

wilderness of heathenism, and return to England to bewilder those who are already in the fold, to tread down their pasturage and foul the waters of life. Happily, such is the prompt efficaciousness of our discipline, that, should such a prodigy appear, the very next mail would carry out his sentence—"His Bishopric let another take!" Have our Wesleyan brethren had no M'Clintock and Bishop Simpson in their midst to bewilder those who are in the fold, &c., by their misrepresentations of the condition of the Northern Branch of the Methodist Episcopal Church? and as those same divines are in full fellowship with those extraordinary "soldiers of Christ in America," described under the following heading in the Liverpool Mercury, May 20th.

SOLDIERS OF CHRIST IN AMERICA.

At a recent meeting of the Methodist Episcopal Church, in New York, several of the reverend speakers denounced the rebellion of the South, and the conduct of the Confederates in extraordinary language. The Rev. Dr. Osborne, of White Plains, said he "had to contend against a great deal in his district, for the infamous Copperheads, sympathisers with the South, were as thick as blackberries, and he often felt as if he would like thrashing a man to be a Christian virtue, that he might have the privilege of digging into such fellows." Here there was a loud laughter from the reverend auditory, as well as a fluttering of

fans in the galleries. Encouraged by this, Dr. Osborne went on to say "that if he were President Lincoln, instead of suspending the writ of habeas corpus, he would suspend the Copperheads." A Rev. Mr Foster said that "the South hated the Yankees, despised, scorned, and held them in ridicule, and he for one hoped that the war would go on until such hellish, devilish ideas were whipped out of the people of the Southern States. To accomplish that object he did not care if the war went on for one, two, or ten years." A second Mr Foster, recently from New Orleans, where he had acted as chaplain to a regiment, complained of the ladies of that city, who insulted every Yankee they met in the streets, sometimes crossing on the other side to show their contempt. The common cry among them was, "Take care of your pockets, here's a Yankee coming." "He wanted that feeling whipped out of the Southern people by shot and shell." The Rev. J. R. Wakely informed the Conference that "the proper way to treat a Copperhead was to stamp your heels on him." As the same divines are in full fellowship with these soldiers, has any mail taken out the sentence to the above, "Your fellowship let others take?" How sad to contemplate such a degeneracy in our race in America! Mr Newdegate condescends to inform us that we need not be surprised at our condition, or with the troubles which have come upon our land. "You have got no established religion! Your President is not the vicegerent of Christ! You have

no bench of bishops, or fat livings for Churchmen! Consequently you are a nation accursed of God!" His Excellency, Charles Francis Adams, ambassador to this country from America, says that they are to be traced to the "consequences of royal piety, in his Majesty King James the Second making his religion his politics, and his politics his religion." "I may not forget," to quote, "a resolution which his Majesty made, and had a little before entered upon it at the council board at Windsor or Whitehall, that the negroes in the plantations should all be baptised, exceedingly declaiming against that impiety of their masters prohibiting it, out of a mistaken opinion that they would be ipso facto free." "Had James, therefore," says Adams, "seen the true connexion between the maxims of Jesus Christ, and the relation of master and slave in the plantations, Christianity would in time have gained the mastery over slavery in America, as it did in Europe. He mistook it, and the consequence has been that slavery has gained the mastery over Christianity in one half of the Union. Religion, therefore, is the handmaid of oppression, and liberty is wounded in the house of her friends." And Secretary Seward, in his address to the Parliamentary Reform Association at Paisley, traces the continuance of our troubles to the power of European opinion: "If all Europe could not only think but speak as you do, there would soon be no civil war or insurrection here." What a trio of distinguished sages! If the assurances of Mr Paterson, therefore, "that the people of England

are in favour of the war for the Union," should carry with them in America any weight of influence, according to Seward he will soon want no more citizen soldiers from the North, or alien soldiers from Europe, nor a Miss Dickinson, with her inspirations as the goddess of liberty.

Reserving a few more points, yours, for truth as well

as liberty,

J. R. BALME,

American Baptist Clergyman.

32 Sun-street Liverpool, May 13, 1863.

EXPLOSIVE ELEMENTS AND PYRAMIDAL SCENES IN AMERICAN SOCIETY.

TO THE EDITORS OF THE LIVERPOOL MERCURY.

Gentlemen,—As no transcendent opening of grandeur, beauty, or inestimable worth could be found in connection with our explorations into the substratum of American society, in our last communication, we shall briefly call attention to the explosive elements of human passion, frenzy, and madness which are everywhere manifest in our degraded country, causing tremendous eruptions of the burning lava of malice and vengeful scorn to flow forth sometimes from South to North, at other times from North to South, and then again from both North and South alternately and conjointly towards England. These fiery eruptions in connection with the Northern substratum of society are abundantly made manifest in the departments of the science of our political economy, religion as popularly taught amongst us, our enlightened public sentiment so-called, and the philanthropy which the Rev. Newman Hall says lies at the bottom of the struggle going on in America.

And apropos to our figure, we have an illustration which will help to fix in our memories, and to move

us to the profoundest depths of our hearts in horror of the terrible wreck of virtue, morality, liberty, and religion which such explosive elements produce. The illustration is as follows:-During the drilling of an oil well recently, at a place called Tudione, in Pennsylvania, a sudden rush of oil in its crude state took place, forming a pillar which rose to the height of 41 feet above the surface of the ground, and also a circle of 100 feet in diameter. Above this jet or pillar the gas or benzine rose in a cloud, which kept extending itself until it came in contact with a fire in the neighbourhood, when a terrific explosion took place, instantly turning the jet of oil into a column of livid flame, and also the oil shower around it into a shower of fire, which fell like water from a fountain, and ignited the ground as each drop of oil came down in the shape of a blazing globe of fire, whilst the blazing gas or benzine above this pyramid of fire went dashing towards the heavens like lightning flashes until it licked the clouds with its furious tongues of heat; and as the fiery pillar was fed at the rate of 100 barrels per hour, the scene of combustion was tremendous, and, being continuous, it made a noise like the rushing of a hurricane or tornado through the forest. The heat of the fire became so intense that no persons could approach within 150 feet without scorching their skin or burning their garments, and the scenes of horror which took place were frightful to contemplate. Scores of men were thrown hither and thither by the force of the explosion, and, being exposed to the shower of fire, were horribly burnt as they rushed blazing from the scene of their misfortune, shrieking and screaming in their anguish. Within the blazing circle could be seen the skeletons of those who had fallen a prey to the scorching and devouring flames. Some who escaped from the blazing circle of destruction and ruin afterwards died from the injuries which they received. Others who survived were so seriously injured by the scorching heat of the flames as to become great sufferers from pain; and all who were present at the opening of the well sustained more or less injury by the explosion which took place.

The above is a feeble but fitting emblem of the scenes of suffering and trial which have been the sad experience of multitudes who have come within the vaster circle of the scorching flames of persecution that have been ignited with the fires of freedom in connection with the borings or drillings into what Dr Guthrie calls the deep, broad substratum of moral and religious principles in America. Not only in the degraded South, but in our "moral and religious North," so called, no drilling or boring could be made into any of the departments already referred to without discovering an abundance of fiery elements which the smallest spark of freedom or atom of moral and religious principle would cause to explode, or kindle into a grand pyrotechnic display of human passion, from which the uncompromising abolitionist would feel glad to escape, and the approach to which would

fill him with apprehension and alarm. Hence the almost universal precaution taken to warn the public against the abolitionist in churches, synods, and conventions, lest there should be an explosion and the peace of the churches or states be destroyed. Up to the period of the disruption, abolitionism was always considered the greatest crime in our Nothern calendar, and the Christian abolitionist in particular had to be subject to the fiery ordeal of persecution, and to endure privation and hardship, inconvenience and loss. Not only were there hidden stores of danger in society beneath him, but around him in church and state there were active agencies, which sometimes resembled the scene given in the following picture, "A pyramid of serpents." The following is from the Morning Chronicle, and, although passing strange, the scene described may be true. A traveller in South America writes:-" In the savannahs of Isacubo, in Guiana, I saw the most terrible spectacle that can be seen, and, although it is not uncommon to the inhabitants, no traveller has ever mentioned it. We were ten men on horseback, two of whom took the lead in order to sound the passage, while I preferred to skirt the great forest. One of the blacks who formed the vanguard returned at full gallop and called to me, 'Here, sir, come and see the serpents in a pile.' He pointed out to me something elevated in the middle of the savannah or swamp which looked like a bundle of arms. One of my company then said, 'This certainly is one of the assemblages of serpents, which heap

themselves on each other after a violent tempest. have heard of these, but have never seen any before. Let us proceed cautiously, and not go too near.' We were within 20 paces of it. The terror of our horses prevented our nearer approach, to which none of us were inclined. On a sudden the pyramid mass became agitated; horrible hissings issued from it; thousands of serpents rolled spirally on each other, shot forth out of their circle their hideous heads, and presented their venomous darts and fiery eyes at us." However uncommon such scenes as the above may have been to travellers in South America, scarcely a church in our principal denominations, conventional gatherings, or political assemblies, in our Northern States, but has presented the same hideous aspect to abolitionists. We have had some agitated masses in the church and senate chamber; and let any good man and true rebuke the present unholy, fratricidal war, and no parties in Church or state more than some who claim to be "famous anti-slavery agitators" will fling their envenomed darts or turn up their fiery, malignant eves!

This is no uncommon thing in America, since no person or party is allowed to hold an opinion different to that of their own, without being subject to open rancorous malignity; or feeling Joab's vengeful stab.

-Yours, for truth as well as liberty,

JOSHUA R. BALME, American Baptist Clergyman.

ON THE AMERICAN UNION.

TO THE EDITORS OF THE LIVERPOOL MERCURY.

GENTLEMEN,—Our Union, so called, in America, is so drunk with sorcery and witchcraft, so corrupted and perverted with falsehood and fraud, and so wrinkled, withered, and bowed down with crime, that it is a matter of surprise how any sincere and upright man can look upon her haggard features, or her doubledyed garments of dishonour and shame with any other feelings than those of utter detestation and abhorrence; and yet we find Federals and pro-Federals who profess to have the "honour clear," and "soul sincere," ever and anon introducing her to the favourable notice of mankind as if she was the grand polar star of attraction which was to draw all nations to worship at her feet—the mighty enchantress of the world, that could not only stir the air, but also the ears and hearts of men with harmony, and charm them wisely and well! The Hon. Edward Everett is amongst the first and foremost of our country's admirers to call our attention to the Union, and to expatiate on the spell of her enchantments, and the witchery of her charms; whilst with deepest and broadest emphasis he puts the crown on her beauty, pronouncing her to be "the nicest adjustment of human wisdom." When referring to the robes of splendour and beauty which she is said to wear, Peter Sinclair, Esq., the agent of the Union and Emancipation Society in this country, solemnly avows, in one of a series of letters to the Edinburgh Review, that she is covered with "the fairest fabric of human liberty the world possesses." And if we are to believe John Bright, M.P., or the Hon. A. H. Stephens, the Vice-president of the Confederate States, we must pass through "Glory's morning gate and walk in Paradise to obtain a glimpse of her heritage," since Stephens, in a speech which he made in the Hall of Representatives, Georgia, November, 1860, described her domain to be the "Eden of the world, the Paradise of the universe"-a sentiment in which John Bright coincides, as shown in his affirmation that "America is a land of which angels might dream."

According to the above, it must be delightful to dwell in such a land—to gaze on landscapes painted with such rich beauties and suffused with such heavenly light—where still waters glide through such meadows of enchantment and fields of paradisaical beauty—where flowers bloom along every pathway, incense floats on every gale, and where warbling songsters fill every forest and grove, and sweep the mystic chords of every heart with their enchanting

Tioû, tioû, tioû, tioû. Spe, tiou, squa. Tiô, tiô, tiô, tiô, tio, tio, tio, tix. Coutio, coutio, coutio, coutio. Squô, squô, squô, squô. Corror, tiou, squa pipiqui. Zozozozozozozozozozozo, zirrhading! Tsissisi, tsissisisisisisis, Dzorre, dzorre, dzorre, hi. Tzatu, tzatu, tzatu, tzatu, tzatu, tzatu, tzatu, dzi. Quio, tr rrrrrrr itz. Lu, lu, lu, lu, ly, ly, ly, liê, liê, liê, liê. Quio, didl, li lulylie. Hagurr, gurr, guipio. Coui, coui, coui, qui, qui, qui, qui, gai, gui gui. Goll goll goll guia hadadoi. Couigui, horr, he diadia dill si! Hezezezezezezezezezezezezezezezeze couar ho dze hoi. Quia, quia, quia, quia, quia, quia, quia, ti. Ki, ki, ki, īo, īo, īo, ioioioio ki. Lu ly li le lai la leu lo, didl io quia. Kigaigaigaigaigaigaigaigaigaigai couior dzio dzio pi.

"Before creating such a land," says the celebrated Charles O'Connor of New York:—"God, in the benignity and far-seeing wisdom of his power, permitted the great family of mankind to live on, advance, improve step by step, 5000 years and upwards, until the earth was deemed mature for laying the foundation of our truly free, truly happy, and truly independent empire." "Then," says O'Connor, "God raised up a set of men whose like had never existed upon the face of the earth—men unequalled in their perceptions of justice, in their comprehensive benevolence, and in their capacity to lay safely, justly, soundly,

and with all the qualities which should ensure permanency, the foundations of the above empire-the first assembly of rational men who ever proclaimed in clear and undeniable form the immutable principles of justice, and consecrated to all time, in the face of tyrants, and in opposition to their power, the rights of nations and the rights of men." Senator Doolittle has proclaimed it to be his religious belief that our American republic was the "political power foretold by the prophets-for which good men in all ages looked and prayed—and to whose duration and success Heaven, with all its omnipotence, was pledged." The poet Longfellow has recently put the capstone of glory on the above column of testimony in honour of the Union in his ode to its greatness, in which he makes the Union to be the great keystone in the centre arch of Society and the world, and boldly declares that

> "Humanity with all its fears, With all its hopes of future years, Hangs breathless on its fate!"

Such being the case in their estimation, it is no wonder that the Federals, or pro-Federals, such as John Bright, should dread disunion, or that the Hon. Secretary Seward should bring up the rear, and assure mankind that our great and glorious Union, so-called, has been ingratiated into the "world's affections," and that the different nations of mankind are "prepossessed in its favour to an extent that no other nation enjoys

or ever possessed before!" It remains for us, therefore, to examine this wonderful thing called the Union, which has so delightfully sprung into being, and is said to rise before the nations the marvel of beauty, wreathed with unfading honour and glory. And if we take into account its unnatural combinations, we shall perceive that its bright colours fade with the touch, and that an enormous fraud has been practised on mankind—a fraud as cruel and heartless as the hoax palmed off on the credulity of 700 ministers in France, and 4000 ministers of religion in this country -namely, that our Northern clergy and churches have diffused a gospel based on the sacred and inalienable rights of human freedom, concerning which we have had something to say in our book. "American States and Churches." It has been said that the Union is the emblem of nationality; if so, our flag gives a correct but humiliating representation of its character and condition. The late Daniel O'Connell was quick to perceive this, and prompt to expose it, whilst with terrible sarcasm he rung the sentiment in the ear of the world-

"United States, your banner wears
Two emblems—one of fame;
Alas! the other that it bears
Reminds us of your shame.
The white man's liberty in types
Stands blazoned on your stars,
But what's the meaning of those stripes?
They mean the negro's scars!"

But can those stars be real when they are made to

coalesce with unnatural stripes? If they had not been mock stars, would they or could they have formed a combination with real stripes, or have remained in such a preposterous coalition for so long a time? It is incompatible with the principles of freedom to be in alliance with the stripes or scars of slavery. A peaceful permanent, and happy Union on such a basis, was in the nature of things impossible. "When the republic was first born," says John Bright, "it contained the seeds of great peril." At first slavery was connived at, then tolerated as a necessary evil, and then enthroned in church and state as a cardinal virtue, where it acquired a colossal power to control parties and sects, the judgments of courts both civil and sacred, and the freedom of speech and the press! With such a combustible element at the basis of our republic, how could an explosion be well avoided by the mixing up of such incongruous elements? In such a case it needed but the spark of true freedom to explode the mine.

Whilst Jefferson, one of the founders of the Union, deprecated the existence of slavery, he also predicted that "it would be the rock upon which the Union would split." And so it has been, for it was impossible to impair the law of contract that existed between the slave and the free States without endangering the existence of the entire country. This was so patent to William Lloyd Garrison and party, that they uniformly and persistently demanded that the Union should be allowed to slide up to the time of

the disruption, and proclaimed the stars and stripes to be a "flaunting lie."

On January 31, 1861, the leading representatives of the above party met in Association-hall, Albany, New York, and resolved as follows: -- "That the American slave system is the sum of all villanies, a compound of all cruelties and crimes-robbery. adultery, piracy, and murder, and whatever is impure, unholy, and accursed. Resolved, that slaveholders, as such, have no rights which any human being is bound to respect; that their slaveholding States are organised bands of thieves and robbers, living by plunder and piracy on the avails of unpaid and unpitied toil; that our governmental union with such States and men was an atheistic rebellion against every principle of reason and revelation, every law of nature and of God, which no possible circumstances could have warranted in its formation, or justify in its longer continuance; and that to call such a state of things a union is to outrage, beyond possible endurance, the common sense of creation; and the only relief in enduring such an unholy alliance, at once so devilish and disgraceful, is the hope that God, or some other power, will ere long dash it in pieces like a potter's vessel."

The Union was first formed to protect themselves from common danger. In order to meet England they had to be united. "Union was strength," said they; "United we stand, divided we fall." But whilst we have been secure from outward dangers,

we have fallen a prey to ruin from the greater dangers which have threatened us from within Slavery has always been an element of disunion—a jarring note of discord—a bone of contention; but the South had nothing to fear from any abolition power in the North, for the good men and true who clung to the sacred principles of freedom on the basis of no compromise and no surrender, like the Spartans in olden times, were few and far between scattered and peeled, driven hither and thither, and were subject to almost universal indignity and scorn when the war broke out. At that period there were only some three or four in Congress, such as Sumner, Lovejov. and Giddings, who had stemmed the tide of opposition to their principles; and my friend, Wendel Phillips was uttering a loud lament that the cause of abolitionism had made no progress for twenty-five vears previously.

And in that lament he was joined by that eloquent but misguided man, Frederick Douglas, as shown in his "Monthly" for June, 1860. Should the pro-Federals point us to an advance of public opinion in favour of abolitionism in the election of Lincoln, we have overwhelming proof to the contrary in Lincoln's own statements, given in his campaign book, and letter to the Hon. Horace Greeley. At page 202 of the above book he says—"I should like to know if taking this old declaration of independence, which declares that all men are equal on principle, and making exceptions to it; where will it stop? If one man says

it does not mean a negro, why may not another man say it does not mean another man? If that declaration is not the truth, let us get this statute book in which we find it, and tear it out." At page 193 of the same book he says-"I am not, nor ever have been, in favour of bringing about in any way the social and political equality of the white and black races. I am not, nor ever have been, in favour of making voters or jurors of negroes, nor of qualifying them to hold office, nor to intermarry with white people; and I will say in addition to this, that there is a physical difference between the white and black races, which will for ever forbid the two races living together on terms of social and political equality. And inasmuch as they cannot so live, while they do remain together there must be the position of superior and inferior. I am as much as any other man in favour of having the superior position assigned to the white race."

But the above is not all. In page 18 of the book we have referred to, he says—"I have always hated slavery, I think, as much as any abolitionist." And in his letter to the Hon. Horace Greeley, dated Washington, August 22, 1862, he says—"I would save the Union; I would save it the shortest way under the constitution. The sooner the national authority can be restored, the nearer the Union will be 'the Union as it was.' If there be those who would not save the Union, unless they could at the same time destroy slavery, I do not agree with them. My

paramount object in this struggle is to save the Union, and it is not either to save or destroy slavery. If I could save the Union without freeing any slave, I would do it; and if I could do it by freeing all the slaves, I would do it; and if I could do it by freeing some and leaving others alone, I would also do that." And yet, forsooth, according to Peter Sinclair and the pro-Federals, the sentiments of Lincoln are worthy of a place beside the noblest utterances of Granville Sharpe, Clarkson, Wilberforce, Brougham, or any of your British philanthropists! Can deception, fraud, or hypocrisy be exceeded in the above? The moral world must be moving the wrong way on its axis when such beggarly shams and gigantic swindles as the one referred to above, can be palmed off at public meetings as abolitionist, receive congratulatory addresses as such, and receive their plaudits! By the duplicity, cunning, and fraud which Lincoln practised, he obtained a few abolition votes; but what contributed most of all to his success was the division which had taken place in the Democratic party. This gave him a large majority. But although Lincoln was elected, a larger number of Democratic or proslavery senators and legislators were sent by the people of Congress at the general election of 1860 than obtained in 'the Senate, or the Hall of Legislature at Washington, under the presidency of Buchanan, Lincoln's predecessor! The Hon. A. H. Stephens, when referring to this fact in an eloquent speech which he delivered in the Hall of Representatives,

Georgia, November 14, 1860, says, "The President of the United States, is no emperor, no dictator. He is clothed with no absolute power. He can do nothing unless he is backed by power in Congress." The House of Representatives is largely in the majority against him. In the very face of the heavy majority which he has obtained in the Northern States, there have been large gains in the House of Representatives to the conservative constitutional party of the country, which here I will call the national Democratic party, because that is the cognomen it has at the North. There are twelve of this party elected from New York to the next Congress, I believe. In the present house there are but four, I think. In Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Ohio, and Indiana, there have been gains. In the present Congress there were 113 Republicans, when it takes 117 to make a majority. The gains in the Democratic party in Pennsylvania, Ohio, New Jersey, New York, Indiana, and other States, notwithstanding its distractions, have been enough to make a majority of nearly 30 in the next House of Representatives against Lincoln. Even in Boston. Mr Burlingame, one of the noted leaders of the fanatics of that section, has been defeated, and a conservative man returned in his stead.

Is this the time, then, to apprehend that Mr. Lincoln, with this large majority in the house against him, can carry out any of his unconstitutional principles in that body? In the Senate he will also be powerless. There will be a majority of four against him—this

after the loss of Bigler, Fitch, and others, by the unfortunate dissensions of the National Democratic party in their States. Mr Lincoln cannot appoint an officer without the consent of the Senate—he cannot form a cabinet without the same consent. He will be in the condition of George III., the embodiment of Toryism, who had to ask the Whigs to appoint his ministers, and was compelled to receive a cabinet utterly opposed to his views; and so Mr Lincoln will be compelled to ask the Senate to choose for him a cabinet, if the Democracy of that body chose to put him on such terms. He will be compelled to do this or let the Government stop, if the Democratic men in the Senate should so determine. Then how can Mr. Lincoln obtain a cabinet which would aid him or allow him to violate the constitution? So far, therefore, from there being an advance wave of public opinion in favour of liberty in the last general election of America, the result was a clear gain in favour of what is called the conservative or pro-slavery element, and Lincoln owed his election not to the Republican party, but to the dissensions and divisions which obtained amongst the Democrats. Why, then, it may be asked, did Southern senators and representatives retire from their places in Congress, and form themselves into a new government? This will form the subject of my next communication. Meanwhile, allow me to subscribe myself, yours for truth as well as liberty,

> J. R. BALME, American Baptist Clergyman.

THE HAPPY FAMILY AND ITS QUARRELS.

TO THE EDITORS OF THE LIVERPOOL MERCURY.

GENTLEMEN,-In the neighbourhood of Trafalgar Square, London, there used to be a man who exhibited a cage containing birds, reptiles, insects, and animals, said to be living in quiet grace and harmony, bearing the title of "The Happy Family." But when any of them showed their irreconcilable natures, the exhibitor gave them a gentle tap on the head with a lath which he kept for that purpose. Our "Happy Union Family" in America, so called, bears a strong resemblance to the above, and with its antagonistic natures has required to be kept under restraint with the laths of presidential authority. The Abolitionist member, however, was the most difficult to manage, and had to endure not only gentle but sometimes very severe treatment in order to preserve its false harmony and peace from being interrupted, and its "nice and subtle happiness" from being destroyed, by the touch of his magical enchanter's wand. And not only is its happiness demonstrated to be of an imaginative and uncertain character, but also insecure, for on the election of President Lincoln to assume the functions of supreme power with his lath, there was an outburst

of enmity which has produced alienation and strife ever since: and the more President Lincoln has tried to reunite the different members of our once so-called "Happy Family," the more deadly have their resentment and hostility become. And although he has called to his councils and aid the Hon. W. H. Seward. who claims to be invested with extraordinary powers, shown in a despatch of Lord Lyons to Earl Russell, Nov. 14, 1861, which contains the following words. said to have been addressed to him by Seward-"My lord, I can touch a bell on my right hand, and order the arrest of a citizen of Ohio; I can touch another bell, and order the imprisonment of a citizen of New York, and no power on earth, except that of the President, can release them. Can the Queen of England do so much?" Although President Lincoln has the aid of such a wonderful man, with his spiritual mediums to boot, to all human appearance he will come to grief with the members of the Northern division in our Union family, and have his difficulties and trials the same as in the Southern one, over which he has lost all control, and for the subjugation of whom he uses all his powers and resources in vain.

"Is it, O man, with such discordant noises,
With such accursed instruments as these,
Thou drownest Nature's sweet and kindly voices,
And jarrest the celestial harmonies?

Were half the power that fills the world with terror, Were half the wealth bestowed on camps and courts, Given to redeem the human mind from error, There were no need of arsenals nor forts:

The warrior's name would be a name abhorred; And every nation that should lift again Its hand against a brother, on its forehead Would wear for evermore the curse of Cain!"

With the above unhappy, unnatural, disastrous state of affairs, men acquainted with the condition of our so-called "Happy family" have felt no surprise. With them the wonder has been that the quarrels have not brought on the Union crash sooner, and that every atom or fragment of its existence has not been long ago numbered with the things that were, illustrative of the scriptural sentiment, that "a house divided against itself cannot stand." From the commencement of its existence, its fate has been sealed, and its knell rung, although in the articles of its original compact our Union representatives resolved that it should be "perpetual." But whilst man proposes, God disposes; and we now see amidst the hurricane sweep of his retributive providences what a fearful and terrible disposition He is making of our so-called "great, and wonderful, and glorious Union." The astounding fact also is revealed that the destruction of the "Old Union" was necessary to promote the interests of liberty, commerce, and Christianity. No truth is more clearly substantiated than this, that the old Union has been a nursery for the growth of slavery. Over one half of its domain its plantations

have been stocked with the choicest breeds of slaves, whilst the other half has always been turned into hunting ground for the fugitive, and the official hounds of the Union, with administrative collars round their necks, have never been harmless in their barks, nor innocent in their bites, nor indolent with their capacious mouths and ponderous jaws when they have got upon his track, and he would not capitulate as "lawful prey," except when he has been successful in placing himself under the protection of what our American people call the "Queen-craft of monarchy?" But we are now gravely informed that our Union has undergone a change, and that our menhunters, from President Lincoln down to the meanest official, have lost their tiger instinct, leap, and claws. And wonderful it is when it has only turned from the slave to shew their terrible claws and bare their teeth in savage blood-thirstiness to his master. This is a change that may serve as a bait to catch what the Honourable Edward Everett designates "easy consciences of weak-minded men and silly fools"-a fiting representation of the class to which he belongsbut it is a base trap, from which the common sense of the multitude will lead them to turn away and reject with contempt and disdain.

If we look at the culminating glory of our wonderful union in connection with our last tariff, we shall see under what terrible restrictions the commerce of the world is placed. In this tariff, dated July, 1862, the cotton goods of Lancashire are subject to duties

ranging from 25 to 40 per cent.; woollen manufactures, 30; and worsted, 35. Sheffield cutlery is made to pay 35 per cent. duty, and English railway iron from £4 to £5 per ton. No Wilton carpet can pass the Northern customs without a tax of 45 cents per square yard. Birmingham buttons must pay 35, and Coventry ribbons 40 per cent.! Such is the Northern Morrell Tariff. And yet, forsooth, these are the men for whom you are to erect your triumphal arches, peal your merry bells, and create a world's jubilee!

And when we contemplate the association of our American Union with Christianity, we may well take up the language of Jehovah, where he appealed to the Jews, exclaiming, "Will a man rob God?" And couple with it the response which he gave to the question in its application to them. "Ye have robbed me, even this whole nation!" Thus has it been with our American people; and no man can demonstrate that they can present the free-will offering of their hearts, flaming with supreme love to God, on His altar, when they turn away from their fellow-men because they possess a different colour on their skin to themselves; or if when turning to them, it is to subordinate them to their use in their persons, services, and lives, as "chattels personal!" Our Union, therefore, in America, in the above respects had become a world nuisance; and its existence and continuance on the old basis were not compatible with the government of God. We are quite aware that structures of reasoning, chains of argument, and link added to link

in those chains, enamelled with the flowers and beauties of rhetoric, have been constructed and thrown out in its interest and favour, but no efforts of its admirers or friends can brace up its weakness or hide its deformities. President Lincoln, the Hon. William H. Seward, and others, backed by overwhelming masses in the North, have tried both by the pen of the ready writer, the tongue of the eloquent, and the sword of the warrior, but have miserably failed. And now that huge imposture, called the Union, stands fully revealed, this greatest sham of the ages now stands unmasked with all its horrors disclosed to the view of the world, whilst a voice comes thundering down the roll of ages—Take away "the accursed thing."

In a letter addressed to the governors of the different States of the Union in 1783, General Washington said:—"There are four things which I humbly conceive are essential to the well-being, I may even venture to say to the existence, of the United States as an independent power. First, an indissoluble union of the States under one federal head; second, a sacred regard to public justice; third, the adoption of a proper peace establishment; and, fourth, the prevalence of that pacific and friendly disposition among the people of the United States which will induce them to forget their local politics and prejudices." The above extraordinary letter of Washington discloses his deep anxiety for the fate of the "beloved Union," records the conviction that the law of com-

pact which bound the slave and free States was not sufficient of itself to secure the perpetuity of the Union. Hence the necessity of the above extraordinary pre-requisities, which it was utterly impossible to call into being with such incongruous elements as composed the different classes of the Union. A knowledge of the compact, therefore, between the different States of the Union, is of paramount importance to those who feel an interest in America, and essentially necessary in order to obtain a proper understanding of the character and causes of those thrilling and appalling events which are now taking place in the New and filling the Old World with wonder, and, so far as they are comprehended, with intensest abhorrence and disgust! The compact designates the Union which it contemplated "The United States of America?" Its articles of agreement were to be its basis, although the Constitution of the United States and Declaration of Independence have never been called into requisition and acted upon from the day of their adoption as articles of the National Creed to the period when civil war broke out amongst us. The lofty principles inculcated in them, and the imperial heritage of blessing which they were designed to secure to all, without limitation as to sex, age, or colour, have neither been desired nor coveted by the overwhelming masses of people who have composed those States, except for the white man. Amongst other things, those articles which constitute the law of compact made provision for the sacredness and

supremacy of each separate State. The Hon. Secretary Seward, "whose bright and patriotic plans and purposes," says Peter Sinclair, Esq., "qualify him to fill a high office of trust, and administer it so as to become in many respects, along with Abraham Lincoln and Salmon P. Chase, the Secretary of the Treasury, models for the study of the world."-Seward, when commenting on this clause in his place in the Senate Chamber, in 1860, addressed himself to the representatives and people of the slave States as follows:--"In your capital States you are sovereigns on the subject of slavery within your own borders, as we are on the same subject within our borders. It is well and wisely arranged. Use your authority to maintain what system you please. We are not distrustful of the result. If our authority shall be assailed from within or without by any enemy, or for any cause. and we shall have need, we shall expect you to defend us. If you shall be so assailed, in the emergency, no matter what the cause or the pretext, or who the foe. we shall defend your authority as the equivalent of our own!" "You are sovereigns," said Seward. "within your own borders on the subject of slavery!" Where there is sovereignty there is the exercise of absolute power in accordance with vested rights acquired or otherwise. But how fearful are the vested rights of slavery! And how terrible is the sovereignty that makes merchandise of the bodies and souls of men, and traffics in human flesh! And yet. said Seward, "it is well and wisely arranged!" Well

and wisely arranged that four millions should be reduced from persons to things-articles of merchandise-commodities to be bought and sold! Well and wisely arranged that slaves should have no relationships which they can call their own, but, like cattle, be separated at the will of their owners—husbands from wives, parents from children, brothers from sisters, and friends from bosom friends! Well and wisely arranged that they should be robbed of the fruits of their industry, and stripped of all mental, moral, social, and religious culture! Well and wisely arranged that they should be subject to a robbery and tyranny unequalled in the world! Now, the Hon. W. H. Seward, when he uttered the above language, was well acquainted with the character of that system which these slaveholders sought to maintain. He knew full well the injuries which it inflicted, and the untold agonies which it produced, and yet Seward said, "Use your authority in maintaining the above sovereignty." As if he had said, "Go on and multiply the wrongs of the negro slave in connection with this terribly ferocious system of inhuman bondage. Do it in every form in which their humanity may be assailed, and by every character of agency and appliance you may please to use. According to your taste, convenience, or caprice, make your exactions, enforce obedience with the utmost rigour, and make your will supreme; "we are not distrustful of you," says Seward, "or of the result." Their victims may weep, groan, or struggle in the agonies of death, but

it is no concern of ours, said the above "philanthropic man"—so called, the "astute philosopher, metaphysician, and model statesman of America." "You are sovereigns within your own borders," and, therefore, we repudiate all responsibility in the States where those victims of your cruelty and tyranny reside. Such was the Honourable William H. Seward in 1860, when he made a bid for the Presidency. What a wonderful model for the study of the world.

Another clause in the law of compact made provision for equal rights and privileges to all the separate states of the Union, both in regard to the protection of each State sovereignty and the general sovereignty of all the States from common danger, and also to a share in the common territory. rights common to each were common to all. Union, therefore, was nothing more nor less than a partnership concern. And to all the articles of our political creed embodied in our law of compact, each State has given its "unfeigned assent and consent." And these possess a binding power on each and all which they are not at liberty to set aside or reject without endangering the existence of the whole. the history of our country we have had repeated infractions of the law of compact by the Northern or Free States so called—in the adoption of the Missouri Compromise, which dispossessed the slave States of their equal rights in the national territory; as well as the personal liberty bill, which brought five of the

Free States into conflict with the United States; in the Congressional Fugitive Slave Law; and also in the threats made by the Northern people against the Southerners in regard to the tarriff, and to cherish a war of sections. Against these infractions the Southern States protested, but in vain. And in vain also did they point to the law of compact which had been infringed. Hence their determination to secede. And as there is a brotherhood as well as honour among thieves, it was the duty, and ought to have been the privilege, of Northern States to allow them to secede, and amicably to have wound up the affairs of the "Old Union Concern"—the "existence of which no possible circumstances could justify," said Wm. Lloyd Garrison, or "ought to continue;" and "to preserve which," said General Washington, it required "the prevalence of that pacific and friendly disposition among the people of the United States which would induce them to forget their local politics and prejudices!" As we shall return to this subject, allow me to subscribe myself as usual, Yours for truth as well as liberty,

> JOSHUA R. BALME, American Baptist Clergyman.

32 Sun Street.

THE BLACK PARTNERSHIP CONCERN.

TO THE EDITORS OF THE LIVERPOOL MERCURY.

GENTLEMEN,-Nothing can be more preposterous or absurd than to suppose that the above concern called the Union in America, possesses a basis founded on an enlarged philanthropy, or enlightened forecast; and if it had not been placed on record, it is scarcely possible to believe that any ruler or statesman should have fallen into so gross a delusion, as to avow, that it could continue amidst the dangers that would imperil its existence, since an impartial administration of justice, or the sinking down of a shaft to the rock called principle, would at any period have sprung a mine to destroy it with its false peace, at once and for ever! In its brief history those dangers have been frequent, from jealousy between the Northern and Southern partners in the acquisition of new states and territory-from the Tariff which led South Carolina to threaten to withdraw from the Union—from the war of 1812 which brought it to the verge of disruption-from the opposition of New England States to that war under the leadership of Massachusets-from "Bleeding Kansas" and John Brown's raid, which led the Richmond Whig to

announce that "their connexion with the North was a standing insurrection in the South! But the greatest danger which ever threatened the Union, was the election of Lincoln, who, like the Hon. Wm. H. Seward in his "Bloody Rochester Speech," so called, had made himself particularly obnoxious and offensive in an address which he delivered at Springfield, Illinois, June 12th, 1858.

In this address Lincoln said, "If we could first know where we are, and whither we are tending, we could better judge what to do, and how to do it. We are now far into the fifth year, since a policy was initiated, with the avowed object and confident promise of putting an end to slavery agitation. Under the operation of that policy, that agitation has not only not ceased, but has constantly augmented. In my opinion it will not cease until a crisis shall have been reached and passed. A house divided against itself cannot stand. I believe this country cannot endure permanently half slave and half free. I do not expect the Union to be dissolved-I do not expect the house to fall—but I do expect it will cease to be divided. It will become all one thing, or all the other. Either the opponents will arrest the farther spread of it, and place it where the public mind shall rest in the belief that it is in the course of ultimate extinction, or, its advocates will push it forward till it shall become alike lawful in all the States, old as well as new, North as well as South." This speech was interpreted by the Southerners to mean, "a war of

sections." Mr Lincoln being a representative man. and claiming to be the standard bearer of the Republican party, lead them to accept it as a standing menace, and to adopt for their motto, "no submission to abolition rule." Lincoln took the alarm, for when charged by the late Judge Douglas, August 21, 1858, at Ottawa, Illinois, with the utterance of the sentiments contained in the above speech, he replied, as recorded on page 77 of his Campaign Book, "When I made my speech at Springfield, of which the Judge complains, and from which he quotes, I really was not thinking of the things he ascribes to me at all, I had no thought in the world that I was doing anything to bring about a war between the free and slave states. I had no thought in the world that I was doing anything to bring about a political and social equality of the black and white races. It never occurred to me that I was doing anything, or favouring anything, to reduce to a dead uniformity all the local institutions of the various states. But I must say in all fairness to him, if he thinks I am doing something which leads to these bad results, it is none the better I did not mean it. It is just as fatal to the country, if I have any influence in producing it, whether I intend it or not! The States also which had passed personal Liberty Bills, took alarm, and with dreadful haste, in which Rhode Island led the way, erased the "obnoxious statutes," so called, from the statute book in connexion with the State legislatures! In the general consternation and alarm which prevailed for the

safety of the Union, the churches, city corporations. and chambers of commerce, united to send their delegates to a Peace Congress which was called at Washington, where Wm. E. Dodge, Esq. of New York. (a flaming revivalist), with other delegates, by joint resolution, decreed to offer the slave states all territory south of 36° 30' for new slave states, if they would come back into the Union, bury the war hatchet, and smoke the pipe of peace? And to bring up the rear of the panic-stricken, the government took the alarm, sent for the late Judge Douglas to seek his interposition and advice, whilst at the same time the Secretary of State, the Hon. Wm. H. Seward, telegraphed to the Boards of Trade in Chicago and Milwaukie, conveying the startling announcement, "That heretofore the cry of Union has been raised when there was no danger. The question of slavery will not now be taken into account. We are to save the Union, and then save all that is worth saving." Our Northern people had often performed their antics before the Southerns, and prostrated themselves to pick up the nuts they threw down, in the shape of commercial tariffs—but at this fearful and rugged crisis of our history—they performed their antics without the nuts, the Southerns, having withdrawn from the Union menagerie, left them to find their own nuts to crack! All the energies of what are called mighty spirits amongst Northern Democrats, and the resources of their "great intellects were brought to bear on Southern representatives, but in vain. The South

had taken its stand for weal or for woe, and in the bloody contest which has followed, it has displayed an energy and skill which has won for its generals and armies the admiration of the world, and since there is more hope of the emancipation of the slave in the separation of the South from the North, than in their re-union-and also of the amelioration of his condition, who that is not blind to the signs of the times, can desire success to the Federal arms? The truth is self-evident, that if the Union had not given slavery a new lease of its life, in the barricades which it interposed for its preservation in the Fugitive Slave Law, Slavery would have been well nigh extinguished without the shedding of blood, or the interruption of commerce, for the same law which operated to send the slaves from the Northern States into Canada. when slave States, and caused their masters to make what they could out of their nimble "chattels personal," would have had the same effect in the South, but for the vile subserviency of our Northern people, who placed themselves under the Union yoke to obey the powers that be, to hunt up the fugitive, and stand between him and his deliverance—thus making them a proverb and a reproach—a taunt and a curse to society and the world! And as it was never in the power of the South to preserve slavery, or extend it of itself, how imbecile and foolish it is to make slavery a stalking horse for the subjugation of the South? Even John Bright has confessed "that but for the secession of the South nothing but a miracle could have hastened the destruction of slavery." If, therefore, our Northern people, or the Pro-Federals in this country, had any regard for. freedom, they would have said, "wayward sisters. depart in peace." And there was nothing to have prevented such an arrangement in our Partnership Concern, since, to use the language of the Rev. Dr Guthrie, "there is no Union or partnership which may not be dissolved without crime, but marriage." Such a course would have saved rivers of blood, and prevented an awful waste of property, which, will yield a heavy crop of heart-burnings; and, also, an accumulation of debt which will ere long send us with a thundering crash into the gulph of financial ruin. Besides, if there had been a particle of that sacred thing called honour, amongst the Northern partners of the Union, they would have withdrawn, or have dissolved partnership; but, alas, honour, which is said to be known and practised amongst thieves, was not to be found amongst our so-called enlightened statesmen and sagacious wise men! How much to be deprecated is the course which our Northern people and government have adopted. In their hands what a terrible scourge war has become both to themselves and the South, and to Europe. Who shall bridge the yawning chasm which their resentment has created, or heal the wounds which their war passions have produced!

"Sic transit gloria mundi."

Amongst the current news of the day there is a

paragraph in circulation that a machine has been invented to be driven by the force of circumstances. Our · union in America has often been praised as a machine which has turned every thing into gold, and wrapt men with visions of enchantment and beauty. How strange that it should now turn everything into blood and heaps of blackened ruin. And how desperate the force of circumstances which impel it in such a course as this! How fearful is the love of country when it leads men to seek to merge all in common ruin, rather than put the curb on the spirit of aggrandisement and conquest. And how rancorous their malignity when, if they cannot continue to get the lion's share of profit out of the wicked compact with the South, the cry goes forth in the spirit of burning revenge, make the habitations of men desolate, lay waste their fruitful fields, burn their populous towns and peaceful villages, and turn their country into a wilderness to be the haunts of wild beasts and crocodiles! And yet, in a lecture recently delivered in Hull, we have been gravely informed by the Rev. Newman Hall, that such a war, with all its vast extremes of guilt and cruelty, and unparallelled in the misery which it is producing in both hemispheres, "is legitimate," because it is a war for empire, is invested with the sanction and gathers force from the "practices of European governments," and has "philanthropy at the bottom of it!" O horror of horrors, to contemplate such frightful butcheries of men-such diabolical outrages as have been committed in this war! Surely, if we could get the above divine, with his coadjutors, John Bright, Peter Sinclair, and other misguided men, who are the advocates of this war—if we could get them to look down into the gulph of ruin into which the nation has been plunged by reckless men that they might get a glimpse of the sepulchral shades of repudiation which lies at the bottom of the dark abyss—the fragmentary glories of our grand republic—and the skeletons of the men who

"In blood Stept in so far, that should they wade no more, Returning was as tedious as go o'er,"

but never did get o'er, as they perished in the mad attempt.

Oh, yes! if we could get the above men to take such a glance, and in such a case they did not exclaim, Citizen soldiers, put up your swords into their scabbards, we would join with the Hon. Edward Everett in the pathetic exclamation, "Throw open your doors, O just Bedlam, and send your abused philosophers, princes, and statesmen to their homes!

"Cease your dull prate, ye teachers of morals! There is no crime, there is no barbarism, there is madness."

Yours for truth as well as liberty,

J. R. BALME, An American Baptist Clergyman.

32 Sun Street.

THE TIP OF THE LAST JOINT; OR, GENTLE-MANLY HONOUR AND STANDING.

TO THE EDITORS OF THE LIVERPOOL MERCURY.

Gentlemen,—Thus far our expositions of monstrous falsehoods have referred to others; in our present communication we propose to examine the delusion into which you have fallen in the use which you have made of the words "Gentlemen of Honour and Standing" in your Editorial of June 26, 1863, where you say, "But we must consider it amongst the worst evils of the present civil war that it compels gentlemen of honour and standing, like Mr. Adams and Mr. Dudley, to keep such very indifferent company, as that of some of the persons with whom they have recently been associating!"

Some there are who write and speak as if they were influenced by the belief that gentlemanly honour and standing in society, or the world, was only to be found in connection with prelacies and popedoms—deaconships and bishopricks—mitres and crowns! Will such worldly rank and title operate with greater force on the imagination and affections than the charms of moral goodness? And since the former are not always associated with the latter, there are many lowly

cottagers who dwell in the shades of their greatness, endowed with noble qualities of intellect and heart which make them happy and useful, invest them with a dignity, and shed around them a halo of glory which will hand down their names to posterity although their virtues and deeds may be passed over in silence by the nobles and grandees of this world, find no place on historic page, or in the niche of the temple of fame! Such have a moral superiority which no mere worldly rank or title can secure or confer on their possessors! Theirs also is a happiness which is associated with the perennial spring of contentment, the overflowing consolations of peace, the enheartening visitations of hope, and the joyous prospects of a blessed immortality, where faith ends in sight, and hope terminates in the fulness of fruition! But whose pen shall describe, or heart conceive, those magnificently glorious results which have flowed from their meek and quiet spirits—the uniform consistency of their lives-their acts of self-denial and unrequited toil—and the triumphs of their faith! How sublime is such a spectacle! what a point of communication such a scene opens up to the view of men between heaven and earth! And how attractive, since here is to be witnessed "the actions of the just, which smell sweet and blossom in the dust!"

Others still speak to us of a "gentlemanly honour and standing" that is exclusively worldly. This is based on integrity, civility, and generosity. But for the highest style of "gentlemanly honour and standing" we must look to the Christian, since piety is the crowning link which is essential to form a genuine specimen of "gentlemanly honour and standing."

There are some worldly good men who set a noble example to many who profess to be truly Christian men. But where there is true piety, associated with intelligence, economy, punctuality, civility, integrity, and generosity, there must be the highest order of "gentlemanly honour and standing." The ties of consanguinity, the caprices of fortune, and the genius and skill of men in connection with plodding perseverance, may secure to men, in a worldly sense, "gentlemanly honour and standing." It, however, requires three things to make men of true honour, and the highest order of standing. These are a right principle, a right rule, and a right end. The right principle is the love of God. The right rule is the word of God. And the right end is the glory of God. These alone secure the honour which comes from God-invest men with the order of a rank which throws all others into the shade, and makes dim their lustre; and also confers on them an heirship, and prepares them to enjoy the blissful inheritance of heaven.

Let us, then, unfurl the roll of American history in search of this "gentlemanly honour and standing," and see if we can find this precious commodity, whether in the worldly or christian sense, amongst the Fathers and Founders of our country and government. And here are the men, the deed, and the day,

on which great stress is laid. The men, Washington, Jefferson, and Madison. The deed, which was said to have made them immortal, the adoption of a basis of constitutional freedom, and the declaration of independence. And the day, which was to be celebrated by bonfires, and fireworks, triumphal arches, the peal of merry bells, and the roar of cannon-processions and music-orations, and huzzas, henceforth and for ever. If we examine the nature and character of those documents subscribed to endorsed and ratified by the men already referred to-documents which embodied the deed which they performed—to the execution of which they pledged their lives, fortunes, and sacred honour; and if we consider that these documents guarantee and secure to all men unrestricted freedom, irrespective of colour, sex, or age, we may triumphantly ask where is the "tip of the last joint" of that thing which is called "gentlemanly honour and standing?" When they signed those instruments did they free their slaves? Or, did they put the negro on an equality with the white man?

What does impartial history say? With a voice like thunder it says, No! Many, therefore, plead that, as they did not do these things, they did not understand the instruments as including the negro, or, as conscienced men, they would have freed their slaves, and restored the negro to an equality with the white man; be this as it may, these documents place it beyond a doubt or a peradventure that all were included, without restriction as to race, or dis-

tinction as to colour; and therefore it is a monstrous fraud to cover up their delinquencies in the avowal that they proceeded on the basis of making the white people the governing race, and others their inferiors.

If we cast our eyes on the successive pages of our history in connection with our government from the days of Washington to Lincoln, we find the same betraval of trust, forfeiture of all claim to respect in the abominable fraud which has been perpetrated on the black man; and in no one has this been more manifested than in the person of "Honest Abe Lincoln," so called, who disputed the "exclusive right" and "monopoly" of the late Judge Douglas of being on all sides of all questions in a speech which he delivered at Alton, Illinois, Oct. 15, 1858. And that he shared in the supposed blessings of what he called this "High Privilege" is abundantly made manifest in his published speeches, of which we have already given some remarkable specimens, and could give many more, but we will make one or two suffice. In a speech which Lincoln made at Galesburgh, Illinois, Oct. 7, 1858, he said, "I believe that the right of property in a slave is not distinctly affirmed in the Constitution." In another which he delivered at Cincinnati, Ohio, September, 1859, he said, addressing himself to slaveholders, "When we do, as we say, beat you, you perhaps want to know what we will do with you. I will tell you," said he, "we mean to treat you as near as we possibly can as Washington, Jefferson, and Madison treated you. We mean to leave you alone, and in no way to interfere with your institution (slavery)-to abide by all and every compromise of the constitution." What he meant by this phrase, "all and every compromise of the Constitution," we learn in his Inaugural Address on the 4th of March, 1861, when he said, "There is much controversy about the delivering up of fugitive slaves from service or labour. The rendition clause is as plainly written as any other of its provisions. No person, held to service or labour in one state under the laws thereof, escaping into another, shall in consequence of any law or regulation therein be discharged from such service or labour, but shall be delivered up on claim of the party to whom such service or labour may be due." "It is scarcely questioned," said Lincoln, "that this provision was intended by those who made it for the reclaiming of what we call fugitive slaves, and the intention of the lawgiver is the law. All members of Congress swear their support to the whole Constitution, and to this provision as much as any other. To the proposition, therefore, whose cases come within the terms of this clause, 'shall be delivered up,' their oaths are unanimous. Now, if they would make an effort in good temper, could they not, with nearly equal unanimity, frame and pass a law by means of which to keep good that unanimous oath,"

The Constitution, therefore, according to Lincoln,

does not include property in man, and it does include it!

When solicited by a convention in Chicago to proclaim emancipation to the slaves on the basis of a military necessity, he replied that "it would be as inoperative as a bull against a comet." About three weeks from that time he issued the proclamation referred to!

In an address which he delivered at Ottawa, Illinois, Aug. 21, 1858, Lincoln said, "I think I would not hold one (a slave) in slavery at any rate; yet the point is not clear enough to me to denounce people upon. What next? Free them, and make them, politically and socially, our equals? My own feelings will not admit of this!"

Again, when addressing the people at Chicago, July 10, 1858, he said, "I have always hated slavery, I think, as much as any abolitionist." Where is the tip of the last joint, of gentlemanly honour and standing in the above? Has it not disappeared and

gone out of sight?

We shall find the same results if we trace the history of the abolitionists. We have seen already in the convention held by them at Albany the ring of metal which they gave in connection with the Union, proclaiming it to be an outrage on civilization, and a curse to be removed. In the letter of Mrs Stowe to Lord Shaftesbury we are informed that all classes of emancipationists stand shoulder to shoulder in the war for the Union, although there has been no change

amongst the administrators of the government or the people towards the negro as a man; and at a large meeting recently held in the Church of the Puritans, one of the principal advocates has avowed that President Lincoln is the first slave that ought to be emancipated! Here, again, the "tip of the last joint" of "gentlemanly honour and standing" has gone out of sight.

In our religious war crusaders we witness the same lamentable results. One moment they cry mightily to God as the author of peace and lover of concord, and the next, use their prayers as a whetstone on which their people may sharpen their war hatchets still to let out deluges of blood! In such a war as that, we behold no gentlemanly honour or standing—no, not even the "tip of the last joint."

The blasts of the war trumpet by the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher are terrific! How sadly he has mistaken his vocation. And when the writer penned his glowing tribute to the Rev. M. D. Conwayin his book, "American States, Churches, and Slavery," he closed his remarks as follows:—" Neither have we seen from Conway any appeals to the material sword. But amidst the general defections that have obtained in the above respect, it is difficult to say who amongst the little band of Christian emancipationists have stood true to their mission of peace and good-will. Since then, Conway has mounted the war horse, blown with all his soul the war trumpet, and urged on the carnival of death; and is now, as well as Beecher, in

this country to bespeak your sympathies and co-operation in favour of war to the knife and the knife to From the editor of the Manchester the handle Examiner and Times, who claims to be more American than Americans, we learn that Conway has been making himself less American than himself and Pro-Federal coadjutors, who he claims to be more American than Americans, in the offer which he made in the name of American abolitionists to Mr. Mason to use their influence to discontinue the war on condition of the Southerns adopting gradual emancipation-for which offer Conway now declares himself to be very penitent and sad, but consoles himself with the thought that no one will be injured by his misguided zeal but himself, although in his letter to Mason he avowed his authority to make his offer in the name of the abolitionists! O! what "gentlemen of honour and standing."

And the "last tip of the last joint" of this sacred thing called honour is beginning to disappear amongst the Pro-Federals, not only in claiming the black heritage of guilt in being more American than Americans theoretically, but practically. This is shown in a letter addressed to the Edinburgh Review, written by Peter Sinclair, Esq., agent to the Union and Emancipation Society in this country. In this letter Mr. Sinclair boldly demands, "What is the issue on the American question?"

And replying to his own question, he has confidently asserted that the issue in the present terrible conflict between the North and the South "is freedom

or slavery — liberty or despotism — remunerated labour, or unrequited toil—free school, or no school —a bible for all, or no bible for millions!"

To sustain the above position, he lays mighty emphasis on the following charges, made by John C. Breckenridge, Esq., recently Vice-President of the United States, against the present party in power, whom he designates a "Black Republican Party."

Breckenridge says,

"I charge that the present and ulterior purposes of the Republican party are:—

"1st. To introduce the doctrine of negro equality into American politics, and to make it the ground of positive legislation, hostile to the Southern States.

"2nd. To exclude the slave property of the South from the territory of the Union, or which may be hereafter acquired.

"3rd. To prevent the admission in any latitude of another slaveholding state.

"4th. To repeal the Fugitive Slave Law, and practically refuse to obey the constitution on that subject.

"5th. To refuse to prevent, or punish by state action the spoliation of slave property; but, on the contrary, to make it a criminal offence in their citizens to obey the laws of the Union, in so far as they protect property in African slaves.

"6th. To abolish slavery in the District of Columbia.
"7th. To abolish it in the forts, arsenals, dockyards,

and other places in the South, where Congress has

exclusive jurisdiction.

"8th. To limit, harass, and frown upon the institution in every mode of political action, and by every

form of public opinion.

"9th. And, finally, by the executive, by Congress, by the Postal service, by the Press, and in all other accessible modes, to agitate without ceasing, until the Southern States, without sympathy or brotherhood in the Union, worn down by the unequal struggle, shall be compelled to surrender ignominously and emancipate their slaves."

"Upon the above indictment," says Mr Sinclair, "the slavery party submitted their case to the people, and the people said we want'men holding these views to be our governors. By an overwhelming majority the candidate who brought these charges against the Republican party was rejected, and a man holding principles including all that was contained in these charges, elected."

Here is a statement made by Mr Sinclair, that the political creed of President Lincoln included all that

was contained in Breckenridge's charges!

Let us therefore put President Lincoln on the stand. Lincoln, what do you say to the charge of negro equality? "Not guilty" is the response! This is corroborated in a speech delivered by him at Quincy. Illinois, Oct. 13, 1858, when Lincoln said, "I am not, nor ever have been, in favour of bringing about in any way the social and political equality of the white and black races!"

Is it true that you would prevent new slave states from being admitted into the Union? "Not guilty." This is shewn in his speech made at Freeport, Illinois, August 27, 1858, when Lincoln said, I should be glad to know there would never be another slave state admitted into the Union—but I must add, that if slavery shall be kept out of the territories during the territorial existence of any one given territory, and then the people shall, having a fair chance, and a clear field when they come to adopt the Constitution, do such an extraordinary thing as to adopt a slave Constitution, uninfluenced by the actual presence of the institution among them, I see no alternative, if we own the country, but to admit them into the Union!

Is it true that you would repeal the Fugitive Slave Law? "Not guilty," says Lincoln! In a speech which he made at Freeport, Illinois, Aug. 27, 1858, Lincoln said, "I have never hesitated to say, and do not now hesitate to say, that I think, under the Constitution of the United States, the people of the Southern States are entitled to a Congressional Fugitive Slave Law!" Is it true that you would abolish slavery in the District of Columbia? "Not guilty," says Lincoln! In a speech reported in the "Courier" in May 1860, he said, "he had not studied the subject—had no distinctive ideas about it—he never thought it worth while to consider it much—

but so far as he had considered it, he should be perhaps in favour of gradual abolition, when the slaveholders of the District "asked for it." And although he has signed a Bill which has been passed in Congress for its abolition since the Disruption—yet, at the period of his election, Lincoln could not be held responsible for entertaining such a sentiment—and was therefore "not guilty!"

As to the charge of anti-slavery agitation, Lincoln again pleads "not guilty." Such an agitation he says in a speech already referred to, "would be fatal to the country"—and be "productive of bad results!" Thus we see, that instead of including all that was contained in Breckenridge's charges, it included at that period none of the sentiments contained in those charges! What a position of "honour and standing" for an agent of an emancipation society! Who is most to be pitied or prayed for—the agent who propagates such statements—or the society which employs him?

Be this as it may, there cannot be the tip of the last joint of gentlemanly honour or standing in such work!

It is most strange that ambassador Adams and Consul Dudley can be "gentlemen of honour and standing," and keep, as the above mentioned editors say, "very indifferent company." We had thought, Mr. Editors, that a man was known by the company which he keeps. And that as he who would be wise must walk with wise men, what must be the charac-

ter of those who associate with crimps? If we stretch out our charitable indulgence to its utmost limits, we cannot say that such connections, when pronounced to be "very indifferent," comport with gentlemanly honour and standing. In such a case, we are sceptical about the existence of the "tip of the last joint!" But methinks I hear those editors whispering to each other the sentiment that those "who live in glass houses must not throw stones." And then comes the startling announcement, that "systems of evil are by no means likely to be uprooted by personal attacks, and we can only attribute the violence of his censure upon the Cheevers, Beechers, and Stowes to the fervour of his zeal in advocating the cause which he has espoused!" This is certainly very charitable, but whilst the writer disclaims all personal animosity he would claim the right of entertaining what opinions he chooses; and of expressing them when and where he likes—and of calling a spade a spade without asking any pardons, or making any apologies; and as the writer has been wantonly and wickedly assaulted by Federals and pro-federals, on both sides of the water, and false statements put to his account, is it matter of surprise that his virtuous indignation should be aroused and brought into full play, or that he should try to make the sword give a terrible rebound? God forbid that he, or any other man, should lie motionless under the heels of misguided and reckless men until all life is trodden out of them. An open field, and fair play, is all that the writer asks, and falling back on his motto nil desperandum auspice deo, onward he is prepared to go—forwards, though floods and flames oppose.

Yours respectfully, for truth as well as liberty.

JOSHUA R. BALME.

THE LORD MAYOR'S BANQUET, LONDON.

TO THE EDITORS OF THE BELFAST NEWS-LETTER.

SIR,—A terrible indignation has been shewn by those who have blindly embraced the cause of the Federals in this country, against the Lord Mayor of London for extending to Mr. Mason, a Confederate Commissioner, the rights of hospitality.

"The above act," say these men, "has disgraced the metropolis and country," because Mason is a "slaveholder," the author of the "Fugitive Slave Law," and represents a "Government based on slavery." These sins are vile and infamous, and the writer has no cloak to cover them up, or inclination to extenuate them, or connive at them; but where is the difference in point of principle in the Lord Mayor of London receiving as his guest Mr. Mason and the public receptions which these same men have accorded to his Excellency Mr. Adams, Ambassador from our Federal Government, and the representative of a party which has always upheld the Fugitive Slave Law. "Hang Mason, who devised the above infamous law," say these men. On the same rule, they would have to hang up and quarter Ambassador Adams, President Lincoln, ninety-nine hundreds of our clergy, and the

vast multitudes of our "meaner whites, or whiter trash," in the North, who have ratified and endorsed, sanctified and blest, this horrible law, and executed it in our socalled Free States in the North. On page 88 of Lincoln's "Campaign Book," the President says, "I have never hesitated to say, and I do not now hesitate to say, that I think, under the Constitution of the United States, the people of the Southern States are entitled to a Congressional Fugitive Slave Law." If so, what sin was there in Mason supplying the text of it? The above claim was sustained by Lincoln's perversion of the original draft of the Constitution, to apply it to the Fugitive Slave Law in his inaugural address to the Presidency, and has since been executed under the worst exasperations on the steps of our National Capitol, in full view of his Presidential mansion.

However sinful or criminal it may be to devise such a law, it is ten thousand times more so to execute it; and this guilt attaches to our Northern people in America. The above law would have been a dead letter but for them. It still hangs over the people; and as its enforcement has alone preserved slavery, slave propagandists would have been powerless to preserve or extend the dire and manifold evils of slavery, but for it.

The same query with which we commenced may be extended to the different representatives of America, in its application to the Confederate and Federal Governments. The Confederates openly and boldly seek to build up their Government on slavery. Our Federals represent our Government to be the freest in the world; and yet, from its foundation to the present, the victims of slavery have increased from 647,000 to 4,000,000. One stands out unblushingly like the libertine; the other comes up under the garb of a sneaking hypocrite, and has never yet sought to wash its hands of its guilt, denouncing slavery as a sin, to be taken by the tail and dashed against the wall. And vet, for sooth, the meek reprovers of the Lord Mayor would reject the representatives of the Confederate Government, whilst they fawn upon and flatter, caress and cherish, the representatives of the latter. In the above respects both representatives are on a par; but these men are not received by civil rulers and magistrates, or the authorities of city corporations, or their representatives, on the ground of their moral character, or the charac ter of the government or people whom they represent; but on the basis of their representative character touching the comity of nations in their relationships to each other. If any other rule was observed but this, in the present condition of society and the world, how restricted would be the intercourse of nations and men; but whilst these men have cherished resentment to the Lord Mayor, and poured on him their reproaches and contempt for making Mr. Mason his guest at one of his banquets, they have subjected chemselves to a tenfold greater reproach in the welcome which they have given, tributes paid, and gifts

bestowed to such persons as Mrs. Harriet Beecher Stowe, and others, who have come to this country not as the representatives of civil governments, but of the moral character of society, and the sacred principles of freedom. In such a case there must be called into requisition that grand element moral principle, as illustrated in their own experience and example, and in the parties whom they represent, or the cause which both parties profess to cherish and honour, suffers at their hands. Thus immense injury is done, or great good derived. Now what moral principle did Mrs. Beecher Stowe ever represent in the cause of freedom, in the mantle of piety which she provides in her Key to Uncle Tom for "lady pious slaveholders," or in the class of men whom she introduces to our notice in the same Key as "christian slave-traders;" and yet on one occasion a select circle met in an elegant mansion in the neighbourhood of Headingley, Leeds, where, three or four circle deep, Mrs. Stowe became the cynosure of all eyes, whilst one of those vehement denunciators of the Lord Mayor of London, in the name of the fluttering fashionables of beauty, put a beautiful purse, containing two hundred guineas, into her hands? There has been the same forgetfulness of principle by these men in their reception of American missionaries and endorsement of the American Board of Missions—a society supported by its twin sister, the Turkish Aid Missions, since the latter is only a blind to get aid for the former society—a society. which has never rejected those charming specimens ofhumanity, called Christian slaveholders and slavebreeders, as directors and life members-never refused to take unhallowed gains, extracted by the lash of the whip and thumb-screw, from the slave, to send the Gospel to the far-off heathen, etc., etc.; still the same meek reprovers of the Lord Mayor of London are the chief apologists and warmest defenders of the above Board and their missionaries. They put on "dark spectacles" when those terrible delinquencies are spread before their vision, and stuff their ears with the "cotton" of a false charity whilst Christ's name is blasphemed through their monstrous evil practices, and shout "mad dog," fanatic, fool, madman, to the man who lays them bare; but when they dwell on the "good they do," they brush away their "specs," and, inspired with the nectar of honeyed delight, point to new translations of the Bible, Arabs converted, &c., &c.

Recently, pulpit, platform, and press, have justly thundered their anathemas against Bishop Colenso for subverting the authority of Jehovah, in connexion with the historical records of the Bible—a man who has laid himself open to the severest censure—but scarcely a whisper has been heard concerning the corrupters and defilers of God's heritage, who have come into your midst, transformed like Satan into angels of light, to tell of the wonderful works they have done in the name of Christ—and yet hide the black deeds of shame, in the robbery of Christ's little

ones which has been constantly perpetrated in America, to make up their own salaries, and to furnish them with the machinery of missionary evangelization! Where is the thunder, lightning and earthquake in the latter case—and yet, is it not as dangerous and mischievous to pervert the fellowships of God's family, as it is to destroy the authority of God in his inspired book?

Recently there has been a tremendous philippic made by the Rev. Dr Candlish against the advisers of the Queen, for causing to be inscribed a quotation from the Apocrypha on a Highland "Cairn," in honour of the late Prince Albert; this by the Dr. is considered to be a great insult to "Bible loving Scotland,"—but it is no insult in the Rev. Dr. and his coadjutors to introduce men who represent Boards of Missions in America, which are a hissing and byeword, and reproach to civilization, christianity, and to the age in which we live!

The same dishonour is done to the cause of Christ in the introduction of books written by authors who have been the chief instruments of turning our American churches into "synagogues of Satan," by expurgating from the gospel and the churches that supreme love of liberty which in itself constitutes their greatest excellence and glory. In another place we have given an illustration of the above, in the case of the Rev. Dr. Candlish, and "Good, Better, and Best," a book written by the Rev. J. W. Alexander of New York!

This is also shown in the introduction given by Professor Smeaton of the New College, Edinburgh, to the "Closer Walk; or Believer's Sanctification," written by the Rev. Henry Darling, D.D. of Philadelphia; a book which discourses sweetly and eloquently on fellowship with Christ, but contains not a syllable about fellowship with Christ's "black little ones"—speaks fluently of the saints' "meetness" for heaven—but not a word on the "pious slaveholders" of America, and our "pious negrohaters" so called, being made meet to declare deliverance to their slaves, or to lift up the negro to an equality with themselves! And yet, in his prefatory note, Mr. Smeaton asks for Darling's book a kind reception amongst the christians of this country!

The same grievous and lamentable blunder has been made by the Rev. Charles H. Spurgeon, in giving an introduction to a "History of the Translation of the Bible" by Mrs H. Conant, a History which records the doings and sayings of the "Bible Union," New York—a society which has done more than all other societies in its brief history, to propagate a slave-holding and negro-hating christianity—a society which contains the blackest list of slave-holders and pro-slavery divines of any society in America, and amongst its "Black Constellation" of worthies, so called, we find that the Rev. C. H. Spurgeon's name figures conspicuously as a Vice-President! Moreover, in the above introduction referred to, Mr. Spurgeon has classified the Rev. R.

Fuller of Baltimore, one of the greatest defilers and corrupters of God's heritage in America with his pro-slavery theories and practices, with such men as the Revs. Daniel Waterland, D.D., Robert Lowth, D.D., and other great biblical celebrities! Could they arise from the dead, most assuredly they would protest against the unhallowed association!

As Mr Spurgeon has frankly avowed in his review of a book written by Mr. Mitchell, a coloured preacher, "that he would fling his most vehement testimony into the hypocritical faces of men-owning professors of Christianity," by turning to the "Bible Union Quarterly" for November 1859, and February 1860, he will find urgent claims on him for the above kind of work amongst his brother Bible Union Vice-Presidents!

But the most ludicrous mistake made by the divines of this country is to be found in the introduction given by the Rev. Thomas Binney, to a book called the "Rifle, Axe, and Saddle Bag," written by a blind preacher, named Milburne! This is abundantly made manifest in the following story, which the editor of the Eclectic, in the last number of the old series, takes out of the blind preacher's "Saddle Bags" for the benefit of his readers! The Rev. James . Axley, familiarly known as "Old Jimmy," a renowned and redoubtable preacher, of East Tenessee, delivered a discourse one Sabbath Day at a place called Jonesborough. Another preacher was with him, and a double service was held. In the discourse which Mr

Axley delivered, he observed, "It may be a very painful duty, but it is a very solemn one, for a minister of the gospel, to reprove vice, misconduct, and sin, whenever and wherever he sees it—that is a duty I am now about to attend to. And now, continued the speaker, pointing with his long finger in the direction indicated, that man sitting out yonder behind the door, who got up and went ont while the brother was preaching, stayed out as long as he wanted to, got his boots full of mud, came back, and stamped the mud off at the door, making all the noise he could, on purpose to disturb the attention of the congregation, and then took his seat, that man thinks I mean him. No wonder he does-it does not look as if he had been raised in the white settlements, does it, to behave that way at meeting? Now, my friend, I advise you to learn better manners before you come to church next time: but I don't mean him. And now, again pointing at his mark, that little girl sitting there, about half way in the house, I should judge her to be about sixteen years old-that is her with the artificial flowers outside of her bonnet-she has a breastpin on too-she that was giggling and laughing all the time the brother was preaching, so that the old sisters in the neighbourhood could not hear what he was saying, though they tried to. She thinks I mean her. I am sorry from the bottom of my heart for any parents that have raised a girl to her time of day, and yet have not taught her to behave when she comes to church. Little girl, you have disgraced your parents as well as yourself. Behave better next time, won't you? But I don't mean her.

Directing his finger to another aim, he said, that man sitting there, that looks as bright and pert as if he was never asleep in his life, and never expected to be-but that, just as soon as the brother took his text, laid his head down on the back of the seat in front of him-went sound asleep-slept the whole time, and snored—that man thinks I mean him. My friend, don't you know that the church ain't the place to sleep. If you need rest, why don't you stay at home, take off your clothes, and go to bed-that is the place to sleep, and not the church. The next time you have a chance to hear a sermon, I advise you to keep awake. But I don't mean him. Thus did he proceed, pointing out every man, woman, and child, who had in the slightest deviated from a befitting line of conduct, characterising the misdemeanour, and reading sharp lessons of rebuke. A judge, named White, was sitting all this time at the end of the front seat, just under the speaker, enjoying the old gentleman's disquisition to the last degree, twisting his neck around to notice if the audience relished the "downcomings" as much as he did, rubbing his hands, smiling, chuckling inwardly. Between his teeth and cheek was a monstrous guid of tobacco, which, the better he was pleased, the more he chawed and the more he spat; and, behold, the floor bare witness to the results. At length the old gentleman straightening himself up to his full height, continued with

great gravity, and now I reckon you want to know who I do mean? I mean that dirty, nasty, filthy tobacco-chewer sitting at the end of that front seathis finger meanwhile pointing true as the needle to the pole—see what he has been about—look at these puddles on the floor-a frog would not get into them. Think of the tails of the sisters' dresses being dragged through that muck!" The above preacher reproved sin, whenever and wherever he saw it, marked the slightest deviations, and yet the people he was adressing were slaveholders, but the great sin of which they were guilty, in making merchandise of the bodies and souls of their fellow-men—the sum of all villanies, which hung like a millstone around their necks, was not discernible to his quick and penetrating eye! And why? Because in his estimation it had been transformed into a virtuous, domestic, and patriarchal institution; so that, whilst he strained at the above gnats, he could swallow a crime as large as a camel! How strange that a book which recites the above with great gusto and delight, and lifts such a man up as a model of fidelity amongst preachers, is thus introduced to the enlightened and considerate regard of the people of this country! Such a course discovers an enormous amount of ignorance, or else a terrible connivance at sin! Some writers have won the sobriquet of being crazy men, for calling attention to the many widespread and fearful delinquencies that obtain; but then, nobody ever tried to do his duty without fear or favour, without becoming crazy. If it be a sign

that they have got a "slate off their roof," as some of their "kind friends" have declared, here is the intelligible and unmistakeable evidence of it in the clear, ringing and thrilling shout, that with such a Union, such a theology in America, and such a mistaken policy as the above, it is a wonder that any decent man retains the shadow of respect towards christian institutions! Sad mistakes have been made on this subject. Men have gone to the lives of professors, and seen so much of erroneous practice there, that it has warped their judgments and soured their spirits against christianity itself. This is however wrong. And "crazy" as we may appear to be in the eyes of bigoted partizans, we must not allow our religious belief to be split up and dashed to pieces on such a rock.

Yours for truth as well as liberty,

JOSHUA R. BALME.

82 Sun-street

FACTS TO BE BORNE IN MIND BY ALL TRUE LOVERS OF FREEDOM IN REGARD TO THE REV. HENRY WARD BEECHER.

To the Editors of the Liverpool Mercury.

GENTLEMEN,

According to the united testimony of the reporters for the New York newspapers, Mr Beecher (January 25, 1860, in Plymouth Church) advanced the follow-

ing propositions:-

1. That a man might hold a slave and not do wrong. 2. That immediate emancipation is impossible. 3. That a slaveholder may be a good Christian. 4. That the influence of slavery is not always evil. 5. That some actual slaveholders are doing more for the cause of freedom than some violent reformers. 6. That anti-slavery bigotry is like that of the Papacy. The above need no comments, although some strangely amusing comments were made on the above propositions in the New York papers and journals at the time, which would be interesting to produce at the present time, more especially as Mr. Beecher desires your co-operation and practical sympathy to supply the means to put the knife to the throats of his "old friends—his Christian slaveholders."

At the time Mr. Beecher propounded the above maxims he made an elaborate defence of the American Board of Missions, that has been sustained by a fund

created by a long list of life members who are slaveholders and negro-haters, and which board, at that very time, according to the testimony of the *Liberator*, July 6, 1860, had for one of its "corporate members" the Rev. Dr. Plummer, a Presbyterian clergyman, who made a proposal to "burn alive such abolitionists as could be caught in Richmond, Virginia."

Mr. Beecher, in his "Harper's Ferry Sermon," avows that "the South has a Christian conscience:" that the slaves held by men who possess this Christian conscience "cannot be and will not be free for ages;" that "we are to leave no pains untaken through the Christian conscience of the South to give to the slave himself a higher moral status;" that "the time is rapidly coming when the Southern Christian will feel a new inspiration;" that "we are not far removed from the doctrines of Christian manhood and the divine right of men;" that "when this Pentecost comes the slaves will be stirred by their own masters;" that "we must make the master discontented with slavery, and he will speedily take care of the rest;" that "our Christian public sentiment" in America, "owned and cherished by the masters of the slaves," and we who are to "work upon the master;" that such a Christian public sentiment "is a pendulum swinging between owning or exporting the poor in our midst;" that those men who stand outside the great "cordon of darkness" in the South, with its "Christian conscience, have no right to carry into the system of slavery exterior discontent;" that "it is

not good for the slaves themselves;" that our Union, with such a "pendulum," and the atmosphere of such a public sentiment around it, "hath health in it;" and that John Brown was "insane" in disturbing the pendulum of the Union in his attempt to create such discontent "by inciting slaves to run away."

As we have got such strange quartz from the diggings of Beecher's "Harper's Ferry Sermon," let us turn to one of his Thanksgiving Sermons, reported in the "New York Tribune," Nov. 28, 1861. On this memorable dayBeecher said-"Our country has long lain in the ever-tightening serpent folds of slavery. The perplexing questions of race, caste, condition, and climate cast into the nation by the African bondman, which the wisest and strongest knew not how to deal with, were likely to be solved by the war. A direct political emancipation was impossible. He wished Adam had not sinned, and his posterity had not been affected, but that did not help the matter. He wished our fathers had stood out against the compromises of the constitution, for a serpent just hatched was not half so dangerous as a full-grown serpent. We had declared our fealty to the constitution, and we could not now break the pact. The war had not driven us into revolution. The constitution was not superior to right, conscience, or liberty. We must keep by our plighted faith, and when we could not abide by our promise we had better stand apart as two separate peoples. Were we then shut up by this reasoning? No. What the pen of the legislator could not do the sword of the warrior would do." Mr Beecher, in his Manchester speech at the Free Trade Hall, said—" Let me say one word here about the constitution of America. It recognises slavery as a fact, but it does not recognise the doctrine of slavery whatever." In this paragraph Mr. Beecher puts the constitution of our dis-United States in the same relationship to slavery as the Bible stands to sin. It recognises sin as a fact, but not as a doctrine otherwise than to be shunned, contemned, despised, abhorred. But Mr. Beecher in the paragraph extracted from his Thanksgiving Sermon speaks of the "compromises of the constitution." What does he mean by them? Surely not the recognition of slavery as a fact, but a doctrine to be believed in, embraced, and practised. He wished it had been otherwise, as in the case of Adam's transgression, but that did'nt help the matter." Quite true, Mr. Beecher; but you say that it made "political emancipation impossible." This is a most strange, delusive, and dangerous doctrine to be taught by any man, but especially by an avowed minister and disciple of Christ.

But why was political emancipation impossible? Let Mr. Beecher answer—"We had sworn fealty to the constitution" (with its compromises), which at Manchester he said contained no compromises; "we had made a promise," and if we could not keep "our plighted faith, and abide by our promise, we had better stand apart as two peoples." But have the Northern partners in our black partnership concern

kept their promise, or maintained their plighted faith to a constitution which, according to Beecher, the administrators of the government, with the consent of the people, had made a covenant with death and an agreement with hell? No. "But what the pen of the legislator could not do the sword of the warrior would," said Beecher. Instead of sensibly standing apart as two peoples, the more inhuman, irrational, and terrible arbitrament of the sword is resorted to. The above pretexts of Mr. Beecher are not only hollow, but horrible; and it would be quite in harmony with Mr. Beecher's theory to throw off his prophet's mantle, or to lay aside his shepherd's crook in his lecture, in the Philharmonic Hall, next Friday evening, and to appear in his "Pantomime covered with the war paint, and holding the "war hatchet" in his hands

Mr. Beecher, in his speech at Manchester, spoke of a class of men "who licked the feet of slaveholding men." In the facts, however, that we have given we leave our readers to judge who has been the greatest "lickspittle."

Thus, Mr. Beecher has gone for saving the union by keeping his plighted faith with the constitution and "its compromises," but now a spirit has come over his dreams, and he throws "his compromises" overboard to urge men to get not at what he calls the "Christian conscience of the South," but at the necks and throats of his "Christian slaveholders," to preserve his blind devotion to and superstitious veneration of the Union.

Mr. Beecher, in his recent speech at Glasgow, avowed that the Northerns would give "their last child and last dollar to restore the Union; but the conscription, associated with its dreadful tragedies, and his own avowal "that God and the negro are to save the Republic" do not harmonise, nor does also the belief which he avowed at Manchester that in the present fratricidal war the Northerns "are giving their best blood for principle." The seed corn of the old English martyrs was not associated with the doctrine of compromising truth with falsehood, or of uprooting error with the sword.

Mr. Beecher said-" Under God, the South has done more to bring on this work of emancipation than the North itself." First, they began after the the days of Calhoun to declare that they accepted slavery no more as a misfortune, but as a Divine blessing. The above is quite true, but it is not the whole truth, since the cause of this dreadful apostacy in the South originated in the teachings of the Northern pulpits, colleges, missionaries, and tract society boards, who for commercial causes introduced the "obscene goddess" of slavery, and proclaimed its humanity and divinity until, as Wendel Phillips, Esq., in 1860, declared orthodoxy was a "sea of rottenness." So that, base and infamous as "the hierarchs of infidelity" may be in the South who declare that the foundation of the Southern republic

is slavery, it emanates from Northern tuition; and vile and degrading as the sentiments are which have been addressed by the Southern clergy and churches to the Christians of this country, viler, blacker, and more atrocious sentiments still, if possible, may be culled from the writings, sermons, and speeches of Drs. Nehemiah Adams, Lord, Stuart, and Hoge, and the Rev. Vandyke, of New York, and the Right Rev.

Bishop Hopkins, of Vermont, &c., &c.

Mr. Beecher said-"No offence had been committed, none threatened by the North against the South, but the arrogation was that the election of a man (Lincoln) known to be pledged against the extension of slavery was not compatible with the safety of slavery in the South." Mr. Beecher must be strangely ignorant of the speech made by President Lincoln at Springfield, June 12, 1858, when he said—"I believe this country cannot endure permanently half slave and half free," &c., &c.; also of the interpretation which the Southerns put upon it as "a war of sections;" and also of Lincoln's recantation of the above speech at Ottawa, Illinois, Aug. 21, 1858; and also of the declaration made by Lincoln at Freeport, Illinois, Aug. 27, 1858, "that if any territory adopted a slave constitution uninfluenced by the actual presence of the institution amongst its members, that he saw no other alternative, if we held the union, but to admit them."

Mr. Beecher's statement in regard to the spread of abolitionism on the basis of no compromise is not in accordance with the history of the case. In Fred. Douglas's Monthly, for August, 1860, reference is made by him to Wendel Phillips, declaring that "the efforts of abolitionists for twenty years in the cause of freedom had been bootless;" and Douglas himself said at the same period—"Little progress had been made in twenty-five years of anti-slavery effort. There have been many mistakes to be corrected, and there has been much force used up by needless faction between contending factions." The testimony of the above men is complete, and as Mr. Beecher claims it a privilege to "unloose their shoes," he will

hardly dispute their authority.

But if the above should be deemed insufficient out of many facts which we could give of the "pro-slavery proclivities" of our Northern people, take the following. It is the case of the Rev. Dr. Plummer, who, instead of losing caste for the expression we have quoted and the unchristian spirit which he manifested was promoted to honour after the above "diabolical utterances" referred to; chosen professor of didactic and pastoral theology in the Western Theological Seminary at Alleghany City, Pennsylvania: - "And," according to the testimony of Wm. Loyd Garrison, "so far from the American board rebuking him in this wickedness, he has virtually rebuked the board by resigning his membership at the last annual meeting (October, 1859), probably because the board had sneaked out of the support of slavery in the Choctaw mission, instead of continuing to uphold it, as they still do in the Cherokee mission. But, since the American Tract Society has never made even so small a concession as this to the demands of anti-slavery, Dr. Plummer remains one of its 'directors' (as he has been ever since 1836), and made a speech at its last annual meeting, May 9, 1860, in support of the following resolution, presented by another pro-slavery divine, Rev. Dr. Richard Fuller of Baltimore, as follows:—'Resolved: That the national and catholic spirit of the American Tract Society, and its influence upon the literature of the land, ought to make it dear to every Christian and patriot."

At the Tabernacle meeting in London the other day, Mr. Beecher said—"Language failed him to express his admiration of this country." In the Independent, of which he is editor and proprietor, January 30, 1862, Mr. Beecher said—"Except in the madness of our Southern rebels it would be difficult to find a parallel for the malice which the whole English nation, government, newspapers, priests, and people (a few individuals excepted) have exhibited towards the American Union and its loyal citizens in the crisis of their greatest trial and danger. How can he reconcile the above statements?

In the *Independent*, Dec. 6, 1861, there is also the following record from the pen of Mr. Beecher:—
"Should the President yield to the present necessity (in the Trent affair) as the less of two evils, and bide our time with England, there will be a sense of wrong, of national humiliation so profound, and a horror of the

unfeeling selfishness of the English Government in this great emergency of our affairs, such as will inevitably break out by and by in flames that will be extinguished only by a deluge of blood. We are not living the whole of our life to-day. There is a future to the United States in which the nation will right any injustice of the present hour."

"Allusion having been made to the above by the Revs. Messrs Graham & Kennedy at the Tabernacle meeting held in London, Mr. Beecher ignored the threat which he connected with the words wronged, humbled, unfeeling selfishness that must be punished. the volcano of indignation that will leap up in resentment—the deluge of blood that will follow—the nearness of those sanguinary scenes as the above deluge of blood is to be poured out in our life. All this is ignored by Mr. Beecher, and in their place he said, at the London meeting referred to, 'Then we will show England how we can forgive an injury, and heap coals of fire on the heads of those from whom it comes.' In the future sense of the above language used by Mr. Beecher, is there any sense or forgiveness made manifest, or 'squelching' of the flames that will break out by and by with any overflow of charity? How can such an explanation harmonise with his original statement, published in his own favourite newspaper the Independent? And so far from there being any forgiving spirit-or truly proper Christian spirit-shown by Mr. Beecher, if your numerous readers could only get access to the

columns of his newspaper, they would find that the only fire which Mr. Beecher and his coadjutors advocated is Greek fire. This is their ten commandments—sermon on the Mount—gospel. In proof of which see an editorial article in the London *Patriot* a week or two ago, in which the editor lodges a grave complaint about the use of their 'Greek fire.'"

Surely the present is an age of wonders, when Mr. Beecher can receive "deafening plaudits" in the presence of such "revelations," and have addresses and memorials superbly printed and embellished for "consistent advocacy" as an abolitionist. The lion's skin cannot cover up his long ears.—Yours, for truth as well as liberty.

Joshua R. Balme, an American Clergyman.

56, Islington, Liverpool, Oct. 13, 1863.

THE REV. HENRY WARD BEECHER.

To the Editors of the Liverpool Mercury.

GENTLEMEN,—In a sermon preached by Mr. Beecher, October 30, 1859, and published in the " Echoes of Harper's Ferry," when speaking of brute force, he says-" It would be the most cruel, hopeless, and desperate of all conceivable follies to seek emancipation by the sword and by blood."—(P. 268.)

Again, he says, "So far as human instrumentation is concerned, with all the conscience of a man, with all the faith of a Christian, and with all the zeal and warmth of a philanthropist, I protest against any counsels that lead to insurrection, servile war, and bloodshed—it is bad for the master—bad for the slave -bad for all that are neighbours to them-bad for the whole land-bad from beginning to end! An evil so unminded and malignant that its origin can scarcely be doubted." (P. 269.)

Referring to the sovereign rights of the people, he says-" I believe in the right of a people to assert and achieve their liberty. The right of a race or nation to seize their freedom is not to be disputed. It belongs to all men on the face of the globe, without regard to complexion. A people have a right to change their rulers, their government, their whole political condition. This right is not either granted or limited in the New Testament. It is left as is air, water, and existence itself, as things not requiring command or legislation." (P. 269.)

Regarding the treatment of coloured people, Mr. Beecher says-" No one can fail to see the inconsistency between our treatment of those amongst us who are in the lower walks of life and our professions of sympathy for the Southern slaves. How are the free coloured people treated at the North? They are almost without education, with but little sympathy for ignorance. They are refused the common rights of citizenship which the whites enjoy. They cannot even ride in the cars of our city railroads. They are snuffed at in the house of God, or tolerated with ill-disguised disgust. Can the black man be a mason in New York? Let him be employed as a journeyman, and every Irish lover of liberty that carries the hod or trowel would leave at once, or cause him to leave! Can the black man be a carpenter? There is scarcely a carpenter's shop in New York in which a journeyman would continue to work if a black man was employed in it. Can the black man engage in the common industries of life? There is scarcely one in which he can engage. He is crowded down, down, down through the most menial callings to the bottom of society. We tax them, and then refuse to allow their children to go to our public schools. We tax them, and then refuse to sit by them in God's house. We heap upon them moral obloquy more atrocious than that which the master heaps upon the slave. And, notwithstanding all this, we lift ourselves up to talk about the rights and liberties of the human soul, and especially the African soul! It is true that slavery is cruel, but it is not at all certain that there is not more love to the race in the South than in the North. They love their property. We do not own them, so we do not love them at all. The prejudice of the whites against colour is so strong, that they cannot endure to ride or sit with a black man, so long as they do not own him. As a neighbour they are not to be tolerated; but as property they are most tolerated in the house, the church, the carriage, the couch. The African owned may dwell in America; but unowned he must be expatriated—emancipation must be jackal to colonisation. The choice given to the African is plantation or colonisation. Our Christian public sentiment is a pendulum, swinging between owning or exporting the poor in our midst." (Pp. 271, 272.)

And when speaking of the impotency of the public sentiment of the North for good, he inquires—" What can the North do for the South unless her own heart is purified and ennobled! When the love of liberty is at so low an ebb that churches dread the sound, ministers shrink from the topic; when book-publishers dare not publish or republish a word on the subject of slavery, cut out everyliving word from school books, expurgate life passages from Humbolt, Spurgeon, and all foreign authors or teachers; and when great reli-

gious publication societies, endowed for the very purpose of fearlessly speaking the truths which interest would let perish, pervert their trust and are dumb—first and chiefly—and articulate only in things that thousands of others could publish as well as they, what chance is there that public sentiment in such a community will have any power with the South?" (P. 274.) Can any one harmonise these utterances of Beecher with his orations in England, or Beecher himself?

To unite the above would cause a tremendous explosion, and all that would be left of him would be a magnificent hoax played off on the credulity of the British people, with fragmentary photographs, and pieces of embellished vellum in the ruins, which would serve as a deposit in the British Museum, as proof positive that we have entered upon the age of shams.

—Yours, for truth as well as liberty.

J. R. BALME.

56, Islington, Oct. 29, 1863.

THE REV. HENRY WARD BEECHER.

To the Editor of the Examiner and Times.

SIR,-Will you oblige me by the insertion of the following remarks, contained in a letter to me, written by the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher, relative to several letters which have appeared on certain sayings of Mr. Beecher? The observations are as follows:-"As to the reported expressions of mine I need not deny them to any right-minded man; and to any other it would be useless to do it. But if anybody wants to know either my opinions or my feelings respecting England, he has only to ask me and he shall be answered plainly. Let it be done in open meeting. I I am not going to be led into an irrelevant quarrel about distorted reports of remarks of mine years ago, taken out of their connective and qualifying circumstances. Here I am in England to give every honest man that wishes to know my honest opinions a chance to learn them. When I have made my speech, if any one desires to ask me any questions I shall receive his requests courteously, and answer them frankly."

I trust that the preceding remarks will be sufficient to guide the conduct of any inquirer after information. and also correctly indicate the time for, and the manner of, making the inquiry.—Yours respectfully,

JOHN H. ESTCOURT.

Manchester, October 7, 1863.

Having in a previous letter shewn Mr Beecher's discrepancy between his published sentiments in America, and his explanation given at the Tabernacle meeting, London, we shall now call attention to what he calls "distorted reports of remarks of mine years ago, taken out of their connective and qualifying circumstances." The occasion of his remarks was the following resolution, submitted at the annual meeting of his church in January 1860.

"Resolved, that this church contribute no more money to the American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions."

The above resolution was not only submitted but sought to be maintained by a small band of abolitionists in Mr Beecher's church, from the following considerations—

1. From the beginning they have allowed slaveholders in their Cherokee and Choctaw churches. 2. They expressly admit that they "have given no instructions to the missionaries in relation to slavery."

3. By a unanimous vote, they rejected a resolution offered by one of their members, "that slaveholding is a practice which is not to be allowed in the Christian Church."

4. After having allowed slavery in the Choctaw mission from its very commencement, they discontinued the mission in 1859, to get rid of "embarrassments" and "perplexities."

5. They continue to support the equally slaveholding Cherokee mission, without rebuke to its slaveholding church members, or to its pro-slavery missionaries.

Mr. Beecher, however, felt a stronger love to the American Board of Missions than to freedom, whilst in the face of the above great historical facts, he defended the American Board in an address of two hours' duration, when he maintained that "it was the proper depositary for the contributions of Plymouth Church," that to "an unparalleled degree it had kept pace with public sentiment on the subject of slavery," and "was clean, clear, and pure, in its record," referring to doctrine, discipline, and action.

In this address he gave utterance to the strange propositions referred to in a previous letter, and which he now calls "distorted, and taken from their connective and qualifying circumstances." There is, however, the same unvarying testimony in the columns of the press, both secular and religious, against Beecher. The anti-slavery "Standard" remarked, "The speech has not been reported in full, but we give what we suppose to be a fair sketch, partly from 'The Tribune,' and partly from 'The Express.'

Mr. Beecher's Speech.

He intended to maintain to-night, first, that the American Board was the proper depositary of the contributions of this church of those funds by which it is desired to preach the gospel in foreign lands; secondly, that, while he was entirely and perfectly willing that the American Missionary Association should have a collection, he could not do it at the expense of the American Board; thirdly, that the American Board

had to an unparalleled degree keptp ace with public sentiment on the subject of slavery, and now held anti-slavery doctrines, and had faithfully and consistently applied these doctrines to missionary work, and that it was clean, clear and pure on this subject. This society was to be preferred because it had a position in nearly every quarter of the globe. The American Missionary Association gave you no chance to preach the gospel in Western or Northern Asia or China, where they have not a missionary, nor a native helper. True, the Missionary Association might say, "Give us the money and we will establish missionaries in all these places." This would be like a small firm saying to buyers, Don't go to the large houses, to Claffin and Mellen, or Bowen and M'Namee, or Stewart's; come to us, and if we haven't got the stock you want, when we are rich enough, we'll keep on hand all that you want. He preferred the American Board, also, because it was old, and was hallowed by association. It was objected to the American Board that it was a close corporation. He compared its action with that of the American Tract Society, an open corporation, much to the disadvantage of the latter. On the question of slavery, he proceeded to defend the Board. These Indian Missions went back to the time when there was no agitation against slavery. And the churches then established were independent; their independence, like that of all other churches under the American Board being carefully guarded.

Mr. Beecher read from the report of 1854 of the American Board taking the ground that it was not necessary to exclude the slave-holders from communion. They denounced slavery, but would consider the circumstances of those who, without their own action, had been made slaveholders. One of the missionaries, viewing slavery in all its bearings, denounced its baleful effects upon both masters and slaves. This was the feeling in 1845, and they had not yet learned the doctrine of discrimination between the selfish and unselfish slaveholder. He held that a man might hold a slave and not do wrong. This must be the case until time is annihilated. There might be formalities, and whether they took seconds, days, or weeks, time must be consumed. Such a thing as immediate emancipation was impossible.

He did not believe that slaveholding was necessarily sinful. There was no such thing as a thing being bad per se, or good per se. That was a scholastic subtlety. Nothing was bad per se, and nothing was good per se. A thing that was bad in its results was bad, and a thing good in its results wasgood. The question with regard to slavery was, whether it was baneful in its influence or not. The American Board has taken this ground: That selfish slaveholding was reprehensible; but if a man were put in circumstances where he could not help it, he was permitted to do so. If a man could not emancipate his slave, he fellowshipped him, and would sit down to table with him, and so would Christ. He would go through fire and water to stand by that

man. The Board had done all that they could to enforce these doctrines. But it was not reasonable to ask that the churches among the Choctaws should become anti-slavery before Dr Spring's or the Mercer Street Church became so, or half the churches in Mr. Beecher reviewed the course of the American Board in regard to slavery among the Choctaw churches. He thought the books of Corinthians the best adaptation of Christian principle to the actual state of things. And next to them he placed Mr. Treat's report on the American Board and Slavery in the Cherokee and Choctaw Churches, Mr. Beecher presented the history of the Board's action in regard to slavery, and read at length from Mr. Wood's report, accepted by the missionary churches as their guide in matters pertaining to slavery. If by their vote they withdrew their sympathy from the American Board, they might just as well withdraw it from their pastor, and vote that they would not hear him preach any longer, for he held just such views. Because the missionaries said that they could not bring the Choctaw churches up to this agreement, the American Board had cut off these churches. When we looked at the course of the churches contributing to the American Board, in regard to slavery, we were surprised that the American Board had taken such ground as it had. If there was one form of slavery which he utterly abhorred, it was bigotry for liberty. In the advanced anti-slavery movements of this country, there was a bigotry which equalled any papal intolerance (applause and hisses)

Such is the character of the report given, let us turn to some of the comments made by editors on the speech reported.

The Christian Intelligencer, the organ of the Dutch

Church, said of Beecher's speech :-

Mr. Beecher's Conservatism.

"When good men forsake their evil ways, the cause of truth is invigorated, righteousness achieves fresh triumphs, and the wicked are put to shame. It has been our painful and melancholy duty, as faithful journalists, to chronicle, in past times, some aberrations of Mr. Beecher from the good old paths the fathers trod; but latterly, we have been disposed to call for the 'fatted calf,' because this our brother was lost, but is found again." Ever since the Harper's Ferry foray, the minister of Plymouth Church seems to have had his eyes wide open, to see what abolitionism is coming to. What Mr. Beecher may have meant for eloquent fun others took up in practical and bloody earnest, and carried war to the gates. As an honest and sagacious man, Mr. Beecher seems to have discovered the necessity which was laid upon him to revise his opinions, and overhaul his previous course of anti-slavery agitation. The result has been every way satisfactory. We find him now opposing Lewis Tappan, and the peripatetic editor of the The Independent (Mr. Leavit), and the legal acumen of Mr. Benedict, and the fiery phalanx of fanatics in his own Church on the subject of slavery.

So confident were we of Mr. Beecher's sincere conversion from the ultraist to the conservative side that we ventured our prediction, last week, that he would, on Monday evening last, put the Abolitionists hors du combat on the missionary question. Saving a few inconsiderate utterances, his speech was throughout an excellent declaration of conservative principles. We quote a brace of paragraphs, which are so clear and so well pronounced, that, when transferred to our columns, they will be seen to be of the same manner and spirit of opinion which this paper has stifly and persistently advocated for years. Read Mr. Beecher:—

[We need not repeat the extract, as it is embodied in the foregoing report of Mr. Beecher's speech.—Ed.

Standard.

That is the sound and wholesome doctrine which our friend, Rev. Harvey D. Ganse, so ably presented years ago in a widely circulated and greatly admired pamphlet, and which the Christian Intelligencer endorsed ex animo et ab corde. Mr. Beecher, having sown his wild oats, is now getting on to the platform of Dutch conservatism, where he can afford to stand

"'Till rolling years shall cease to move."

Truth is mighty, and will prevail. Modesty forbids us to claim that Mr. Beecher's frequent readings of the *Intelligencer* have done him good, like a medicine; but we have our feelings of encouragement and satisfaction in this case, which will cheer us in our *endea-*

vours to aid Brother Cheever, and others like him, who dont know what to do with genteel negroes, when they chance to enter their churches; or with slaveholding ladies, who receive their ministrations under special

exceptions.

Mr. Beecher, in his speech of last Monday evening, went further than to denounce the malum in se men. He let fly a terrible accusation against the "anti-slavery bigots," which must have sounded like a crack of a Sharp's rifle among the abolition convicts whom the speaker arraigned on Monday evening last. Consider attentively his words.

* * * * *

The bold, manly, conservative and Christian position which Mr. Beecher has recently taken with reference to the existing anti-slavery agitation has brought down upon him the adverse criticisms of certain ultra journals, whose political override their ethical principles. We heartily rejoice that Mr. Beecher has, in these exciting times, avowed his hostility to intermeddling Abolitionists and antislavery bigots. For as there is an uncounted multitude of people in the land who borrow their brains, their thoughts, their principles and their utterances from the eloquent and popular minister of Plymouth Church, we can easily see that his example will be studied and imitated by many influential leaders of opinion, both clerical and political. We do not care to recal now what Mr. Beecher may have said or

done in former times, in the abolition interest. It is enough for us to know that, in his riper age, and with his maturer judgment, and fuller observation, he has deliberately asserted:—

1. That a man might hold a slave and not do

wrong.

2. That immediate emancipation is impossible.

3. That a slaveholder may be a good Christian.

4. That the influence of slavery is not always evil.

5. That some actual slaveholders are doing more for the cause of freedom than some violent reformers.

6. That anti-slavery bigotry is like that of the

Papacy.

These maxims have been enunciated from an honest heart more devoted to truth than to partisanship, and have secured for him this regard, the admiration of all men who can appreciate the nobility and magnanimity of character which will show themselves on great occasions, superior to the mousing meanness of little bigots and partisans.

The New York Tribune said,—"Mr Beecher made some very extraordinary declarations in his speech on Monday evening. For example, he then declared that nothing was good or bad in itself, and thus that slavery was not a universal wrong. Without embarking upon any metaphysical disquisition, we may at least ask if African slavery, as we know it in the United States and elsewhere, is not a wrong, an infernal wrong, and an accursed nuisance as well? And as this is the practical point in the whole discussion, Mr. Beecher's de-

claration, which is of very questionable character in connection with it, and which bears against the great truth itself, seems to us to savour of unusual eccentricities."

The Express, one of the very worst of the political pro-slavery journals, thus vented its exultation: -- "The pith of the matter is the improving position of Mr. Beecher himself upon the subject of slave-agitation and slavery; for he, like most men, as he grows older, seems to be becoming more conservative, and thus not to have lived in vain. * * * Who shall say. after this, that the Union meetings are not converting even the heathen to moderation and better sense? Anon, under such advancing preaching as this falluding to Mr Beecher's speech] the broken bond of the Churches of our country (alas the fatally broken bond) -which has done more to dissever this Republic than all the politicians combined-may be restored; and eight millions of Christians in the South may once more be restored to the communion table with the Christians of the North. What the Saviour and the Apostles could do, the Abolitionists of the North have not yet been able to do-that is, receive as brethren in the Church slaveholders as well as non-slaveholders: but, if the Beechers thus begin to pioneer the way, the good old time may be re-coming, when once more we shall be a united people. Christianity, and Christianity alone—the Christianity of the North, acting in comity and concert with the Christianity of the South-may and can reform everything wrong in slaveholding

communities, and, in the end, perhaps, make the slave be fit for that freedom which it would then be unjust to deprive him of, but this holier than thou Christianity of our modern Pharisees is a curse to the country, the slave, the master, and to all society. The remarks of the pastor of the Plymouth Church show how the current of abolitionism is setting in a better way."

The Irish News observed: - "Our best and strongest minds won't go the whole abolition hog. In quiet times they will be light and loose-tongued; but, in the crisis, they come out like bricks for the Union and the welfare of this wonderful family of republics. They stop shricking and sing Yankee Doodle. Pulpits or journals, it is all the same: good sensible men take their place on the right side and austerely bid their fanatical neighbours shut up. As for Mr. Beecher, we are glad the sight of that deadly weapon gave him remorse, referring to a Sharp's rifle exhibited by Mr. Tilton. The feeling was a salutary one. But we think well of him and hope good things of him-good things, indeed, of all kinds. We are sorry Mr. Mitchel is not here. He would rejoice exceedingly to see his old adversary coming round. He would extend the warm hand of reconciliation, representing his emotion. would, in fact, be Dorax and Sebastian over again.

"They call Beecher a trimmer. Well, perhaps he is.

Let him accept the term. Saville Lord Halifax, once
upon a time, did the same, and, with a wit as brilliant
and happy as Beecher's own, showed that it was a

name suitable to a man of the finest sense and judgment, as well in the management of state affairs as in the general conduct of sublunary matters. In sailing over the ocean of life, in fact, the best man trims his ship best. The man who cannot trim, blunders on rocks, falls to pieces, bursts up, goes to Davy Jones's locker. We hope Mr. Beecher's runagates will take heart and grace and come back. If they don't, he may take Dogberry's consolation and be thankful he has got rid of them."

The Anti-slavery Standard commented as follows:—

" PLYMOUTH CHURCH AND ITS PASTOR.

" Henry Ward Beecher has generally been regarded, by friends and foes alike, as a thorough-going antislavery minister, and the Church of which he is pastor has been generally supposed to be a thoroughgoing anti-slavery Church. Both indeed have been accounted by slaveholders and their apologists as quite "fanatical" upon the question of the negro's rights, while many honest friends of the slave have supposed that their reputation in this respect was well deserved. Many of Mr. Beecher's sayings and doings, bearing the stamp of noble impulses and "good intentions," have been calculated to create and foster this impression; but Abolitionists, who have closely watched his course and that of his Church, and understood the relations of both to proslavery men and pro-slavery ecclesiastical and missionary institutions, have long been painfully cognizant of short-comings on their part, which tended to nullify their influence against slavery. Their antislavery has been exhibited more in words than in deeds. Often denouncing slavery from the pulpit as a sin, Mr. Beecher has always been, as he is now, in ecclesiastical fellowship with pro-slavery men, and he does not appear to have been even aware that he was required, either on the score of principle or consistency, to keep himself and his Church free from complicity with the champions and apologists of chattelism. Every year, since its organization, the Church, with the approbation of its pastor, has made a contribution to the American Board, never once protesting against its pro-slavery course: and until a recent period it did the same thing for the American Tract Society. But for no organization representing the great anti-slavery movement of the country has it ever made a collection! On several occasions it has indeed assisted in purchasing the freedom of slaves—an act so far from being distinctively anti-slavery, that it is often performed by many of the bitterest pro-slavery men; and once or twice, perhaps oftener, it has assisted in some educational movement for the benefit of coloured people. But the anti-slavery cause, as such, has never, like the Bible, the Missionary and the Tract causes, been deemed worthy of its benefactions. He talks of the American Board as if he were utterly oblivious of its history for the last thirty years—as if he were unconscious that it has exerted its whole influence to

"crush out" the anti-slavery movement, and to prevent discussion of the subject in its meetings, and as if ignorant of its jesuitism in putting forth anti-slavery sentiments only as a means of gaining immunity for proslavery action. In behalf of the Board, in spite of its shameless disregard of the claims of the slaves, and its efforts to smother their cries for relief, his mouth is full of excuses, his heart overflowing with charity; and he is ready to overlook all differences between it and himself, and fold it in one long and loving embrace. But toward the Abolitionists, who have stood by the cause of the slave through sorest trials, and in opposition to a corrupt State and an apostate Church, his feelings are of quite another sort. Instead of wishing to draw nearer to them, and to overlook differences of sentiment in the love of a common cause, he averts his face, and vents his feelings in unfriendly criticism.

Mr. Beecher complains of the "doctrinal spirit" among Abolitionists, which he says is "as high, as exclusive and as foolish as ever there was in the religious world;" and he tells us that, as he has always contended against this fanaticism of doctrine in religious matters," so he "consistently abhors the bigotry of it in great questions of philanthropy." This sounds courageous, but what is the evidence of a "high doctrinal spirit" among Abolitionists? The only points he mentions are, the doctrines first, that slavery is a malum in se, and secondly, that the slaves ought to be immediately emancipated.

The American Baptist condemned in Beecher what

its editors have often practised themselves. Its editors said:-"To many it is a source of surprise and mortification that Henry Ward Beecher, who has often been so loud in his denunciation of slavery, should now be found endeavouring to hold back his church from becoming a real, active, anti-slavery body, by sending their missionary funds through a Society which makes slaveholding a bar to fellowship. But the case is one which ought not to excite surprise. Henry Ward Beecher, eloquent for freedom as he sometimes is, has never committed himself to the doctrine of practical separation from the wrong-doer. We know Dr. Cheever has been severely censured for intimating that among the New York ministers of his own order he stood alone, when in point of fact Mr. Beecher and Dr. Thompson were as thoroughly anti-slavery as he. But the statement of Dr. Cheever was strictly true; in his mode of opposing slavery, he stands alone; his abolitionism is totally different from that of Mr. Beecher, as the event has now shewn. We become more and more persuaded that the only true test by which to judge the soundness of any man's anti-slavery position is to meet him with the question: Do you believe slavery to be, in itself, a sin? And, as such, a bar to admission to the Lord's table? Any Church or Society which evades this issue ought not to be reckoned among the anti-slavery ranks; any minister or church-member who professes opposition to slavery as an evil, but does not regard it as a sin worthy of church discipline, is not to be depended upon; in the very hour when his help is needed, he will be found on the wrong side; his influence will be given for the suppression of any efficient anti-slavery action. Such, it ought to have been expected, would be the course of Mr. Beecher, when the question was brought up in the Plymouth Church, whether their funds should be given to the American Board or the American Missionary Association."

And the abolitionists in council assembled took action as follows:--" Resolved. That we have seen without astonishment that slaveholders and their accomplices, in defending the accursed slave system, are driven to deny and ignore all the self-evident truths pertaining to human rights -that even their gifted and ever-zealous ally, the late Rufus Choate, in their behalf, blasphemed the Declaration of Independence into a sounding tirade of 'GLITTERING GENERAL-ITIES!' But when an eminent teacher of religion. like Henry Ward Beecher, for the same unhallowed purpose, boldly inculcates that sin also is but another 'glittering generality,' that there is no sin in itself: that 'nothing is bad, per se; and nothing is good. per se;' and that 'these are only scholastic subtleties;' and that the great American Board of Missions is a true exponent of Christianity, and not only worthy of support, but is pre-eminently the chosen instrumentality for the world's salvation, notwithstanding that its religion includes slaveholding and slavetrading, even to the separation of parents and children; we are constrained to believe, from such

revelations, that the age of wonders has not ceased—and that slavery has done its most fearful, fatal work on the Northern Pulpit—though we cannot but rejoice that the infidelity of Beecher is now revealed; and that not even his brilliant eloquence and shining talents can longer mislead the people, perverting and poisoning the public conscience and character."

How complete is the case against Mr. Beecher, both in regard to "distortion" and the remarks of his "being taken from their connective and qualifying

circumstances!"

But Mr. Beecher says also that they are "irrelevant." In what respects? In regard to himself and the object of his mission to this country. As for ourselves we most profoundly pity the man who could in America avow that there was no malum in se in slavery, and in England denounce it as a "cancer, nuisance, dragon, devil," and pray that "it may go to hell with its attendant horrors." The man who could make the slaveholder "a good Christian," and then exultingly avow that he would give his last dollar and child to butcher him—the man who put actual slaveholders before William Loyd Garrison, Wendel Philips, and Arthur Tappan, whom he called "violent reformers;" and then discards the slaveholders and welcomes to his embrace the "violent reformers" so called, avowing that "he is not worthy to unloose their shoes!" Such a man ought to be pitied and prayed for; and so ought to be the men who, in the face of these immense deficiencies, introduce him into their

pulpits to plead the cause of freedom, turn up their faces beaming with delight to receive him at public meetings, bespeak the attention of mankind in the columns of the press on his behalf, as an "uncompromising advocate"—the "Jupiter Tonans of the New World," etc., and give farewell banquets in his honour and favour!

J. R. BALME.

56 Islington, January 27, 1864.

ENGLISH AND AMERICAN DIVINES.

To the Editors of the Liverpool Mercury.

GENTLEMEN,—In to-day's Mercury I observe a letter on the "American Question," from the pen of one who signs himself "Joseph Parker." Now, as this signature is apt to mislead, I would suggest to your readers that this "great gun" in favour of the South must not be confounded with the Rev. Dr. Joseph Parker, the able and eloquent preacher of Cavendish Chapel, of this city. My reason for making this suggestion is simply because Dr. Parker being a member of the Union and Emancipation Society, it might seem strange that he should write such an effusion that smells so strongly of the "Southern Independence Association," alias "The Southern Club."

I may remark en passant that "Joseph Parker's" logic respecting Southern independence is merely a threadbare repetition of what one may hear any night when strangers are permitted to hear the mysterious speeches of the mystic few. Having been a thorough abolitionist long before the Union and Emancipation Society unfurled its flag, I take a special interest in such matters. In addition to this, I have a particular

liking to hear the truth—the whole truth, and nothing but the truth—spoken on such a grave subject as slavery and its abolition. I confess, then, that I felt rather indignant when I read such a gross suppressio veri as "Joseph Parker's" letter.

Truth needs no lengthened defence—no webs of sophistry to surround it. Truth is simple, and without guile. No one in his senses will deny that the South sanctions and upholds the wicked institutions of slavery. There can be no true freedom where there is slavery; therefore, there can be no real liberty in the South till slavery is completely abolished. This is truth and logic.—Yours, &c.,

J. A.

Manchester, Nov. 9, 1863.

NEW CAMBRIA, THE NEW WELSH COLONY IN NORTHERN MISSOURI.

The following letter, says the Liverpool Mercury, is from one of the most eminent divines in America, the Rev. William R. Williams, D.D., of New York, whose own father, also a minister of the Gospel, emigrated from Wales:

New York, Oct. 22, 1863.

Few regions of the United States probably present

a finer field for the emigrant than the great State of Missouri. Settled by colonists of intelligence, principle and energy, it is likely to exercise a pivotal influence in the great conflict now going on between freedom and slavery. I have been much pleased to hear of the project of a colony from Wales to be settled on the line of the Hannibal and St Joseph Railroad, in that State. From the names of the American proprietors, who invite the settlement, and from the credentials of the gentlemen in this city (Messrs J. M. and W. B. Jones, of No. 37 Nassau Street), who have the warm endorsement of men every way reliable, I have sanguine hopes that the enterprise may prove, under the blessing of God, a common and a rich benefit to the country from which the emigrants are to be drawn, and to that also which receives and welcomes them, as well as to the colonists themselves, if exercising but the virtues of energy, thrift, prudence, and patient industry which have distinguished the men of the Principality. Some hardships and inconveniences must, of course, attend the first steps of those leading such an enterprise; but with ordinary resolution, and with the wonted blessings of God's good providence, it may be safely anticipated that the new colony will prove a signal success, and a longenduring blessing.

WILLIAM R. WILLIAMS,
Pastor of Amity Street Baptist Church,
New York City.

AMERICAN DIVINES.

To the Editors of the Liverpool Mercury.

Gentlemen,—In Saturday's Mercury there is a

letter signed "Wm. R. Williams, Pastor of Amity Street Baptist Church, New York City," who is introduced as "one of the most eminent divines in America." designed to attach importance to his communication on the "New Welsh Colony in Northern Missouri," and to be speak the favourable notice of the public to the same. Now, when it is known that the Rev. W. R. Williams, D.D., has been for a quarter of a century one of the revisers of publications for the Old Tract. Society, New York, and that his mission was to expunge every sentiment of liberty from works written by celebrated European authors, in order to prepare them for circulation in America—a work which he faithfully discharged up to the period of the disruption between the North and South-when this is known and duly considered, the public will attach little importance to his communication, deem his references to liberty as a mockery, delusion, snare, and regard his descent from a minister of the gospel who emigrated from Wales as being no more an honour to the principality than the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher having for his "great-great-grandmother a full-blooded Welshwoman." Our American war brings out many revelations and revolutions; but of things revealed in American history, no fact is more capable of demonstration than this-that the Revs. Dr. Williams and Henry Ward Beecher, holding as they do liberty subordinate to the Union, just as they have held it in the one case subordinate to the Old Tract Society, and in the other to the American

Board of Missions, neither could have acquired any moral power to overturn American slavery until they had repented of their sins, and abandoned their evil courses. One would naturally have supposed that the admirers of the principality of Wales would not seek to give it such a prominence in connection with such a wayward progeny, any more than the avowed friends of the Rev. Hugh Stowell Brown who covet for him a niche in the temple of immortality by calling him the "Beecher of Liverpool"-an honour which Mr. Brown has estimated at its proper value, if the report be true that is in circulation that he put his emphatic "No, never" to the application which was made for his so-called prototype to preach in his chapel during his recent visit to Liverpool. No lustre is shed on the principality of Wales by such men as Williams and Beecher, or on Stowell Brown by calling him the "Beecher of Liverpool," as shown in one of the Dissenting journals published in London recently. One of your Manchester correspondents, I see, is very fearful lest one "Joseph Parker," an able writer in your columns, should be confounded with the Rev. Dr. Joseph Parker. I should have thought that plain "Joseph Parker" was deep and broad enough in its distinction from "Dr. Joseph Parker;" but if he thinks that plain Joseph Parker has got less sense because he is not a "war Christian," or member of the "Union and Emancipation Society," and that Dr. Joseph Parker has got more sense because he is both, it is quite evident that he is no more a proper judge

of the relative value of that precious commodity any more than he is capable of dealing with the *suppressio* veri of the North in its relationships to slavery which he charges upon plain Joseph Parker falsely in regard to the south.—Yours, for truth as well as liberty,

J. R. BALME.

56 Islington, Nov 7, 1863.

A MARTIN LUTHER WANTED.

To the Editors of the Liverpool Mercury.

Gentlemen,—Nothing can be more apparent than the above, both in regard to the usurpation of despotic power in America, and also the relationships which civil governments bear to that country, and the duties arising therefrom. Let us look at the facts of the case before us.

In consequence of taxation without representation your American colonies threw off their allegiance to this country, and formed themselves into independent states, with governors, senators, legislators, judges, militia, and all the apparatus and authority necessary for their governance and guidance as independent nations.

From motives of prudence and economy the people and government of these states entered into a league, or federation of States, to protect each other from common danger, obviate the necessity of keeping up a standing army and navy in, or sending ambassadors from each separate state to foreign courts. When this league or federation was entered into, provision was made for the appointment of a president or manager of our federal concern, in whom executive power was to be vested; and also for the creation of a Congress,

with a Senate and House of Representatives, in which all legislative powers granted by the States were likewise to be vested. These powers were defined as given above and put on record in the constitution of the United States; and as every president has interpreted the constitution as a slave document, by usage and custom, it has put slaves in the same category with all other common property belonging to the United States, and given us a black heritage of shame and guilt that could never be covered up or concealed from the view of men with our high-sounding titles, such as our "great and wonderful Union"-our "freest Government of the world." And whilst the separate States who formed our federation of States reserved intact as sacred and supreme their sovereignties, they made provision that "nothing in the constitution shall be so construed as to prejudice any claims of the United States, or of any particular State"-a provision which was ignored both in the Missouri Compromise, the Personal Liberty Bills adopted by five of the Free States, and also in the tariffs created to protect some States at the expense of others—the manufacturing against the agricultural. And moreover, the President or Congress of the United States thus created and appointed by the separate States had no power given them to interfere with any of the sovereign States in the Federal Union in any case of domestic violence, except on application of the legislature, or of the executive, or governor in the State where such violence takes place.

Taking into account, therefore, the equality of rights when each State joined the Union, and the arrangement that the burden of taxation should fall on all the States equally and not partially, any State or States denied their just rights had not only a ground for complaint, but a right to withdraw, when their law of compact was violated. And when President Lincoln called into requisition the army and navy of the United States to invade the Southern States, he ought to have been impeached at the bar of the Senate for levying war against the sovereign States of the South. seeing that commissioners were sent by the seceding States to Washington to treat with the Federal Government, and to make a proper adjustment of all claims and questions arising therefrom, Lincoln was stripped of every constitutional plea to justify himself in his rash, mad, infamous policy of coercing the Southern States into the Union, or of seeking to promote their subjugation or extermination. And, strange to say, this view is ratified and confirmed by Lincoln in the following declaration which he made in his inaugural address on March 4, 1861, when he assumed the office of President:—"I declare that I have no purpose, directly or indirectly, to interfere with the institution of slavery in the States where it exists. I believe I have no lawful right to do so, and I have no inclination to do so. Those who nominated and elected me did so with the full knowledge that I had made this and many similar declarations, and had never revoked And more than this: they placed on the plat-

form for my acceptance, and as a law to themselves and to me, the clear and emphatic resolution which I now read:- 'Resolved-that the maintenance inviolate of the rights of the States, and especially the right of each State to order and control its own domestic institutions according to its own judgment exclusively, is essential to that balance of power on which the perfection and endurance of our political fabric depend; and we denounce the lawless invasion by armed force of the soil of any State or territory, no matter under what pretext, as among the gravest of crimes." Self-convicted and self-condemned, therefore, our socalled wise, just, and conscientious magistrate stands before the world guilty of trampling under his feet the "rights" of the Southern States in their withdrawal from the Union, and invading their sovereignties under the pretext of protecting Fort Sumter, thus committing on his own showing the "gravest of crimes."

Such being the terrible condition of things in America, let us look at the facts of the case in connection with the relationships which other nations sustain towards America, and the duties arising therefrom. In these relationships, whence does the President or Congress derive the powers which enable them to make treaties with other nations? Is it not from the representatives of the different States of the Union? When, therefore, the representatives of the Southern States withdrew from Congress, and the several States to which they belonged announced their separation from the United States, there was not a treaty made by the

United States previously with any Government on earth but was invalidated by that act, or impaired, just the same as a contract in any firm, when any partners withdraw from it. Now, if a contractor would not feel justified in going to sleep with his contract in his pocket when his interests are jeopardised, can those nations which have treaty contracts with America be excused for allowing their treaty rights to slumber, and going to sleep with their treaty rights in their possession?

When the Southern States withdrew from the Federal Union, the treaties of the United States with other nations from that hour ceased to be binding on the Southern States, and all nations that had treaties with America, and if they had no complaints to make they ought to have had, since the blockade of the Southern ports and coasts is just as much illegal and iniquitous as Lincoln committing any overt act of despotic power on land that interfered with their rights or invalidated their supremacy as sovereign States. Why, then, this interruption of commerce and confiscation of property in the shipping trade? And who is to blame for the open doors amongst the nations through which the wolf has come in to prey on them-There is either tremendous ignorance or a terrible connivance at the assumption of such arbitrary and despotic powers at Washington. But if safety lies in the pathway of duty, where is the wisdom, justice, or sound policy of being in such a position as that which the nations now present to the world that have treaties

with America? As John Bull was recently represented in your Exchange Newsroom, stretched on a "rack." with the governor of the Bank of England at his head. and a veiled figure, the "Times," at his feet, lever in hand, while the Chancellor of the Exchequer and others looked on with deep solicitude, as Lord Palmerston felt John's pulse to see how much he could endure under the tender mercies of his torturers—even so all nations may be fitly represented as being in a stupor towards America, for we cannot conceive that any of them, more especially the "great powers" amongst them, know their rights, and knowing dare not maintain them. Oh for some Luther to take the above facts and send them thundering down the sides both of the Old and New World, to reveal the handwriting on the walls at Washington, put a stop to all presidential jokes, as Lincoln makes himself merry over, his hand being in the "cranberry jam" of the States, and rouse the governments and peoples of the world to a sense of their duty. Could Luther arise from the dead, however, to perform such an essential service, he would have to break through all conventional forms and usages, and have to consent to be isolated, ostracised. have his name cast out as evil, and to wear titles much longer than those which form appendages to the names of our conventional wire-pullers in the new world; and not quite so graceful withal, as they would read "impotures, scoundrel, monster in human shape," &c., &c. The world would then have its ears regaled with another song which would go down the ages with its

magic spell of enchantments, like the former, when he sung,—

"Give to the winds thy fears, And undismayed go on."

But to get on he would have to unmask the villanies of many, unbind the delusions of others; and if he had to confront the religious war fanatics, or the "Union emancipationists," he would have to bend his fists in the face of their unbounded arrogance and insolence, and where they have got consciences, to strike them in those tender parts as fast as he came at them. Hurrah for a Martin Luther.—Yours, &c.

JOSHUA R. BALME.

56 Islington, January 4, 1864.

TRUE POLICY DEFINED.

At the beginning of the present war there were two courses for our Northern people to pursue, rather than have appealed to the arbitrement of the sword; the first was to have made proposals of compensation for the liberation of the slave: the second was a dissolution of partnership. The Rev. Henry Ward Beecher, who is now trying to go down the centuries with his Janus-face, and like some great wizard, to ingratiate himself into the affections of mankind, and win their admiration and applause; when referring, in his Harper's Ferry Sermon, to such a liberty, he called it a "regulated liberty," and expatiating on the same. he said, "a liberty possessed with the consent of their masters, a liberty under the laws and institutions of the country—a liberty which should make them common beneficiaries of those institutions and principles which make us wise and happy—such a liberty would be a great blessing to them."

And if such proposals had been rejected, with advantage to themselves and posterity, they could have said, in the adoption of the latter course, the law of compact which bound us together is now repealed—the covenant of death and agreement with hell in the Union is broken—"wayward sisters go in

peace." This would have given us a moral power amongst the nations that would have been felt for ages to come—won for us the title of peace-makers, and not that of peace-breakers—chained the blessings of a glorious prosperity to our multitudinous wants—and averted the dreadful calamities that have befallen us in the present terrible war.

All this was made very plain to us by Wm. Loyd Garrison and Wendel Philips, Esqs., men "whose shoes," Mr Beecher said, "he was not worthy to un-

loose,"

In a lecture which George Thompson delivered in Glasgow, January 27th, 1860, after shewing that the republican party had no wish to abolish slavery, he observed, "Besides this political party there is a nonpolitical party, of which Mr Garrison is the founder and head. By this party the constitution is denounced as an unholy and iniquitous compact, which must be dissolved, as the first effectual step towards the abolition of slavery. Hence they are avowedly disunionists, and inscribe upon their flag, "no union with slaveholders, no compromise with slavery." In accordance with their settled views of what is right and necessary, they seek the separation of the free from the slave states. With this party it has been my privilege to co-operate for five and twenty years, and with ever increasing admiration of their disinterestedness and fidelity."

When, therefore, the South seceded from the North these advocates with their sympathisers and admirers ought to have hailed the separation with the most thrilling emotions of joy.

"This was their settled view of what was right and necessary." Listen to this, Revs. Baptist Noel and Newman Hall, Professors Newman, Cairns, and all ye misguided zealots who put your fingers on certain clauses of an obsolete constitution, and pronounce them with a whisper, and then with the deepest and broadest emphasis peal them in the ears of your auditors.

"This secession, also, would be the first effectual step towards liberty." How? Mr Thompson in the same lecture said, "but for the guarantee of slavery in the constitution of the United States, the slaveholders of the South would be unable to hold their slaves. Were it not for the protection afforded by it, the slaves would run away! The Southern States admit their inability to hold their slaves, except through the protection afforded them by the Northern States." The men, therefore, who held the above views were doubly bound to demand the dissolution of the Union; but alas, for the men referred to above, who instead of hailing the disruption as a means of attaining the consummation of their wishes in the dissolution of the Union, have made it the means of increasing the mad outbursts of passion which is producing such scenes of violence and blood; and George Thompson, who recently pointed his admirers to a rare phenomenon amongst his bumps, the great philanthropic development of his conscientiousness, at a farewell banquet at the Adelphi, Liverpool; as illustrated in his anti-corn law league experiences—this man has undergone a sad change in connexion with the organ of combativeness, which is being stimulated to such a wonderful expansion and growth in the way of destructiveness, so that he can scarcely think, speak, or dream of anything but standing amidst the myriad slain of the battle-field, where the air is filled with the moans of widows and orphans, and the soil soddened with the gore of the dying and the dead; not, however, to take his place in the ranks of those who have fallen, but to desecrate the spot where John Brown fell a hero and a martyr, and pollute his fair fame by associating his glorious name with the present revolutionary scenes of massacre and blood, than which no one more than John Brown would have condemned and abhorred-since no man was more reluctant to shed human blood, or more careful to avoid the policies of men who bartered truth for falsehood, virtue for ambition, or had no shield or protection but refuges of lies.

Should Mr. Thompson's wish be gratified, by "standing on the spot where stood the scaffold on which John Brown perished, with gathered thousands of emancipated slaves before him;" and could John Brown rise from the dead, and make his appearance before him, in their presence, what a withering rebuke he would give George Thompson if he dared to utter the mean and contemptible falsehoods to which he gave utterance in his speech at the Adelphi.

1st. That Abraham Lincoln, the camelion debater with the late Judge Douglas, had "thoroughly imbibed the principles of the declaration of independence, had always cherished the 'desire' that they should be carried out impartially without respect to colour, and that every man born on the soil of America, and under its institutions, should enjoy the benefit secured by civilization."

2nd. That Abraham Lincoln, who, when he took the oath to the constitution, swore to uphold and maintain it as a slave document, and threatened with all the terrors of his official displeasure all who would not so regard it—the man who wrote to Hon. Horace Greely, to the effect that "if he could save the Union with slavery, he would do it, or slavery in part, he would do that, but if he could not save the Union without, he would destroy slavery." That this man "had shaped out for himself an anti-slavery policy, and carried with him into the presidential chair, a strong determination to administer his government in the spirit of freedom, and that future ages, when they should look back on the list of great names, would remember with equal gratitude, George Washington, the father of American independence. and Abraham Lincoln, the liberator of the slaves."

3rd. That the Union and Emancipationists in England, leagued with the Religious War Crusaders and Republicans in America, are the true friends of the slave."

John Brown, who was quick to detect artifice, and

who loathed in his inmost soul all treachery and falsehood, would instantly have protested, and hurled his defiance with seven-fold indignation against such abominable frauds and diabolical wickednesses perpetrated and sanctioned in the name of liberty, justice, humanity, Christianity, and God.

True friends of freedom, look at the hecatombs of the slain-gaze upon the bruised and mangled limbs of the wounded and dying, visit the homes made desolate by the war, and see how their woecups are filled to the brim-think of the mirth and hilarity of the administrators of the government as they crack their jokes in the midst of such scenes of suffering and woe; bear in mind that a country which claims to have the holiest government, and to be the freest nation in the world is filled with spies, informers, conscripts, and dungeons; consider also. how, in consequence of the judicial blindness of our so-called great men in church and state, the whole country is bounding along with accelerated force into the gulph of ruin; and then, ponder over the records put on file by Mr. James Yeatman, the President of the Western Sanitary Commission, and you will see from another stand point what is the character of the men who claim to be the liberators of the slave—and the nature of that freedom, which the Unionists and Emancipationists say, is rapidly coming upon four millions of slaves, in connexion with the philanthropic work of the brute force abolitionists.

The "Liverpool Courier" Jan. 29, 1864, says:-

Our authority for what we are about to state is derived from unimpeachable Northern sources. In the month of December last, one year after the celebrated emancipation proclamation, Mr. James E. Yeatman, president of the Western Sanitary Commission, visited the camps of the "Freedmen" from Cairo to Natchez, along the Mississippi. He was commissioned to ascertain the number of those freed negroes who were unemployed, to ascertain their wants, and to make what suggestions he thought fit for their advantage and improvement. He visited twenty-one camps, and we will give in his own words a concise view of what he saw:—

"About Memphis there are 3000 freedmen and women. Those employed by Government receive but 10 dollars a-month (that is, allowing for depreciation of currency, £1 monthly), out of which they must feed, clothe, and lodge themselves. The negroes could earn from 30 to 45 dollars monthly, but they are compelled to work for 10. A negro harness-maker, who could earn 45 dollars, was forced to work for 10. though white men were paid 45 dollars per month for the same work. The negroes on steamboats, who receive 35 dollars monthly, are afraid to land lest they should be picked up and forced into government employment at one-fourth their existing wages; thousands, moreover, have been employed for weeks and months who have never received anything but promises to pay!"

The liberated negroes gathered round Mr. Yeatman

and said, "They were told they were free, but they could not believe it. Negroes are seized in the street and ordered to go and help to unload a steamboat, or to work in the trenches, or to chop wood; he labours for months, and at last is only paid with promises, unless it be with kicks, cuffs, and curses." They say "that they sigh to return to their former masters and homes; their masters at least fed, clothed, and sheltered them."

The enterprising citizens of Massachusetts have readily found a profitable mode of employing slaves. They are very severe abolitionists, the men of Massachusetts, and lest wages should seem to be a badge of slavery or coercion they never pay the negroes anything, but they make them work hard, for idleness is sinful. These men of the North lease four or five abandoned plantations, and put all the negroes to These intelligent contrabands "may get corn wherever they can find it on abandoned plantations; the masters give them none. Four pounds of meat per week is all that is allowed them; they have to pay for their flour." Some have worked from April to December without receiving any pay or clothing whatever. The negroes say "that they are taken out and hired to men who treat them, as far as providing for them is concerned, far worse than their Secesh masters did." They who do receive pay receive it not by the month, but by the number of days' work they put in, at the rate of 27 cents daily; and thus when the planter only furnishes ten days' labour in the month, the

slave receives but 2 dollars 70 cents for his month's service.

Mr. Yeatman says, "The parties leasing plantations and employing negroes do so from no motives either of loyalty or humanity; the desire of gain alone prompts them. The majority of the lessees are adventurers, camp followers, and land sharks. These parties are endeavouring to form a combination by which a few men would monopolise many plantations. If the negroes succeed in obtaining wages they are plundered by wholesale. Their considerate Northern masters sell to them shoes at 2 dollars 50 cents, which were sold at S. Louis for 1 dollar, and calicoes at 75 cents, which are sold at the same place for 20."

There has been a vast amount of "tall talk" in the North respecting the herculean efforts made to educate the negro. Mr. Yeatman visited several schools along the Mississippi. In one he found the master bedridden, but teaching "while himself lying in bed." In another he found sixty-three scholars, "using books of all kinds, scarcely any two alike, and some had nothing but scraps of paper. One had a volume of Tennyson's poems, stolen out of a Southern lady's boudoir, out of which he was learning his letters! The teacher of another had but one arm to keep order amidst a crowd of negro children."

But we cannot go through the whole of this remarkable report; we must confine ourselves to a few salient points. At Milliken's Bend Mr. Yeatman found 1500 freedmen "in a destitute condition." A'

Young's Point there were 2100 in miserable tents, huts, and hovels. The sickness and death were most frightful. During the summer from thirty to fifty died in a day, and on some days as many as seventyfive. At De Soto, so well known from its position opposite to Vicksburg, there were 275 old men and women to whom the government undertook to furnish rations, but "none had been received for more than two weeks preceding Mr. Yeatman's visit." At Natchez there was a camp of 2100 freedmen hutted without light or ventilation; seventy-five died in one day. Numbers returned to their masters on account of suffering. The first question asked by the negroes of Mr. Yeatman was always, "Are you a doctor?" One camp, which numbered 4000 at the time of his visit, was reduced to 2100. "A sad tale to tell," he writes; "but whoever will ride along the levee from Millikin's Bend to De Soto, as I did, and see the numerous graves along the way, for the distance of twenty-five miles, cannot doubt it." Even Mr. Yeatman, a Northern partisan from the Western States, and chief of an abolition society, is compelled to say that the negroes "are in a state of involuntary servitude worse than that from which they have escaped."

"Such are the results Mr. Bright exults in; such, he hopes, will be rapidly extended. Old men and women left to starve; the ablebodied worked hard by pitiless taskmasters for little or no pay. No clothing; no medical comforts; instruction intrusted to the decrepid and the helpless; and honest Bostonians

amassing fortunes by the compulsory labour of liberated negroes! As democracy has become the most extreme tyranny in the States, so the "liberty" of the negro has assumed the form of the most heartless and most merciless slavery. We desire the freedom of every slave throughout the world, but not such a freedom as this."

MOCK PHILANTHROPY; OR CANTERISM.

INSTEAD of adopting the use of the means referred to in the preceding communication, nothing would satisfy our religious war crusaders such as Cheever, Beecher, Sloane, Tyng, Conway, Mrs Stowe, and Miss Dickenson, but an appeal to the arbitement of the sword. Blood, blood, blood, is their hoarse and melancholy cry-spoliation, confiscation, extermination, rather than the Union should be dismembered! And although Wm. Loyd Garrison, Esq., the founder and head of the Abolition party in America, at one period contemplated with horror the termination of slavery by insurrection, or a servile war, and solemnly pledged himself to reject the use of all carnal weapons in seeking to promote the emancipation of the slave, whilst with the deepest and broadest emphasis he exclaimed :-

> "Not by the sword shall your deliverance be, Not by the shedding of your master's blood, Not by rebellion, nor foul treachery, Upspringing suddenly like swelling flood, Revenge and rapine ne'er did bring forth good."

Although such were the expressed feelings and sen-

timents of Mr Garrison, now a change has come over the spirit of his dreams—his doctrines of non-resistance have been exchanged for the shout of the warrior, and garments rolled in blood; and the "revenge and rapine which ne'er did bring forth good," are to produce the most astounding miracles of mercy and love—the hurricane of blood and ruin which is now sweeping across our land is to be succeeded by an imperial heritage of privilege and blessing, which is to make America the envy of the world! Nor do the above class of men lack sympathisers or supporters in this country, in their ruinous and detestable policy.

Mr George Thomson, to whom we have already referred, in a lecture which he delivered in the City Hall, Glasgow, April 3d, 1860, when commenting on on the plea used by Frederick Douglas, "That to dissolve the Union would be to do just what the slaveholders would like to have done," observed, "On this subject the testimony of slaveholders themselves will be regarded as the best that can be given; and I will bring before you three passages out of many that might be selected, and leave you to draw your own conclusion on which side the weight of authority lies, and who are doing most to advance the overthrow of slavery-those who support the constitution which is the bulwark of slavery, and who would draw the cords of the Union closer; or those who would withdraw from the constitution would annul it as a compact in oppression, and would dissolve the Union between the slave-holding States." Then follow his

authorities. "The editor of the Marysville (Tenessee) Intelligencer, in an article on the character and condition of the slave population, says:-" We of the South are emphatically surrounded by a dangerous class of beings-degraded, stupid savages, who if they would but entertain the idea that immediate and unconditional death would not be their portion, would re-enact the St Domingo tragedy. But the consciousness with all their stupidity, that a tenfold force, superior in discipline, if not in barbarity, would gather from the four corners of the United States and slaughter them, keeps them in subjection. But to the non-slaveholding States particularly, we are indebted for a permanent safeguard against insurrection. Without their assistance the white population of the South would be too weak to quiet that innate desire of liberty which is ever ready to act itself out with every rational creature." -

"In the debate in Congress on the resolution to censure John Quincy Adams for presenting a petition for the dissolution of the Union, Mr Underwood of Kentucky said:—"They, the South, being the weaker portion, were in a minority. The North could do what they pleased with them; they could adopt their own measures. One thing he knew well, that the State which he in part represented had, perhaps, a deeper interest in this subject than any other, except Maryland, and a small part of Virginia. And whý? Because he knew that to dissolve the Union, and separate the different States composing this confederacy,

making the Ohio river, and Mason and Dixon's line, the boundary line, he knew as soon as that was done, slavery was done in Kentucky, Maryland, and a large portion of Virginia, and it would extend to all the States south of this line. The dissolution of the Union was the dissolution of slavery. It had been the common practice for Southern men to get up on this floor and say, 'Touch this subject, and we will dissolve this Union as a remedy.' Their remedy was the destruction of the thing they wished to save, and any sensible man could see it. If the Union were dissolved into two parts, the slave would cross the line, and turn round and curse his master from the other shore."

"This declaration of Mr Underwood as to the dependence of the slave-masters on the citizens of the free states, to guard their plantations and secure them against desertion, is substantially confirmed by Thomas D. Arnold of Tenessee, who in a speech on the same subject, assures us that the people of the South were dependent on the North for personal protection against their slaves. In assigning his reasons for adhering to the Union, Mr Arnold made use of the following language:—

"The Free States had a majority of forty-four in that house. Under the new census they would have fifty-three. The cause of the slaveholding states was getting weaker and weaker, and what were they do? He would ask his Southern friends what the South had to rely on if the Union were dissolved? Suppose

the dissolution could be peaceably effected (if it did not involve a contradiction in terms) what had the South to depend upon? All the crowned heads were against her. A million of slaves were ready to rise and strike for freedom at the first tap of the drum. If they were cut loose from their friends at the North, (friends that ought to be, and without them the South had no friends) whither were they to look for protection? How were they to sustain an assault from England or France with that cancer at their vitals? The more the South reflected, the more clearly must she see that she has a deep and vital interest in maintaining the Union."

Mr Thompson commenting on the above remarks said:—"These unimpeachable testimonies may be accepted, I think, as a sufficient answer to the unsupported assertion of Mr Douglas, that the dissolution of the Union would be just what the slaveholders would like," and they may be also accepted as a standing reproach to himself and others who are now constantly making the avowals of President Davis, vice-President Stephens, Dr Palmer, Dr Thornwell, Senator Brown, and the Hon. Robert Toombs, a stalkinghorse, "to draw tighter the cords of the Union."

What was impracticable on the part of slave-holders, according to the testimonies produced by Mr Thompson in 1860, must be so now. If the Southerns are fighting to preserve Slavery, what madness it must be on their part to fight for what they cannot retain, or preserve without the aid of the North, and

the Northerns must be equally foolish in shedding such rivers of blood, and producing such wide-spread misery and woe to attain an object which was already within their power to realise without the firing of a single shot, or the destruction of a single life!

Next comes Henry Vincent, Esq., with his lofty assumption that the present conflict between the North and South in America is a "Great Rebellion." Hear what the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher in his Harper's Ferry Sermon says: — "These sovereign States are united to us not by any federal ligaments, but by vital interests, by a common national life. And the question of duty is not simply what is duty towards the blacks, not what is duty towards the whites, but what is duty to each and to both united I am bound by the great law of love to consider my duties towards the slave, and I am bound by the great law of love also, to consider my duties towards the white man, who is his master. Both are to be treated with Christian wisdom and forbearance. We must seek to benefit the slave as much as the white man, and the white man as really as the slave. We must keep in mind the interest of every part-of the slaves themselves, of the white population, and of the whole brotherhood of States federated into national life." Mr Vincent will hardly dispute the above authority, since he has espoused the cause of Mr. Beecher's partisans; we entreat the reader therefore, to mark the stress which Mr Beecher lays on the sovereignty of the different States—on vital interests

as being the bond of Union, and not federal ligaments—on the different States as constituting a brother-hood; that these vital interests have federated the whole brotherhood of States into national life; that this federation and brotherhood bring obligations to seek the mutual benefit of the slave and the white man his master; and that the recognition of those obligations are to be associated with Christian wisdom and forbearance.

Now if these vital interests are to be the forge to produce the links in the chain that is to bind the States together in the federation or brotherhood of the Union, may not vital interests also be a forge to produce a sledge hammer to dissever the links in this chain of federation, and destroy the brotherhood of the Union? And who are to be the judge but the administrators and people of what Mr. Beecher calls "These sovereign States."

But should Mr. Vincent repudiate these "vital interests," and fall back on federal ligaments as the bond of Union, which Mr. Beecher says do not exist, and deny the right of any of the States to secede, we would remind him of the broad emphasis Mr. Beecher has laid on these sovereign States. If the powers vested in sovereignty are sacred and supreme, so it is with the States, or they could not with any degree of propriety be called "sovereign States." And should Mr. Vincent repudiate not only vitality of interest as the bond of Union, but the sovereignty of the States, and fall back on the parchments or

written bonds, we would remind him that these are worthless where there is no vitality of interest, and also very insecure when their binding power is dependent on sovereigns, as shewn in the German and Danish war. And there is not a clause in the written bond of the constitution, which our whole brotherhood of States have not trampled under their black hoofs at every period of our history as a people; and Mr. Vincent would hardly allege that law-breakers can put in a plea in favour of constitutional law and order.

But should Mr. Vincent fall back still on the vox populi, we would remind him that the people who live in the slave States, whom Professor Newman calls "Thugs," have the same right as the Poles. Hungarians, Italians, or any other people, to "change their rulers, government, their whole political condition." "This," says the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher, "belongs to all men on the face of the globe, without regard to complexion. This right is not either granted or limited in the New Testament. It is left as is air, water, and existence, itself, as things not requiring command or legislation." How foolish to call the American war a rebellion. We can conceive how the whole brotherhood of States have rebelled against God, and are justly suffering the penalty due to their terrible crimes. In this sense it may be called a "great rebellion." But we cannot see how it can be called a rebellion towards man, when our written parchments, such as the constitution and

declaration of independence, like our liberty, poles of contradiction in our cities, towns, and villages, are a swift witness against our whole people for treachery and folly! We have now done with you Mr. Vincent, and you can take your Bolton placards or bill-posters

and your "Great Rebellion" with you.

Mr. Mason Jones according to the Manchester Examiner and Times, Feb. 24, 1864, in a lecture delivered at Halifax, is reported to have said that "he denounced the blasphemous utterances of the Rev. Dr. Palmer, who maintained that slavery was a divine institution, remarking that though he had never met him in a dark lane, yet he did not hesitate to say that if he could lay his hands on the Dr. he would string him up as high as heaven. (Loud cheers.) Many have felt it inconvenient to be surrounded with the broad light of heaven, and be subject to the public gaze in the performance of atrocious deeds- and therefore have waited with feverish anxiety for the evening shade to cover them when they have sneaked their way into "dark lanes" where they have laid "snares privily," and carried out their diabolical schemes, exclaiming "who shall see them?" And we are sorry that Mr. Jones, in aspiring to Calcraft's situation, should seek to stand out in his new character associated with "dark lanes." But if Mr. Jones was to commence his work nearer home, and to hang all clergymen or ministers who maintain that slavery is a divine institution in this country, or in the Northern States of America first, Dr. Palmer would have a long lease

of his life before his turn came round. If Mr. Jones is ignorant of this fact, he ought to know that there are many, very many Bible defenders of slavery in this country amongst the avowed ministers of Christ. The writer met with one in Edinburgh, who turned down the chapter and verse in the Epistles of Saint Paul. From another in Manchester he received a tremendous castigation, because he could not see and feel as his reverence saw and felt in regard to slavery on Bible grounds. By another of these Bible defenders of slavery the writer was denounced and ostracised for twenty years before he left this country for America for the unpardonable sin and crime of calling in question his ipse dixit, in the assumption of arbitrary power, and exercising the right of private judgment, and honouring his convictions in accordance with Noncomformist theory and acknowledged polity.

But whilst Mason Jones would find plenty of work in his new occupation in this grand old country, so consecrated with hallowed spots, so precious with the memories of the good and great, and so ennobled with the priceless gem of liberty, in the Northern States of America he would find quite a "heap" more of such work to do, than he would find here. He would find in accordance with his theory, a fitting subject on whom to try his hand in the Rev. H. J. Vandyke of New York, who, unrebuked by his copresbyters, boldly asserted "that the idea of property in man is an enormity and a crime, blasphemes the name of God and his doctrine," so that if blas-

phemers are to be hung at once, a struggle for dear life would commence in the "dark lane," amidst fierce recriminations, as each one would charge upon the other that he was the proper person to be hung; but should Jones succeed in despatching his victim, and take up a work called "Sable Cloud," written by Dr. Nehemiah Adams of Boston, he would find that Adams were the brand of criminality on his forehead, since he maintains that God ordains the subjection of one race to another, and makes bondage one of his ordinances as well as war!" After putting Dr. Adams on the drop, he would have little trouble on deciding on the merits of the Right Rev. Bishop Hopkins, as on reading over the roll of Bible defences which were lately published from his pen, in the Morning Herald and Standard, he would soon put him under the beam. Mr. Jones would probably discover some emotion in the case of the Rev. Dr. Gardiner Spring, since he and Dr. Murray have got one redeeming quality in the eyes of Jones' friend, Mr. Beecher, namely, that of wadding the cannon to shoot down the Britishers in the war of 1812, with the contents of Bibles and Hymn Books; but ah, that awful avowal, when Dr. Spring said, "if by offering one prayer I could liberate every slave, I would not be the man to offer that prayer," dries up his compassion, and nerves his arm to put the rope round his neck.

And has it come to this my friend Beecher, that I must hang you, says the hangsman Jones? Have you been uttering blasphemous sentiments on the

slavery question? Holding the circular of the Church Anti-slavery Society for 1860 in his hands, the reverend criminal says, the executive of the above society have laid to my charge the crime, that "in order to save an assumed principle in ethics, I avowed there was no malum in se in slavery, and to prevent the moral obloquy of mankind, and of the churches from settling down upon slaveholding and the slaveholder, I reduced to the last shift of maintaining that the term slaveholding cannot be held as an invariable equivalent for holding human beings as property, so that slaveholding is not inherently sinful, although the holding of beings as property I admit to be an immorality, the renunciation of which ought to be made a condition of membership in the Christian Church!

"I am very sorry for you, and pity you," says the hangman to Mr Beecher, "but if I don't hang you, I shall lose my 'shiners,'" and so on goes the rope and down falls the drop! But in the "Flowery Land," of the Northern States, there are so many ecclesiastical criminals, that Jones, in order to make progress in his work, is required to bring them on to the scaffold in larger numbers, and the more the merrier for the hangsman, as he is anxious to prosper in his calling like other people. In the circular already referred to, the executive of the Church Anti-Slavery Society say, "we have seen an association formed by prominent evangelicals of the North, called the American Society for Promoting National Unity in the Preparation and Diffusion of Tracts Intended to Prove

the 'Justice and Beneficence of African Slavery,'" so that if Jones does all the work required of him in the Northern States, the Rev. Dr Palmer would have a

long respite.

J. E. Cairnes, A.M., in a Tract called, "Who are the Canters," says the Northern people have never thought nor said that slavery was a sin, that as such it was to be renounced by all means, abolished at any cost—this The Northerners as a is the creed of abolitionism. people have never accepted this doctrine. Until recently they were content to tolerate slavery, and have freely said so. Now, indeed, they are opposed to slavery, they have changed their view, (and the change embodies the whole significance of Mr Lincoln's election) but even now they are opposed to it, not because it is a sin, but because it is a nuisance. Some men scent carrion in every breeze, but it does not require any strong olfactory nerves to scent wherein the carrion is, when J. E. Cairnes, M.A., a person who has entered the lists for the North and freedom, and sought to carry off the palm of victory in the race for the championship against all competitors, only contends for a people who "embody the whole significance of Mr Lincoln's election," which significance, from the key given by Mr. Cairnes in his quotation of Lincoln's letter to the Hon. Horace Greeley, proves him to be in his claim to be styled an abolitionist, one of the most gigantic swindles and abominable frauds of the ages. When, therefore, J. E. Cairnes, M.A., takes into his embrace President Lincoln, and lifts him up as the type of an honest man in the cause of freedom, in the exhibited and exhibitor, you have a specimen of what Mr Cairnes calls the Canters! And if they will turn to the following articles in the extraordinary ukase of General Banks, issued on February 3d 1864, he will find what is the creed of the Canters, and the character of the men who are presented by them as fitting subjects of your admiration and esteem!

"XII. Labourers shall render to their employer, between daylight and dark, ten hours in summer and nine hours in winter of respectful, honest, faithful labour, and receive therefor, in addition to just treatment, healthly rations, comfortable clothing, quarters, fuel, medical attendance, and instruction for children. Wages per month as follow, payment of one-half of which, at least, shall be reserved until the end of the year:—For first-class hands, \$8 per month; for second-class hands, \$6 per month; for third-class hands, \$5 per month; for fourth-class hands, \$3 per month.

"XIII. Labourers will be permitted to choose their employers, but when the agreement is made, they will be held to their engagement for the year under the protection of the government. In cases of attempted imposition, by feigning sickness or stubborn refusal of duty, they will be turned over to the provost-marshal of the parish for labour upon the public works without pay.

"XXIV. It is, therefore, a solemn duty resting

upon all persons to assist in the earliest possible restoration of civil government. Let them participate in the measure suggested for this purpose. Opinion is free and candidates are numerous. Open hostility cannot be permitted. Indifference will be treated as crime, and faction as treason. Men who refuse to defend their country with the ballot-box or cartridge-box have no just claim to the benefits of liberty regulated by law. All people not exempt by the law of nations, who seek the protection of the government, are called upon to take oath of allegiance in such form as may be prescribed, sacrificing to the public good and the restoration of public peace, whatever scruples may be suggested by incidental considerations. The oath of allegiance, administered and received in good faith, is the test of unconditional fealty to the government and all its measures, and cannot be materially strengthened or impaired by the language in which it is clothed.

"XXV. The amnesty offered for the past is conditioned upon an unreserved loyalty for the future, and this condition will be enforced with an iron hand. Whoever is indifferent or hostile must choose between the liberty which foreign lands afford the poverty of the rebel states, and the innumerable and inappreciable blessings which our government confers upon its people."

The Editor of the Manchester Courier, March 3,

1864, comments on the above as follows:—

"Since the day when Boris, to maintain an usurped authority by his mere autocratic fiat, established serf-

dom in Russia, no more wantonly and shamelessly despotic act has been done than the proclamation for the re-enslavement of the negroes just issued by General Banks-with which the civilised world by this time rings. Les extremes se touchent, in this case, with a vengeance; and the Czar Boris and the Republican Banks, so worthily matched in identity of crime against humanity, may pass to posterity together as signal examples that in no climes nor under any form of institutions does triumphant Might pay respect to Right. By the side of this Banks, Butler really appears an Angel of Light. Butler's ordinances at New Orleans embodied the sneaking, cowardly passions of the low-minded tyrant, worked out with the sophistical cunning of a pettifogging lawyer; but those who chose to keep quiet, the fairer sex especially, could avoid his annoying and degrading proscriptions. This ukase of Banks is a really important Act of State, which establishes a new landmark in American history. The tyranny that has enslaved whole races has usually crept slowly and stealthily towards its end, unless when effected by wholesale conquest; but General Banks, who came to Louisiana as a deliverer, has set the first example in history of an entire population, high and low, rich and poor, being in one hour, in a country professedly the most free on earth, consigned to degrees of subjection and slavery from which even the organised despotism of Russia now shrinks with shame.

"What makes this act extraordinary in a purely

political point of view, independently of the outrage offered to humanity, is that it is an open and direct contravention, not only of the fundamental laws of . America and of the abstract rights of man, but also of the specific proclamation of Abraham Lincoln for the abolition of slavery, on which alone rests any justification the Northerners can offer for persisting in their efforts to conquer the South. It is always thus in revolutions. When we see passing before the mind's eye, in the bloody phantasmagoria of '89, the phantoms of the Dantans and the Robespierres with their atrocious decrees, the philanthropist of yesterday, the tyrant and murderer of to-day, and each distorting the logic of the public duty of civilians till the very principles of freedom became new fetters for mankind, we are not so much surprised as filled with horror, because those men whirled along in a seething pandemonium, scarcely were masters of their own volition. No such excuse can be made for the chiefs of the Northern States of America. They have ample room and verge enough, both as regards time and space. Abraham Lincoln was no more under the necessity to emancipate the negroes than General Banks was to re-enslave them. Each is to be regarded as a deliberate, cold-blooded act of State. be an insult to the reader's understanding to detain him with proofs that the condition of things set up by this proclamation of Banks is nothing more nor less than the re-establishment of slavery, minus, indeed, the actual property in the negro, but creating

a property in the negroe's labour, and forcing him to work, whether he will or no, at rates of wages on which he has no control, while depriving him of that hold on the sympathy of his master, which existed when he feared to lose the value of his living healthy. body. With a singular ingenuity, this pro-Consul of Yankeedom copies and legalises under new names all the most odious features of the old system of slavery. At the same time, he leaves to the newlymade negro serf absolutely no protection against their abuse by masters who have already had their friendliness turned to exasperation against their slaves flaunting themselves under their very noses as free Take their regulations item by item, and it will be seen that they not only re-establish all the worst evils of slavery, but deprive the slave of the only protection they left him.

"So much for the Black Serfs created by this document. Now, as to the White Serfs, worse than the atrocious iniquity of the act is its blundering stupidity. All sensible Yankees, who were not compelled to do homage to abolitionism, had long condemned Abraham Lincoln's Emancipation Proclamation, not on the grounds of humanity, but on being mis-timed, and therefore in that sense a political blunder. It certainly was not the way to win back the Southerners, but rather to nerve them to fight to the last. Had General Banks, then, by this Edict for the Establishment of Serfdom, offered a grand bribe to the discontented Southerners in giving them at least the interest of the

capital value of their slaves in the shape of forced labour, one might have shuddered at the cynical contempt for human rights and morality such a step would have manifested, but one must have admitted that it was an able and daring act of State craft. General Banks deprives us even of this excuse for his astounding "orders." The same proclamation that makes the negroes serfs in the sense of forcing their labour from them under severest penalties, actually converts the whole white population into Political Serfs, depriving them of all volition and independence. and refusing them the protection of the law except on the condition of abject submission to the Government. Here again Banks has transcended his Russian Not Nicholas, nor Alexander, even dared such extremities against the Poles, as this Republican American has proclaimed his determination to practise against his own free fellow-citizens. Let the reader digest, among others, article 24 of this manifesto of tyranny. Its brutal logic has never been attempted before, even in the most fearful cases of triumphant mid-day despotism. Its pretence to lay a basis of political ethics in defence of stark, staring tyranny, renders it a greater insult to humanity than if this man had simply and boldly asserted the Right of Might. And what a splenid device to lure the Southerners back to the Union. Equality with their own slaves would almost be preferable.

"If this act of General Banks is impolitic as regards the Southerners, what shall we say of its probable

effect on public opinion all over the rest of the world? What estimate can henceforth be formed of the dignity and power of the government of the Northern States of America, if the deliberate act of the Chief Magistrate can thus be contravened by a subordinate officer of the State? And what will Europe now say to the prolongation of the quarrel. Of those who hold out for non-interference, even in the most friendly spirit, a large proportion, perhaps the majority, are influenced by the belief that after all the cause of the South, in so far as it is the maintenance of slavery, is an unholy one. But these thinkers will no longer have the strong moral and religious motives they now have to range themselves against the South. They will not be so blinded by fanaticisims not to see that General Banks's serfdom is nothing less in fact, and very little less in name, than the slavery so pompously abolished by Abraham Lincoln. European philanthropy, then, will no longer feel itself enlisted on one side only. The stakes are even. The North is fighting quite as much for the enslavement of the negro as did the Southerner when he commenced the struggle. only that the Northerner is now fighting—at least in Louisiana-not only to conquer and enslave his white brother, but also to re-enslave his black-quondam protégé. General Banks, by this atrocious act of compounded criminality and fatuity, has served the South as well as many battles gained would do. The tide of public sentiment only wanted some such freshener. When next the French Emperor-directly or vicariously

—talks about attempts to put an end to the civil war, English opinion—European opinion—will not be so slow, as heretofore, to follow his lead. Even Russia, with her serfs emancipated, must feel ashamed of her anomalous political association with these re-enslavers of a liberated race—these cheats of the blacks and tyrants over the whites."

"Are you republicans !- away ! 'Tis blasphemy the word to say. You talk of freedom? Out, for shame! Your lips contaminate the name. How dare you prate of public good, Your hands besmeared with human blood? How dare you lift those hands to heaven, And ask, or hope to be forgiven? How dare you breathe the wounded air, That wafts to heaven the negro's prayer? How dare you tread the conscious earth, That gave mankind an equal birth? And while you thus inflict the rod, How dare you say there is a God That will, in justice, from the skies, Hear and avenge His creature's cries?"

J. R. BALME.

NON COMEATIBUS.

To the Editors of the Liverpool Mercury.

Gentlemen,—A fight once occurred in Kentucky, when a State warrant was obtained against one of the combatants; on seeing the constable he fled through a corn field and over a creek into a swamp, where he climbed into a stump and drew his bowie knife in readiness for defence. When the officer came up to the stump the defendant exclaimed, "Now, Mr. Constable, you want to take me, and I give you fair warning, that if you attempt to climb this stump I'll take you. The constable, who had been about the courthouse long enough to learn some of the technical terms used in returning writs, went back to the squire's (or magistrate's) office, and endorsed upon the warrant, "Non est inventus, through fieldibus, across creekum, up stumpum, non comeatibus."

When the present terrible war broke out in America. all parties, whether ecclesiastical or political, had abandoned the use of the right means for the attainment of the right end, so far as slavery and colourphobia were concerned, whilst the overwhelming masses of the

people, both in the churches and states, were in complicity with these monstrous evils and crimes. the Liberator a speech is published, delivered by Wendel Phillips, Esq., at the New England Anti-Slavery Convention, May 30, 1860, in which he said, "There is no political anti-slavery existing at this moment. There is no movement in the political arena that calls itself anti-slavery. Of course you know there is none in the church. You know very well that, unfortunately, the ballot-box is a great deal ahead of the communion table in its knowledge of ethics; and as we find no anti-slavery at the ballotbox, we cannot expect to find any at the communion The Rev. M. D. Conway, in a sermon table." delivered at the First Congregational Church, Cincinnati, October 23, 1859, said—"An immortal child of God, a brother of Christ, may pause at my door, the demon of hunger may be gnawing at his vitals, his naked back, yet quivering with cruel marks, may call for oil for the wound and shelter from the blast, and the General Government says, Close your hands, tighten your purse strings, slam your door in his face; the crueller you are the more virtuous I will hold you; the more pitiless, the more patriotic. Nay, it has gone further, and declared the most helpless, already still more helpless—those already unprotected—to have no rights which men are bound to respect. And yet there was a deeper pit in the national Inferno to which it could descend, and thither it went, covering the principle that slavery could be extended and freedom put down by the national arms in the arsenal at Harper's Ferry; the President declaring that the constitution carries slavery wherever it goes, thus rightly interpreting the Supreme Court. Thus has this Union by making itself the tool of oppression, by outraging human instincts, by mocking every cry of humanity, plunged its fangs into its own vitals. It has made treason heroic."

The traitorous element in this movement will excite a smile wherever it is mentioned—nobody will feel an indignant throb at the wrong done the Union, so far has our land been prostituted to base purposes. The deeper heart of the people will say, "No, the Government has made its bed, now let it lie thereon." And when speaking of the "so-called Christian church," Conway in the same sermon said, "The blood of their slain brother cries out against it from the earth this day. The church it is to which was entrusted the oppressed and wronged man through all time. In the Christian temple Jesus himself had hung up the living pictures of the Samaritan bending over the wounded Jew-of the stranger, hungry, naked, and sick, who was there at the door with the halo of a Christ about his head; all ministry to him being ministry to Christ. And when we see through all this fearful struggle, the miserable cowardice, the essential infidelity of the church ministers crouching before prejudice and ignorance, haggling about the slavery under Moses, or the word 'doulos,' when God's immortal children lie mangled under their very altars182

see this in men to whom the sceptre of God over man is given when they have courage to wield it, who can smother in his heart the ancient cry, 'O God, the heathen are come into thy inheritance; thy holy temple have they defiled; they have laid Jerusalem in heaps. The dead bodies of thy servants have they given to be meat unto the fowls of heaven, the flesh of thy saints unto the beasts of the earth.' And William Lloyd Garrison, in a lecture called 'the Infidelity of Abolitionism,' has declared that 'Christian and Infidel, Calvinist and Universalist, Trinitarian and Unitarian, Episcopalian and Methodist, Baptist and Swedenborgian, Old School and New School Presbyterian. Orthodox and Hicksite Quaker, all are infected by the complexional caste called 'negrophobia,' and equally ready to make an innocent natural distinction the badge of eternal infamy and a warrant for the most cruel proscription." In view of the facts stated above, what nation ever presented a picture of guilt more debasing,-more ready for destruction, or that demanded the avenging justice of the Almighty? Amidst such apostacy, what could a few despised, persecuted, ostracised, and calumniated abolitionists do in grappling with those great distinctive sins and crimes to which we have referred in America? Slavery and negro or colourphobia, with their oligarchies enthroned on the rotten stumps of the churches and states, hurled us from their presence with contemptuous disdain, and brandished over us their terrible instruments of torture and death-a thing

which would have been utterly impossible had the grand liberty clauses in the Declaration of Independence, and constitution, been recognised or applied by political men: or the word of God, in reliance upon the Almighty for His blessing, had been taken by our five millions of avowed disciples and made known in their primary elements regarding the inalienable rights of our fellow-men morally, socially, politically, and religiously; and those monstrous evils and crimes which have had inscribed on their bronzed faces the words "non comeatibus" would not have required the more terrible agencies of God's retributive providences to effect their destruction, so that the calamities which have befallen us are the fault of our government, churches, and people. Again, seeing that reigning sins and crimes in America have been "non comeatibus," by divinely appointed agencies and instrumentalities, in consequence of a fearful abuse of trust can Northern men who have been the chief instruments in perverting the consciences of our fellowmen, corrupting their morals, and destroying the mounds of all authority, whether human or divine, by a systematic course of cunning and fraud, and from a love of the "almighty dollar" so called, of conquest, and a blind or superstitious veneration of the Union :- can such men be instrumental in subduing the South, or in keeping them in subjection when conquered? For four years there has been a furious antagonism between the Federals and Confederates; every injury has been inflicted that human ingenuity could devise, with the

most improved means of deadly warfare in their pursuit of each other through fieldibus, across creekums, in swampums, and up stumpums, and yet to-day the Confederates still hurl defiance at their Federal foes, whilst their subjugation seems more distant than ever. How humiliating it must be for our Northern people to contemplate, that more bones whiten the soil of the battle fields in the South, made red with blood from the boasted "Israelitish army of the North," than the so-called "Egyptian army of the South!" And how mortifying it must be for one Federal force after another to have to return from the battle fields of the South without their boasted prey, to proclaim in the ears of political demagogues and blood-thirsty war crusaders in the churches the unwelcome message, "non comeatibus" in the pathway of victory or success. But supposing that with the increased facilities of our Northern people in obtaining men and means to carry on their bloody strife, in consequence of your one-sided neutrality in this country, they should succeed in subjugating the South, they could never make them pull together politically with the bayonet; but it is urged that liberty would be planted with the bayonet, and the golden rule enthroned by blood; consequently, say they, these things will counterbalance the fearful loss of life and treasure, and the increased taxation and burdens under which future generations will groan as the result thereof; and, therefore, fire and sword, suffering and slaughter, death and destruction, must

not be allowed for a moment to weigh against their mad schemes of ambition, rapine, revenge, and wholesale murder! Where, oh, where are the principles that the old martyrs developed and proved to be more powerful than all the battering rams or engines of military science ever invented by man, to be found amid such fanaticism as the above? Are they brought to the world's surface full of life, love, faith, or beauty on the basis of the new-fangled theory, so recently discovered or put forth, that "war is the expression of moral force?" And can we point to men such as Lincoln, Sumner, Beecher, or any of their co-patriots who subscribe their oaths to constitutional documents under the avowed expression of belief that they endorse slavery; proclaim to the world that they are governed by no fixed principles, but by indispensable military necessity; and confess before the universe, like President Lincoln in his letter, dated Executive Mansion, Washington, April 4, 1864, "that events control them?" Can we look to such men, or to those who aid or abet them, for "unselfishness, moral grandeur, strong sense, indisputable probity, or a lovely modesty almost amounting to bashfulness?" What, then, has become of the oldfashioned principles so dear to the martyrs? Are they dead and buried beneath the conventionalities of society, or do we find them illustrated in the heroworship of the age in which we live? If so, would the omnipotence of abstract principle or the might and power of moral force be abandoned for brute

force—the reign of bullets; or should we find men claiming to be "thorough peace men" covered with dovelike wings stretching out their vulture claws, and opening their savage bills to glut their voracious appetites, in order to run riot in such a carnival of death as our American war? Is such the way and are such the means to promote the "liberties of the world or mankind?" Is there no Elihu to be found amidst the slumbering churches or tribes of men, to point to the grand march of the seasons, and of events, and send forth an electric appeal to the judgments and hearts of men, in rebuke of such monstrosities demanding that "days should speak, and multitudes of years teach men wisdom?"

Once for all, allow me to say that I never fight with men who in anonymous communications put themselves in the same category with footpads and assassins. Yours for truth as well as liberty,

JOSHUA RHODES BALME,

An American Clergyman.

92 Hughes Street, West Derby-road, May 12, 1004.

FREED MEN'S AID COMMISSION.

To the Editor of the Daily Gazette.

SIR-On reading the account given of the meeting held at Mrs. Joseph Sturge's, in your columns of the 1st inst., under the designation of "Aid for Escaped Slaves," I was deeply impressed with the immense deficiencies of Mr. Levi Coffin, in the statement of his case, as the agent or representative of the Western Freedmen's Aid Commission, as well as the introductions referred to by the chairman, Mr. Edward Gem, and this is all the more remarkable as Mr. Coffin was introduced to Mrs. Sturge's guests as "a gentleman who had been during the whole of his life interested in the great question of the emancipation of slaves." Surely an old veteran in the cause of freedom ought to have been able to have produced some names long and favourably known in the cause of freedom in America; but be this as it may, Secretary Chase's and Judge Storer's names are very unfortunate, both for himself and the object of his mission, since both have always been borne onwards and downwards on the "driftwood" of rotten policies and expediences towards the dead sea of putrefaction.

But let us come to Mr. Coffin's mission. He appears as the agent or representative of the Western Freedmen's Aid Commission. But from his statement what information do we glean of the character of the men who control its Board of Management? or of the relationships which it sustains to the Government or churches of America?

On these points Mr. Coffin is silent. The one harp of a thousand strings which absorbs his attention, and concentrates his energies, is that of aid to escaped slaves; neither does he say whether the society which he represents is confined exclusively in its operations or restricted in its benevolence to them. President Lincoln, however, comes to our aid and gives us the requisite information. In a speech which he made in Philadelphia, at the Sanitary Fair, on the 16th of last month, recorded in the London Daily Telegraph of the 1st inst., there occurs the following remarkable paragraph: -When speaking of the war the President says. "It has had accompaniments not before known in the history of the world." What accompaniments? Deluges of blood! Avalanches of debt! Heaps of blackened ruin! Widows' wails and orphans' moans! Spies, informers, conscripts, and dungeons! Deceit, cunning, infamy, and fraud! Yes, we have had all. these on a scale never before known to such an extent in so short a space of time in the history of the world! Ave, and we have had more accompaniments or auxiliaries to our Northern armies. As President Lincoln does not mean the above, what then does

he mean? Hear him. "I mean," says the President -"I mean the Sanitary and Christian Commissions!" Sanitary and Christian Commissions accompaniments or auxiliaries to the Federal armies! And one of these Christian Commissions the one represented by Mr. Levi Coffin! Is it not enough to make the bones of Joseph Sturge rattle in his grave, and spring to life to rebuke the withering imposture if it was necessary? According to Mr. Coffin. Federal agents take all the able-bodied negroes out of the camps when they come into the Federal lines, and leave the women and children, the aged, decrepit, and infirm, to the accompaniments or auxiliaries to be cared for! Well and wisely planned to make the Federal armies more powerful for carnage and slaughter; and well and wisely planned to make the pleas put forth "as irresistible as they are pathetic" by the agents and advocates of the Federals in England, to raise their piles of money by reminding the public-" Inasmuch as ye do it unto these ye do it unto me." And all in the name of freedom! How wide the phylacteries of their garments! But what claim have these Federal advocates and agents on the benevolence of mankind to relieve these helpless objects of misery? Being accompaniments or auxiliaries to the Federal armies. is it not plainly and evidently the legitimate duty of the Federal Government to provide for them when they take from them their natural helpers-the ablebodied fathers, brothers, and friends to whom the young and aged of necessity look for help, as in the

case of white men. If Mr. Sturge's ghost could have appeared in the corridors of his late mansion when the above meeting was held, bearing the inscription, "Sanitary and Western Freeman's Aid Commission, accompaniments or auxiliaries to men of violence and blood, and represented by a member of the Society of Friends." what consternation there would have been! How their knees would have smote together in their paroxysms of fear! And how they would have shrunk from his presence abashed, ashamed, and confounded! But is there no mistake in regard to these accompaniments or auxiliaries? Hear what the President says, "Their labours are for the relief of the soldiers, and the Volunteer refreshment saloonsunderstood better by those who hear me than by himself."

The relief of soldiers—we can understand that, but the relief of volunteer refreshment saloons is a tremendous smooth down, and gloss over of the President's natural anti-slavery feelings when officially he has to use a catch-word to throw the fugitive slaves into the shade, as a bait in the base trap of cunning by which to reach the easy consciences and votes of weak-minded men and silly fools at the forthcoming election. In concluding this letter, allow me to supply a test by which to prove the spirits as well as doctrines of men, who claim your sympathies, prayers, or pecuniary aid in the cause of freedom in America or on its behalf. It is a test that sends to shivers Beecher and Mrs. Stowe, the Revs. Charles H. Roe,

D. M. Graham, Professor Grosvenor, &c., and also the Revs. Newman Hall, and Baptist Noel, E. Matthews, and Oncken; Professor Newman; Goddard and Stoddard, Mason Jones, and Henry Vincent, on

American questions.

This test is two-fold. On moral and religious grounds it is no compromise of truth with falsehood, and no pressing of the sword to uproot human crime. And on civil grounds the test is the Constitution and Declaration of Independence. On the above basis the little stripling writer can make short, sharp, and decisive work with the above classes of advocates and writers, as it would be quite easy to take them by the beard and smite them under the fifth rib of their consciences. I must not forget to state that I think President Lincoln is entitled to a vote of thanks for the nail to fasten down the lid in the coffin of the above questionable, if not false and spurious philanthropy.

Yours for truth as well as liberty,

JOSHUA R. BALME,

An American Baptist Clergyman and Uncompromising Abolitionist.
London House, Hill Street, Birmingham, July 4, 1864.

THE FREEDMEN'S AID COMMISSION AND ITS ENGLISH AUXILIARIES.

To the Editor of the Daily Gazette.

SIR,—With the deepest and broadest emphasis our attention is called to the urgent necessities of "poor coloured freedmen" by the agents and advocates of the above society and auxiliaries.

When in a state of ignoble bondage, these oppressed and down-trodden people not only fed and clothed themselves, but their owners, so called, and provided them with many of the luxuries of life, as well as secured a provision for the helpless from infancy even to old age. Now is it unreasonable to suppose that they cannot maintain themselves in freedom, and also their dependents, when they did so much in slavery? Why then this accumulated misery amongst these unfortunates? How are we to account for their distress, shown in the harrowing details given in the public prints of their condition?

One cause is the wantonness of cruelty and reckless savageism and barbarity with which the present war is carried on by our Federal armies, shown in the use of stone fleets and torches-sealing up ports of commerce, reducing prosperous towns and villages to ashes, and changing plantations which almost reflected the hues of paradise into a wilderness of desolation, ruin and woe, making it more difficult for the people of the South to obtain suitable food and clothing. Hence the utterly destitute and famished condition of the negroes when they reach the Federal lines, as their escape to freedom is from homesteads where the woe-cup has been filled to the brim by war -and their pathway to it through "plantations deso-

lated by its ravages."

Another cause is the unnatural and cruel proscription of the negroes in the efforts made to detain them by the Federal Government, in what is called the "volunteer refreshment saloons." First, because they are not wanted in the North, where their presence and colour is considered a pollution and a nuisance, although our Northern people are sending the cry across the Atlantic, by every breeze, to emigrants to make their homes in our country, enchanting them with the delusion that it is an "asylum for the oppressed of all nationalities," and deluding them with the prospect that they will find it the "Paradise of the Universe." Secondly, because these volunteer refreshment saloons would be a convenient trap where they could seize the able-bodied to form them into "black regiments," on the same principle and according to the same model of our "black churches;" and also to use them as teamsters and body-servants to the different grades of officers and agents in the Federal armies. Hence the orders issued by the administrators of the Federal Government to prevent any negroes coming North when they reach the Federal lines; and hence, also, the misery of the helpless who are handed over to the cold pittance of charity and the tender mercies of the agents and officers of the commissariat—a class of men not over liberal, or very tender or considerate in their regard for the well-being of those unfortunate creatures, as shown in the reports of Sanitary Commissioners. Such being the inexorable logic of facts, can you, will you, ought you to give your sympathies, or to sustain with your practical benevolence the imbecile administrators of our Federal Government, or to co-operate with men masked under the names of high sounding titles, such as "Sanitary Fairs," and "Freedmen's Aid Christian Missions," engaged in sustaining such a philanthropy as the above?

If the British Government were to take ablebodied men to help to fight your battles, and place their associates and dependents in a state of helplessness and misery where they would have nothing to fall back upon but the cold pittance of charity, and where they could not by any possibility help themselves, would it not deserve the bitterest reproaches and the severest censures and reprobation of mankind? and would the Britishers in such a case be satisfied if the British Government called into being "accompaniments," or auxiliaries, under masked names

and high-sounding titles, to do for it what was the bounden duty of the Government to do itself, in order that it might be more free for the work of massacro and blood, what would you think of such a government, or such auxiliaries, or their advocates or supporters?

What, then, are we to think of the Federal Government and people in such a case? Where is their sense of decency and shame, leaving out regard for principle and honour?

In view of the above facts, it is quite easy to plant our feet in the breach, scale the ramparts of the Midland Freedmen's Aid Association, which, it appears, swarm with men who are bound with strong and chosen delusions; and, after dislodging them from their false positions, run up our flagstaffs, whilst with matchless grace and undaunted courage we hurl back in their faces their false imputations and menacing insults, tearing to shreds before their eyes their "spurious designations" and lions' skins which show the long ears cropping out—a truly pitiable and humiliating spectacle. It is a matter of little moment to be unknown or disowned by certain classes of religionists or philanthropists, and the writer has no dread of father confessors or inquisitorial racks.

Yours, for truth as well as liberty,

JOSHUA R. BALME, An American Baptist Clergyman.

FREEDMEN'S AID SOCIETY AND ITS REPRESENTATIVES AND SUPPORTERS.

To the Editor of the Gazette.

SIR,—In Covington, Kentucky, a small town across the river Cincinnati, there lives a slave whom we will call Levi Coffin; and in Cincinnati a gentleman, bearing the name of Joseph Sturge, distinguished for his practical benevolence and supreme regard for the rights of men. Joseph hears that Levi is hard worked, has scanty fare, and is sometimes roughly used. He is moved with compassion towards Levi, tries to make his acquaintance, and discovering that Levi would prefer to have his liberty with his wife and family, and enjoy the fruit of his hard earned toils, Mr. Sturge says to him, Levi, arise, and bring thy wife and children, and follow me; and as there has been hitherto no security for the fugitive slave in our Free States, so called, away they go towads Canada, and on reaching the Queen's dominions, Levi with his wife and family embrace their benefactor, thank him for his gracious interposition, and then send up their incense of praise towards God for sending them

such a bright angel of mercy as Joseph Sturge, who has delivered them from a bondage full of unutterable woe and terror; but if Joseph Sturge was the slave, and Levi Coffin was to be the benefactor and deliverer although he "has always taken it for granted that every body had a right to liberty who had not forfeited it by crime; yet it was no part of his business to interfere with what was law in the Slave States, or to incite or assist any slaves to make their escape;" therefore the slave Joseph Sturge with his wife and family would have all their hopes coffined and consigned to the tomb, so far as Levi Coffin is concerned, except they made their way of their own accord in disguise over the ferry, or piloted their course in some boat over the river, and gave a loud thundering knock at Coffin's door. In such a case Coffin would receive and entertain Joseph Sturge with his wife and family and give them a helping hand. Hear him. In his statement made at the meeting held at Mrs. Sturge's, he said, "he often told slaveholders that it was no part of his business to interfere with slaves on their estates; but that if a slave had run away, and he found him needing assistance, he would help him," and "on the same principle," continued Levi, "he would feed the slaveholders if they came to him hungry; but that he would not help in the capture of escaped slaves." A number of slaves find their way to Coffin's house, obtain relief, and set out on their perilous journey to the land of freedom. As soon as they have gone, the marshal and a number of slaveholders come to his

door, and ask to see Mr. Coffin; on presenting himself, they tell him that they have been making an exciting chase after a number of fugitive slaves, who have eluded their grasp, and baffled them in their efforts to arrest them, and then avow that they are fatigued and very hungry. In such a case are we to understand from Mr. Coffin that he would say to them come in, make yourselves welcome at my table, and

take refreshing repose under my roof?"

Mark Mr. Coffin's words, "on the same principle he would feed the slaveholders if they came to him hungry," or "needing assistance." Many slaveholders would be glad of his bread and cheese to satisfy their hunger, renew their strength, that they might make more strenuous efforts to capture fleeing bondmen. By relieving them in such a case, would he not be helping them to capture slaves, although he was personally to refuse to go forth with the man-hunters to aid them in their wicked calling? If so, what is there distinctively anti-slavery in his aid given to escaped slaves, adapted to call forth our admiration or esteem, or to place him before us as a model for imitation?

In regard to the institution represented by Mr. Coffin, great care has been taken to assure us that "tools of every description as well as donations will be doubly welcome and very thankfully received;" and "there can be no doubt" say its agents and supporters, "that the articles contributed will have the duties remitted by government." Why not? Surely

there can be no misgiving in such a case when the eagles of the Federal government, such as Chase and C. F. Adams appear on the scene with open bills, spreading wings, and outstretched talons. Oh! no, there will be no Custom House obstruction to such a work of benevolence as the above.

Directions have also been given that "care should be taken that the goods are specially adapted for the use of negroes, or for sale." The use of negroes. Where? On the plantations of Louisiana, under the new code of laws, adopted and enforced by General Banks and his subordinates? If the response comes "no, not for men in serfdom." Then are they for the negroes collected in the camps formed on the banks of the Mississippi? Of what earthly use can implements of industry be there, when the able-bodied are taken for service in the army? Or for sale. This is very significant, and will not escape notice, for our American. people are fond of having a little ready cash, which will be very acceptable just now that we are so uncomfortably nearing the rapids which are to float us into the depths of bankruptcy; therefore, throw in your rings and brooches, necklaces and ear-rings, anything which is convertible into gold. Motives are also suggested, "as millions have gained their liberty," shouts one of the Committee; "but four thousand have already perished from actual want of food, shelter, and raiment." Millions are immense numbers. Now, if all the able-bodied are taken out of those millions of freed slaves and put into our

Federal armies, there can be no lack of fighting men on the part of the North; and it must be very stupid of General Grant to stand still, or to be blocked fast with his "swamp angels" before Petersburgh; or for the administration journals to insist that Grant must be heavily reinforced before he again ventures to advance? Surely the telegram brought by the North American, July 1st, must be untrue; or else there must be a screw loose in the member of the committee referred to; but, however we may doubt the realization of the former part of the paragraph under consideration, we need not wonder that four thousand of these unfortunate people should die from actual want of food, shelter, and raiment in connection with such an arrangement or provision as that which is made for them by our Federal government. In the one case, such an arrangement might create a great many "war boys" for General Lee to kill; and, in the other, for famine and pestilence to destroy.

"The most valued and benevolent fellow-townsman" referred to by Edward Gem, Esq., says, "to my mind, this exodus from slavery is an event so awful in itself, and, I trust, I may not be presumptuous to say, so grand an evidence of the hand of God in bringing good out of evil, that I am impressed with humble thankfulness in being able and privileged to give some small help."

It is an old adage, that "when rogues fall out, honest men get their own;" but what enlightened man can give his sympathies or practical aid to

rogues? and yet, God in His all-wise providence may overrule their quarrel to bring to light the dishonest gains which they have filched, make them disgorge their plunder, secure their appropriation to persons to whom they belong, and subject the criminals to the punishment justly due to their crimes. When our terrible war commenced in America, our government, churches, and overwhelming masses amongst the people, had given themselves up to a wilful perversion of the truths of Christianity, a false commercial policy, and an overshadowing attachment to, and superstitious veneration for the Union; consequently, they had trampled down under their black hoofs all those sacred principles which hold in their everlasting embrace the supreme rights of men, irrespective of kith or kin, caste or colour, country or clime, so amply and brightly developed in the New Testament, Declaration of Independence; and even in the Constitution of the disunited states; thus robbing both God and man. But why this stretch of despotic power? God had made the negro with a darker hue on his countenance; and as negro slavery was first connived at, and afterwards openly avowed to be the cornerstone of the Federal Republic, in order to maintain , the union one and inseparable, the Bible was made to rob the negro of his manhood—the eagles of freedom were smuggled out of the Constitution, and the Declaration of Independence was resolved into a glittering generality for the exclusive use and benefit of the white or superior race, so-called; this vast and

foul conspiracy, therefore, was not something new, or novel, or startling with us. It commenced with our revolutionary fathers, Jefferson, Madison, and Washington, and culminated in the reign of terror inaugurated by our lilliputian race of political men, represented by President Lincoln, and Senator Sumner, who subscribed their oaths to the Constitution as a slave document, and then tried to palm themselves off for hero philanthropists; and also by our clerical agitators, such as "Parson Brownlow," the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher, Drs. Cheever, Eddy, Tyng, Dowling, etc., etc., who have confederated to prove their principles orthodox by sending bomb shells and bullets, "swamp angels" and bayonets into the South, for its conversion, and the restoration of the union.

When, therefore, we begun to live, we begun to die to all sense of decency and shame; and as we commenced, even so we have come to grief in consequence of our national jugglery and fraud.

The immediate cause of our present troubles was a quarrel for the division of the spoils, both in regard to the "Cranberry Jam" of the government, and the territory taken from the Indians. The unfolding scenes connected with it have revealed the character of our infamy and guilt as a people. The Rev. Henry Ward Beecher says, that "God is the great tax-gatherer who is abroad making the people disgorge their plunder;" but be this as it may, defeat, disunion, loss of personal liberty, and the terrible destruction of life and property, demonstrate beyond cavil that the

Almighty is "abroad" with the great whip of retribution to fetch up arrears on the tender skins of our Northern people as well as the Southerns, for their double-dyed garments of shame, dishonour, and guilt; neither can we doubt that the negro will come out from under the avalanche of wickedness which both North and South have helped to create, claiming the lawful use of the two hands which God has given him, and maintaining that it is not insurrection to take his own limbs into his own keeping, or to walk off with them; neither will the free negro be so generally proscribed or ostracised in connexion with the common industries of life, the pathway of social intercourse, the halls of science and literature; common councils, legislature, congress, or the church of the living God. Thus God will bring good out of evil; and if any maninquires why could not we have had this good without the famine, sword, and pestilence? It is because, as the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher in his Harper's Ferry Sermon has said, "there was a remarkable pertinence which these things have, described in Jeremiah vi. 12-19; in many respects to our nation in the past, and to our times in the present." O! ponder over these words of terrible import. "For I will stretch out my hand upon the inhabitants of the land saith the Lord; for from the least of them even unto the greatest of them, every one is given to covetousness, and from the prophet even unto the priest, every one dealeth falsely. They have healed also the hurt of the daughter of my people slightly, saying peace, peace, when there is no peace. 204

Were they ashamed when they had committed abomination? Nay, they were not at all ashamed, neither could they blush; therefore they shall fall among them that fall; "at the time that I visit them they shall be cast down, saith the Lord. Thus saith the Lord, stand ye in the ways, and see, and ask for the old paths, where is the good way, and walk therein, and ve shall find rest for your souls. But they said we will not walk therein. Also, I set watchmen over you, saying, hearken to the sound of the trumpet. But they said we will not hearken. Therefore, hear ve nations, and know, O congregation, what is among Hear, O earth, behold I will bring evil upon this people, even the fruit of their thoughts, because they have not hearkened to my words, nor to my law, but rejected it." These words are now being fearfully illustrated and realized by our American people as a nation, in the way of God's terrible judgments; and whilst God inflicts the punishment He has no copartners in this work, not even "most valued and benevolent fellow-townsmen, although they may claim with humble thankfulness, in being able and privileged to give some help." And there can be no "atonement or consolation," as Mr. Cobden avows there is, in his recent letter to Simeon Whiteley; "for the horrors with which our American war has been accompanied," not even when it can be shewn that as the result of this war four millions of human beings have been "elevated from the condition of chattels to the rank of free men," since the "good ends of Provi-

dence" in their deliverance have always been within the compass, range, or mighty sweep of our Northern people, without the use of violence and blood. "It may seem strange for me to say," Ward Beecher declares in the sermon already referred to, "that the lever with which to lift the load off Georgia is in New York, but it is so." Why has not the proper lever been applied? Has not the primary cause of our awful calamities been revealed? Did not good old Timothy Dwight thunder in the ears of our people repentance for national sins? Did not Dr. Hopkins cry, "Hearken to the sound of the trumpet;" but the people said, "we will not hearken." Others reiterated the same cry, and were driven from their pulpits, all conventional relationships, and from their property and homes into exile.

> "Where lying lips do torture, Their mercy into crime, And the slanderer does flourish As the bay tree for a time."

At length two special messengers appeared to warn the people of their sins, in the persons of Elijah Lovejoy and John Brown, who gathered up their strength and lives, and threw them against the wickedness of the land; but our people had become so hardened in crime, under the instructions received from teachers who covered up malum in se with their theology and technicalities: hence the cry forthwith arose that these men are insane, let us kill them; and, accordingly, they were put to death. At length the time drew near when, to use the language of Dr. Cheever in one of his lucid intervals, "victory over our reigning and remorseless sins, in that way in which it is only worth gaining, the victory by conscience, the victory by divine truth, the victory by the claims and power of the gospel, the victory by benevolence and love, the victory by God's grace, to God's everlasting glory"—the time drew near when these means must give place to more terrible things in righteousness; and "when God lets loose the avalanche of judgment," says Cheever, "it will no more be in the power of an appalled and trembling church, by an untimely repentance, wrung out of selfishness and terror, to stay or prevent the ruin, than it would be possible for a regiment of conservative saints to hold back an alpine cataract; or a ridge on the icy forehead of the Jungfrau mountain, already loosened by the tempest, and thundering into the valley below." The untimely repentance, wrung out of selfishness and terror, has come. A full description of it is given in the Anti-slavery Reporter, July 1st; and amongst the sundry resolutions recorded from the pens of these penitent backsliders, we beg to call attention to the following:---

"'That while we deplore the evil of war that has filled our land with mourning, we rejoice in the sublime manifestations of benevolence it has developed, as seen in the Sanitary and Christian Commissions, and in the Associations formed to aid the vast multi-

tudes who have recently become freemen, and that we pledge to these institutions our hearty co-operation

and support.

"In view of the past course of the Protestant Episcopal Church, the adoption, with but two or three dissenting voices, of the following preamble and resolution, by the Convention of that Church, sitting in Pittsburg last week, is still more remarkable.

"Whereas, There exists in this country an organized and armed rebellion, whose purpose is the destruction of our National Union, and the perpetua-

tion of Negro Slavery,

"And whereas, This rebellion has more and more assumed a character of barbarous fanaticism, and murderous ferocity on the part of the enemies of the nation; therefore, in view of the causes and character of this struggle,

"Resolved, That we hereby declare our unfaltering allegiance to the Government of the United States, and that we pledge it our willing devotion and service, and that as a body of Christians we will ever pray that in God's own time and way this rebellion may be put down; that oppression and Slavery, in all its forms, may be done away; that freedom of body and mind, political and religious, may everywhere prevail; that the emancipated negroes, whom God in his providence is committing to our care, may be the objects of our liberal and Christian regard and instruction; that war may soon cease throughout all our borders; and that our now lacerated country may

again be so united, that from the lakes on the North. to the gulf on the South, and from the Atlantic to the Pacific, there shall be one Union, one Government. one Flag, one Constitution, the whole culminating in the higher glory, which shall make this nation Emanuel's land—a mountain of holiness, and a fit dwelling-place of righteousness." Had the above repentance come before the war commenced it would have been seasonable; but despite the "sublime manifestations of Christian benevolence it has developed in the Sanitary and Christian Commissions" and the earnest prayers of these backsliders, we cannot sympathize with Mr. Cobden, or those like minded with him, when he or they say "our sympathies follow your commanders and soldiers in the Federal armies to the field, with all the interest in their terrible efforts which we had felt in the labours of Mr. Sumner, and the other champions of freedom, when their struggle was confined to the domain of peaceful arguments."

Yours for truth and liberty,

JOSHUA R. BALME.

Wilsden, near Bingley, Yorkshire. July 16, 1364

MEMBERS OF THE PEACE SOCIETY AND THE AMERICAN WAR.

To the Editors of the Liverpool Mercury.

Gentlemen,—We can scarcely go into a Christian sanctuary, without being reminded that in the "outside world" there is steel clashing against steel, venom spitting against venom, evil smashing, crashing, and dashing against evil; but in the Christian world there is, say our theologians, "the good overcoming the evil." Now, if it be the work of Christian men to overcome the evil with the good, what must we think of those avowedly Christian men who abandon spiritual weapons for carnal, adopt the venom and steel for their cardinal virtues and creed, make the sword their peace-maker, rifled guns and minnie balls their true conciliators, feel that no storms are so pleasant as those of violence and blood, no sounds so sweet as those which are associated with the echoing thunders of battle, and vow on God's altar to hew their way through what they call "rebel armies" and "over the heads of rebel leaders," in order to sub jugate the South.

Has the right kind of seed been dropped into the centre of the above men's hearts?

If so, their superior natures must be terribly imbruted by their inferior ones—the spiritual must be woefully in subjection to the animal. for sooth, this class of men have their abettors and promoters in this country as well as in America. They try to win their way into the depths of the popular heart by boundless assumption and solemn asseveration, and maintain that the end which they have in view, justifies the use of the fire, faggot, and sword, the means which they employ. Hence they call that most execrable of all wars the world has ever yet seen or known, "Our American war." "The Holv war." Amongst those who share with them in these delusions are to be found members of the Peace Society, non-resistants, men who plead for the inviolability of human life, and yet give their unbounded sympathies and aid to those who are associated with rash and bloody hands, the maddest outbursts of violence and blood. In the report of the Liverpool Peace Society recently published in the Mercury, some of these men say, "We rely upon nothing to render war impossible but the prevalence of Christian principles and dispositions in the hearts of men." Even so say our religious war crusaders, whose gospel is made up of brimstone and bayonets; and the Christian Advocate and Journal, published in New York on February 11, 1864, copies an extract approvingly from the Christian Intelligencer,

which says-"The more of these employed by us. the sooner shall we come to the close of this horrible strife." But should these non-resistants disayow a reliance on such a manifestation of Christian principles and dispositions as the above, how are we to account for their appreciation of the American war—the co-operation and sympathy given by them to some of its principal instigators and promoters—and the feeling of satisfaction which they connect with it? The best illustration of the character and conduct of these men is given us by the Editor of the journal referred to above, in a review of a book written by Whittier, the Quaker poet, called "In War Time." Take the following extract as a specimen:-"'In War Time," says the Advocate and Journal, "is a strange book for a Quaker. It shows how one whose heart is large, easily fits a gospel creed to his divine duties. Whittier advised separation in some admirable lines, written in the opening winter of the rebellion. But he erred, not knowing the mind of God. Those lines have a selfish ring about them as if glad to be free of the accursed thing :-

> Draw we not even now a freer breath, As from our shoulders falls the load of death.

He forgot the slave at that moment. God had not. He knew His only chance for liberty was in filling us with a fury for the Union, and the Divine madness rushed upon us. Whittier sympathises with it, and sees its efficacy, sees that is the sole remedy; yet still clings to his creed, saying—

"The levelled gun, the battle brand, We may not take."

What a mockery for such men to point us to the oldfashioned doctrines of Christianity, as taught by our blessed Lord and Saviour and glorious apostles and illustrated in the noble examples of the martyrs, who repudiated rapine and revenge, violence and murder, that they might bear a faithful witness to the truth and make a good confession before many witnesses? And if the Quakers of America to whom the avowed friends of the slave in Liverpool are entrusting their subscriptions, cherish the same spirit as Whittier, or as Alice Hambleton, Dinah Mendenhall, and Eliza Agnew—the Quakeresses who waited upon President Lincoln a short time ago to urge upon him not to give up the struggle, although it has been fierce and terribly bloody—if such persons as the above are to have the control over or management of your funds, why not send them direct to Parson Brownlow, Henry Ward Beecher, or Miss Dickenson, who unblushingly and openly make their teachings harmonise with their instincts, wishes, and desires in the sanction and encouragement which they give to the present horrible and ferocious war in America

Not wishing to dwell upon the new revelation or prediction of the Committee concerning the prevalence of Christian principles and dispositions, which they say are to come "gradually and by very small degrees," let us turn to one more paragraph, which reads as follows:--" Not even the abolition of slavery can justify the violation of human life, much less the maintenance of the political union. And yet, so long as slavery exists, there can be little hope of permanent pacification. The agents and advocates of the Confederacy in England now constantly profess an anti-slavery policy, but no evidence appears of progress in this direction in the Confederacy itself." If the Southerns had adopted an anti-slavery policy, the world would have been delirious with joy; but seeing that by their own unaided efforts they could not retain slavery in their embrace, much less extend it, why should we trouble ourselves about any abortive attempts which they might make to strengthen, consolidate, or preserve such a nefarious system, when it was utterly beyond their power without the help of our Northern people to do such a wicked thing? In such a case a separation between the North and South would have brought deliverance to the slave without calamity and bloodshed, and there would have been a greater probability of a reunion afterwards on a more secure and permanent basis; but now, alas, we have got to sing the "Song of Greenbacks," which ends with the "Union is gone to smash!" How foolish and unwise, therefore, are those who advocate the Northern war of invasion in the South, or extenuate the guilt or cover up the horrors of it, from the plea that the independence of the South would or could have secured the continued existence of slavery, or that there would have been "little hope of permanent

pacification" in such a case! Alas for "peacemen," so called, to be mixed up with the above class of men, and to take sides with them, avowing that "not even the abolition of slavery can justify the violation of human life, much less the maintenance of the political union!" What a mockery, delusion and snare!—Yours for truth as well as liberty,

JOSHUA RHODES BALME,

An American Clergyman.

92, Hughes-street, West Derby-road.

PEACE BACKSLIDERS.

To the Editor of the Gazette.

SIR: -In the Herald of Peace for June 1st, 1864, there is a remarkable paragraph, which points the finger with unerring precision to some backsliding sinners who have lost their first love to peace principles. It reads as follows :- Surely, the present condition of things in America, and still more the dreadful prospect which the future presents, for there is no rational probability of the war coming to a speedy end by the military predominance of either side, ought to awaken reflection in the minds of those good people in this country, who, misled by sympathies that were true and generous, have been tempted to encourage one of the parties in this conflict, because they hoped that out of the evil good might come. Surely, they also must begin to suspect that rapine and slaughter and devastation cannot be the right means, or the means which God will bless, for promoting the ends of Christian philanthropy.

In America we can point to many of these men. There are a few of them amongst the evangelicals who pledged themselves to make the word of God their charter for freedom and armoury against slavery. These, however, were the first and foremost to abandon the cross for the corselet, love for hatred, the peace cry for the war cry; and in their mad haste to invoke the war spirit, call forth the angry defiance, demand the challenge of battle, and light up the flames of civil discord, which have broken out in deluges of blood, these men called their church members together on Fast days and Feast days, and resolved that henceforth their gospel, creed, and ten commandments be made up of Greek fire, violence, and blood. At a church meeting presided over by the Rev. Henry T. Cheever on the last Fast day, called by the late President Buchannan, the following resolutions were adopted and endorsed:—

"Resolved that it was held to be manifestly and imperatively the duty of the President of the United States promptly to enforce the laws, and to put down rebellion and treason, now upheld and perpetuated in South Carolina, by all the disposable force of the army

and navy of the United States.

"Resolved, that we declare our deliberate opinion, that all the Christian people of the country should, and that an overwhelming majority of them will, sustain the President in such a decisive suppression of the rankest treason and rebellion.

"Resolved, that if he should not do this as being due both to the safety and dignity of such a people, that he be further impeached at the bar of the Senate of the United States."

What a function for a church! And what an ob-

servance of a Fast day! How the arch adversary must have smiled, and his infernal imps have been filled with joy with such a presage of the approaching carnival of death! Not only were Fast days turned to account by these backsliding sinners, but, also, Thanksgiving or Feast days! Hence we find the Rev. George B. Cheever before he sits down to feast on turkey, preaches a sermon on Thanksgiving day, Nov. 24, 1859, in which he avowed, "If you or I possessed the power by tossing a horn of powder, a torch of Greek fire, a percussion cap, an explosive biscuit into the heart of the South to set the whole slave population into a sudden revolt for the assertion of their own freedom, would it not be beyond question, your duty and mine?" Whatever satisfaction he and his people felt in eating their thanksgiving turkey after the enunciation of this policy, to be pursued in such a mad outburst of fiery enthusiasm and zeal in the Church of the Puritans, there can be little doubt of its being succeeded by a jubilee in Pandemonium. The above, however, was only the key-note of what was to follow amongst our evangelicals! Meanwhile, no first shot had as yet been fired at Fort Sumpter? If such be the philanthropic evangelicals in the New World, what are the non-evangelicals? In a letter signed William White, in the Gazette of July 7th, Frederick Douglas is ushered into our notice with a flourish of trumpets "as a man whose intelligence, attainments, oratoric and literary ability, and moral worth, constituted him the foremost advocate of the

race from which he derives the darker hues of his countenance, while they enable him in their cause, to face undauntedly, the white people with whom he is equally in blood relationship." The reader will perceive that we place Douglas under the head of nonevangelicals. How is that, inquires one? Did he not break bread and sing psalms with the evangelicals on his last visit in this country? Yes, and also fling his Theodore Parkerite heresies in their faces in America, and brandished them like daggers over their heads! Being acquainted with his sad history, we tried to elicit the necessary information, expecting to be filled with thrilling emotions of joy in the recital of the particular incidents detailing the recovery of this lost sheep to the evangelical fold from which he had strayed, but was rewarded for my trouble with a daub from the tar and brushes of Douglas and Mrs. Julia Croft, and also designated "as a man who had a slate off his roof!" Not deeming the above proof positive that Douglas was an evangelical, we must have farther revelations before we make a new classification This non-evangelical Douglas, used to be a disciple of Garrison's peace school of abolition; but, being a refractory pupil, he soon quarrelled with his teacher; and, also, with that great master of elocution, Wendel Phillips Esq., until at length he became unmanageable, when strong words passed between them. After throwing off all restraint, Douglas soon became a champion in his advocacy of brute force, but now and then received some terribly hard knocks. One

these was given him by an aged coloured female. On stretching out his strong brawny arms at a public meeting, with the fire of indignation flashing in her eyes, she looked him defiantly in the face, while with the deepest earnestness she demanded, "is God dead, Fred?" Such a terrific thump from so unexpected a quarter, brought down the house in thunders of applause, and entwined the laurels of victory around her brow. After being thrashed by this old woman, he received a withering exposure for his cowardice in the Harper's Ferry affair which made terrible work of his chivalry. On that eventful Monday, when the honoured and illustrious John Brown was taken prisoner, he was to have arrived at the school house with a large reinforcement of his friends on the morning of that day, but Cook, one of Brown's party, said, "I conveyed the arms to the school house for him, and waited until nearly night, but the coward did'nt come." Now, if he could not undauntedly face the aged female whose features wore a darker hue on her countenance than his own; we do not wonder that he should have "skedaddled" when sterner work was reguired of him in the presence of the white people, "his blood relation equals!" Such being the "foremost" advocate of the negro race in America, let us turn to the founder of the school of abolitionism in that country, namely, William Loyd Garrison, who also is a non-evangelical, although he has often been whitewashed by others, and by some who ought to have known better. On glancing down the brief his220

tory of abolitionism, we find Garrison commenced his work of emancipation on the following basis, or declaration of principles, which he submitted for the approval of emancipationists to be subscribed to as a solemn bond and covenant to shew to the world that they were pledged and sealed for the work before them. In this bond and covenant they solemnly engaged "to reject themselves, and entreat the oppressed to reject the use of all carnal weapons for deliverance from bondage," admitted the "sovereignty of the States over the subject of slavery within their limits," and avowed that they were "under high moral obligations to use for the promotion of their cause, moral, and political action as prescribed in the Constitution of the United States." Such was the basis on which Garrison planted his feet thirty years ago, in the presence of assembled delegates, convened in Philadelphia, the city of brotherly love. But where does he stand now? And what has been the character of his labours during the last thirty years? If it is right and proper for Mr Garrison now to use forceable means on behalf of the slaves it was right and proper then. Alas for Mr. Garrison when he has to grope his way through broken bonds and covenants to the councils of men of violence and blood; and to unite with them in seeking to re-elect our modern Pharaoh Lincoln for the Presidency, who has thrown the whole country into a state of the wildest anarchy, and the most frightful despotism, compared with which the horrors of the French revolution sink into insignificance, and in which the Jacobins were saints compared with such persons as Brownlow, Beecher, Cheever, Eddy, Tyng Sloane, the Hon. Lewis Barker, and Miss Dickenson in their enormous thirst for blood.

There is yet another who demands a passing notice before we dismiss our new world philanthropists. His name is J. G. Whittier, the Quaker poet, and for convenience sake we will put him in that new division of mankind which the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher claims to occupy, which is that neither of saint nor sinner, but Beecher! Whittier on coming into the presence of saints and sinners, hushes them into silence, and commands their profoundest attention whilst he points them to the rising mountains in the distance called the blue ridge in Virginia, and as they look with steadfast gaze he breathes the prayer—

"O! never may yon blue ridged hills
The Northern rifle hear,
Nor see the light of blazing homes
Flash on the negro's spear.
But let the free-winged angel truth
Their guarded passes scale,
To teach that right is more than might,
And justice more than mail!"

Surely now we have found a good man and true. Ah! no, there has not been a vote which this peace quaker has ever given to uphold the Constitution of Massachusets, or of the Federal government, that does not pledge him to uphold the war system—army, navy, militia, and all their accompaniments. More-

over, during the present war our Northern War Christians have gravely charged him with "answering his own non-resistant doctrines with his divinest instincts—the innermost life," which, say they, "clearly as the trumpets of the revelator's angels, proclaims the absolute and most perfect justice of this war." The writer is not quite so sure about that; but when Whittier, in sight of the blue hills referred to in his former poem, now assumes martial airs, and with soldier-like instinct and chivalry points us to the Stars and Stripes, whilst General Lee enters Frederick city, and with enthusiastic ardour shouts,

"Forty flags with their silver stars, Forty flags with their golden bars Flapped in the morning wind,"

what are we to think in such a case? Think! we cannot otherwise think than that he flapped back again his peace principles in his own face. And this is no less evident in the stanza which he composed in honour of Barbara Fretchie, who, bowed with her threescore years and ten, thrust the Stars and Stripes out of her attic window. Full of military ardour, the Quaker poet again shouts,

"Up the street came the rebel tread, Stonewell Jackson riding ahead; Under his slouched hat left and right He glanced; the old flag met his sight. Halt! The dust brown ranks stood fast. Fire! Out blazed the rifle blast." What a change has come over the dreams of this renowned champion in the peace cause! A rich story is in circulation, that Mr. Cobden once avowed that if Mr. Bright had not been a Quaker, he would have been a "prize fighter." Now, as the instincts of Whittier, like Mr. Bright's, are now gravitating towards combativeness in the American war, might not these men be of some service in sponging the head of a "swamp angel," or directing a battery of Greek fire? But be this as it may, we cannot help but think how different to their former selves. What a strange freak is manifest in their phrenological developments! Bumps of benevolence associated with the "grizzly fighter's hair!' Love torches connected with raids of midnight terror! Souls overflowing with goodness, lifting up out of their goodness rash and bloody hands; and all bound fast or knit together by strong and powerful sympathies, as shown in the illustrations given from Whittier's poem, called In War Time, and demonstrated in Mr. Bright's letter to the New York Chamber of Commerce, in which he says :- "I wish you success in this great conflict." O liberty, what deeds of infamy are done in thy name! Can such men be the true friends of either whites or blacks? or those who abet them in their suicidal madness and folly?

> O, perish with them the folly That seeks through evil good Long live the generous purpose, Unstained with human blood"

Such men cannot be worthy of our confidence or esteem. Neither is it right to give them any countenance or support until they have repented of their sins, and returned from their evil ways. We are glad that the editor of the *Herald of Peace* has taken the birch into his hand to chastise the English peace backsliders. Success to him in trying to awaken reflection in their minds. We shall be very sorry if his voice of gentle warning should be unheeded by them. O! think of the rapine, and slaughter, and devastation in the conflict which Mr. Bright desires to be successful, and so vividly portrayed by the poet, where he says,

"And the wail of the lone and desolate one
Arose in the midnight air;
And the smoke of the combat dimmed the sun,
And the wolf fed fat in his lair:
And rapine, and murder, and nameless crimes,
Strode forth in the blessed sun;
And the devil he owned that such glorious times
Had'nt been since the world begun."

As we think of the above being present to the editor's mind, let us hope that his efforts will not be love's labour lost in convincing these awful backsliders that they are not the right means, and that the men to whom we have referred are not the right agents, or the means or agents which God will bless for promoting the ends of Christian philanthropy.—Yours, for truth as well as liberty,

JOSHUA RHODES BALME.

THE AMERICAN WAR CRUSADE.

Two sins rise before us in America, which are of fearful and appalling magnitude, and involve us, as a people, in a criminality the most offensive to God and injurious to man.

These sins are slavery, and one man's inferiority to another, one of which prevails in the South, the other in the North, shutting us out, as a people, from the court of morality and justice, and placing us beyond the pale of sympathy and aid amongst enlightened and upright men.

These sins have gone on increasing from the era of American Independence to the present time, in consequence of the perverted maxims of philosophers and statesmen, and the corrupted teachings of professors and divines, until they have attracted the thunderbolts of Jehovah, and the lurid flashes of His vengeance in righteous retribution; and this punishment is meted out, not only on the people of

the South, but on the more guilty inhabitants of the North, who have sinned against clearer light and stronger convictions, and, even now, there is no evidence of a change of mind towards sin as such, or deep humility before God on account of it.

Although the country was settled with the Puritans, and, according to Mrs. Stowe, in her "Key to Uncle Tom," claims a pre-eminence in regard to the "more powerful influence of the clergy, and a greater religious ascendancy amongst the nations," those supposed clergy, not excepting her brother, Henry Ward Beecher, and the multitudes of avowed disciples referred to by her, have no visible hand in shaping our destiny in the present awful and rugged crisis, by the Word and Spirit of God, means which are alone owned, sanctified, and blest by Him.

The diabolical barbarities and cold blooded atrocities, butcheries, and miseries flowing out of the fratricidal war are utterly revolting and frightful to contemplate, and ought to call forth the earnest and most dignified remonstrances of Christian men everywhere against its continuance; and, also, against the religious war crusaders, such as Cheever, Beecher, Sloan, Tyng, Dowling, Conway, and Mrs. Stowe, whose gospel of emancipation is not one of peace, but of "iron globes, torches of Greek fire, explosive biscuits," famine, pestilence, slaughter,

and blood.

How mournful and humiliating to reflect, that

in the abandonment of moral for military issues. our avowedly Christian men, with their mottos, "fight or die," were the first to lead the way, commercial men the next to follow, then the idolaters of the Union, whilst "Progressive Friends," or Quakers, so called, and the Garrisonians or Parkerites, who had been peace men at any price, and proclaimed the Federal Union to be a covenant with death and agreement with hell, brought up the rear. What a fall, when these men can now point to nothing but bullets, as the staple commodity for their creed, ten commandments, and sermon on the mount! Fallen and misguided as they are, one would have supposed, that as Peter the Hermit had the magnanimity to march at the head of his followers in his crusade, so they, or some of them, would have shown their genius, valour, and skill on the battle-field with the sword, but as yet this has been confined to their tongues and pens, showing that their cowardice is as great as their guilt, whilst the pleas which they put forth to sustain their position are inexcusable and unjustifiable, whether they may be religious, commercial, or national.

Religiously they are placed in a terrible position, when, like Dr. Cheever, May 6, 1862, in Cooper's Institute, New York, they have to interpolate Christ's words of peace and goodwill with the brutal and bloody words of strife, and make Him say, "Go to Decapolis and preach as well as fight,

(announce) deliverance to the captives, as well as submission to the rebels;" or, like Dr. Tyng, whom Dr. Mackay, the correspondent of the *Times*, says, "Makes it the duty of the civil Magistrate to uproot crime with the sword urged into dictation

by the priest."

Their commercial pleas are equally unsatisfactory, when the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher confesses, in his Harper's Ferry sermon, that "our standard of morals has been commercial, and from a commercial stand-point we have taken our observations." And how low and debasing that stand-point has been is shown in the same sermon, when Beecher says, "There can be no disputing the fact, that, for commercial causes, an element of slavery which had temporary refuge with us, granted by the unsuspecting fathers, has swollen to an unexpected and unforeseen power, and, for the last fifty years, has held the administrative power of the country in its hands, has controlled patronage, and distributed appointments."

But national pleas are equally untenable and

delusive as the others.

Stress is laid on the *freedom power* of the Constitution, one clause of which would have swept slavery with its concomitant evils away for ever. This was the Habeas Corpus Act, which provides that "no person be deprived of liberty without due process of law," and yet, in defiance of this clause, every slave has been stript of liberty without *such*

process. In deference to the wishes of the slave-holders and commercial men of the North, this freedom power of the Constitution was sacrificed by those whom Beecher calls the "unsuspecting fathers," and the reason assigned was, "They found slavery, and they left it among them because of the difficulty, the absolute impossibility of its removal."

And this freedom power in the Constitution, so far as the black man is concerned, has slumbered ever since, and "been inoperative as a bull against a comet." And when Alice Hambleton, Dinah Mendenhall, Oliver Johnson, and sundry other Quakers, waited on President Lincoln, and pressed on his attention this freedom power in the Constitution, and reminded him of its binding power, he assented to its truth, but "it cannot be enforced at present in the South," said the President. "True," said the Quakers, "but you do not for all that give up the struggle." Oh, no! The struggle has been rather bloody since at Fredericksburg, Vicksburg, Murfreesboro, and other places, and Lincoln and his government give no signs of weariness in the bloody work. Have the great charters of freedom been allowed to slumber in this country? Can they not be enforced?

"But the 'Union' is, to loyal Americans, what the British throne and constitution are to Britishers," say our religious war crusaders. Suppose, for example, say they, that "Scotland, Ireland, or Wales were, by conspiracy, to present a demand to separate from the British throne and government, and jeopardise the throne, and the glorious constitutional liberties secured to this nation, under the laws of Providence, by the toil and blood of noble sires, would they parley with the traitors?" No. But, if the "glorious constitutional liberties" had lain a dead letter, unheeded and unneeded, like the Constitution in America; or, what is worse still, the administrative power had perverted and misapplied these constitutional liberties, so as to make their great charters of freedom an engine of despotism to subject millions to the grinding power of tyranny and oppression: What then? Would not the British say, the sooner such a throne was subverted the better, and the government broken up, if they had no constitutional means of redress? In such a case thousands and millions of voices would respond in the affirmative. But how does the matter stand in America? Not only have the great charters of freedom been inoperative, but a direct breach has been made through them by the wedge of compromise, so as to turn those great charters into instruments of injustice and cruelty, depriving millions of all constitutional means of redress, and subjecting them to a bondage, "one hour of which," said Jefferson, "exceeds ages of that we rose in rebellion to oppose;" and the whole nation, with a few exceptions, have looked silently on, whilst the administrators of the government are powerless and unable to meet the exigencies of the case, except by revolution, which is now throwing the whole country into the gulf of ruin.

To show the inefficiency and weakness of the Federal Government, Dr. Cheever, in his anti-British organ, the Principia, May 22, 1860, says: "The States are supreme for wickedness, but · the United States is impotent for protection and justice. The government of the individual State may compel the government of the United States to respect slavery, but the United States cannot compel the individual State to respect freedom. The government of the individual State may prevent the United States from making a slave of one of its citizens, but the United States cannot protect one of its citizens from being made a slave by the States." And it is thus the case now stands between the Federal Government and the loyal slaveholding States of Missouri, Kentucky, and Delaware; whilst, what is the worst of all, the slaves in those States have no access to the seat of power, or constitutional means of redress, and if they should attempt to run away, the loyal slaveholder could follow them to the steps of the national capitol, or into the White House, the President's mansion, at Washington, and claim and seize his "chattels personal," and drag them back into bondage. What a country to claim analogy with Great Britain!

But it is added by the Federalists, in the language of Mrs. Stowe, "step after step has been taken for liberty, chain after chain has fallen, till the march of our armies is choked and clogged by the glad flocking of emancipated slaves; the day of final emancipation is set; the border States begin to move in a voluntary consent; universal freedom for all dawns like the sun in the distant horizon, and still no voice from England." No voice of sympathy and encouragement! No. The people of England don't believe in the gospel of emancipation by the sword. As one of her noble sons has recently said, "Ours is not a gospel of blood and lust, to be enforced by the torches of Butler's negro brigade, and the bayonets of Siegel's German mercenaries."

Besides, the Rev. Newman Hall, a votary of the Federalists, frankly avows, "We must be blind if we do not see how, by the operation of natural causes, God is punishing chiefly the South as the perpetrator of the wickedness, but also the North, for long and guilty connivance. There has been wicked compromise. To uphold a constitution of man's devising, God's laws have been set at nought. Slavery has been sanctioned and guaranteed in order to preserve the Union, and now, by that very slavery, the Union is broken up."

There has been wicked compromise. No one has been more guilty of compromise than Mrs. Stowe, shewn in her description of Mrs. Shelby, whom in her key she makes a "Lady pious slaveholder;" and also in her appeal, in the same Key,

to a class of men, whom she calls "Christian slavetraders." Newman Hall says, "We cannot have sympathy with impenitent slavers. We cannot admit them to our holy sacraments, for they are violating every law of humanity, and trampling on the Gospel they have the audacity to profess. We dare not bid them, God speed. We cannot sit at the same table with them. We shrink from receiving them into our houses. Our hand is polluted by grasping theirs. We loathe them as the representatives of the concentration of all villanies. They know it. Can there ever be alliance between us? Mrs. Stowe says, Yes. Do you ask how? By throwing over them a mantle of piety, and calling them Christians. And in view of which Mrs. Stowe may suppress her resentment and withhold her sarcasms at the noble-minded women of Great Britain who have no wish to be inducted into her creed, or to shout, "Bressed be de Lord," with "Christian slave traders or slaveholders" so called. The women of England, although they have a common origin with Mrs. Stowe, have no common faith with her in "lady pious slaveholding," and no common cause in enforcing emancipation by the cartridge or bayonet.

The Rev. Henry Ward Beecher has generally been a strenuous and ardent supporter of compromises. In a comic sermon which he preached on Thanksgiving Day, Nov. 28, 1861, he said, "A direct political emancipation was impossible. We

were bound to conduct the war in accordance with the constitution, or else acknowledge the failure of our republican institutions. He wished he could declare political emancipation. He wished Adam had not sinned and his posterity been affected. But that did not help the matter. He wished our fathers had stood out against the compromises of the constitution; for a serpent just hatched was not half so dangerous as a full-grown serpent. We had declared our fealty to the constitution, and we could not now break the pact. The war had not driven us into revolution. The constitution was not superior to right, conscience, or liberty; but we must keep our plighted faith, and when we could not abide by our promise, we had better stand apart as two peoples."

And in referring to the present terrible war, Dr. Cheever, in a Memorial adopted by him and others in the Church of the Puritans, New York, Dec. 22, 1862, says, "We believe the whole cause of our disasters to be in our continued complicity with that crime of human slavery, which is the foundation and inspiring demon of the rebellion itself. Had we withdrawn ourselves from that complicity, by obeying the command of God at the outset, the justice and mercy of Heaven were pledged for our protection and success, the Divine frown would have been upon our enemies, we would have secured the blessing of God, and commanded the sympathy and respect of all nations.

"But the moment we ourselves re-entered into complicity with the very wickedness which was the foundation of the rebellion, we threw away the immense superiority of our moral position, descended to a level with that of the rebels, deprived ourselves of the possibility of appealing, as our fathers did in the war of the Revolution, to the Judge of all the earth for the justice of our cause and the rectitude of our intentions; and went so far as to inform foreign nations that no moral principle was involved in our quarrel, and that the position of every state and all persons should be the same as before. This annoucement was sufficient to set both God and man against us.

"We chose war without emancipation, and God gave us our request with disaster and defeat as the consequence. We have ourselves deliberately built up and prolonged the confederate treason, by the determination to avoid striking at its cause. have provoked the indignation and challenged the avenging justice of the Almighty, by resolving that we would not decree the deliverance of the enslaved till this measure should become a necessity indispensable to the existence of our own government. And even now, when calamity and defeat have pressed us to this movement, we have taken all the dignity and virtue from it, by declaring it to be adopted as a mere military necessity, and by combining with it the offer of continued slavery to as many rebel states as will return to practise that

wickedness under the government and guarantee of our own union.

"Still the guiding star of our policy seems to be to crush the rebellion with as little injury to slavery, and as little depreciation of slave property,

as possible."

In the presence of the above avowals, concessions, complaints, and remonstrances, how could the Broughams, Buxtons, Gladstones, Russells, Palmerstons, or the noble sons and daughters of old England, give their sympathy and aid to the Federalists of America?

But who are the men who presume to approach the President with "the cry of freedom against slavery, and not freedom entering into a new compact with slavery, or making use of slavery as a bribe for the purchase of slavery"—men who are shouting "freedom or nothing. No more compromise with slavery. Give us freedom to fight for against slavery."

The Rev. Dr. Cheever and Dr. Nathan Brown, two of the men who signed the above document, have not been very remarkable for their embodiment of the "no compromise theory" in their own

history and experience.

We have fearful illustration of this in the case of Dr. Nathan Brown, who in 1860 was a director of the Bible Union, a society which contains a long list of Christian slaveholders so-called, and not only a director but a member of a committee in connec-

tion with the same, which voted slaveholding monies, and Bibles wrung out of the blood of the slave and whipt out of their muscles for the "Free Mission Society's missions. And the Rev. Dr. Cheever is in the same anomalous position, as Hon. Member of the Corporate Board of American Missions, a society which has always, like the Bible Union, compromised with pious slaveholders and negro-haters so called. It is reported that in a remarkable prayer recently uttered by Dr. Cheever. at Cooper's Institute, New York, in the presence of a mixed assembly of black and white men, that he called up the soul of John Brown from the vast depths of eternity, and prayed that in accordance with the popular hymn, "the soul of John Brown might march on," at the head of the northern armies, to lead them to victory, might animate the councils of the president, declaring at the same time, "that the soul in question was big enough for any twenty of the Federal generals."

If John Brown was now alive he would not be found marching with negro-haters to make the sword leap at the the throats of negro-traders, or abetting them. Neither would he allow his name to be on the books of pro-slavery missions or Bible union boards, like Dr. Cheever or Dr. Brown. However big his soul might be, in connection with the little souls of the twenty generals referred to, or that of President Lincoln, his soul would have loathed the contamination and pollution of those old corrupt

delinquent boards as much as he did that of the pro-slavery clergymen who went to pray and condole with him in his prison cell before his execution, but whom he summarily dismissed until they had got their slaveholding or pro-slavery guilt washed from their consciences. "I have no objections to pray for you," said Mr. Brown, "but you shall not

pray for me."

With such compromises, inconsistencies, detestable policies, and departures from great principles, would it not have been better, as Henry Ward Beecher suggested in one of his sermons referred to, that "the two peoples should stand apart." In the history of the past, whenever the sword has been drawn in the cause of freedom, "it has," says the editor of the Athenaum, in an able review of war crusades and freedom:-"It has found the cause invariably put back. It knows of many a servile war, but of none in which the ultimate fact was favourable to the insurgent slave." But the Rev. William Taylor, author of the "Model Preacher," in one of his Model Treatises, designated "Cause and Probable Results of the Civil War in America," says, "the institution (slavery) cannot be removed by moral appliances, as in the glorious example of the British government in her West India Colonies. Here," he says, "the friends of freedom had direct access to the seat of power, the throne, and parlia * But had Wilberforce or his coadjutors gone into the slave states of America and raised their voices in favour of freedom, they would have been hung most likely. It could not be reached by the United States Congress, because" says the reverend gentleman, "the question belonged to the State legislation. It can only be reached, therefore, by some direct providential interposition, such as a military necessity so palpable as to combine the great loyal masses in one united purpose to overthrow it." Britishers have direct access to the seat of power, but in America we have wheels within wheels, and the great fly wheel of Congress cannot control the little State wheels which profess to be subordinate to the Federal wheel. Subordinate. No. Slavery has caused a break down and a smash up of the machinery.

"Had Wilberforce and his coadjutors gone into the slave States of America, and raised their voices in favour of freedom," he says, "they would most likely have been hung." Very probable. But why should their services have been necessary? Has the Northern Methodist Episcopalian Church, of which Taylor is a member, no conferences, churches, or members in the slave States? And if so, why should the above men have been hung, had they gone into Maryland, Virginia, Delaware, Kentucky, Missouri, Arkansas, or Texas?' Surely the seven slaveholding conferences of the above church, and their multitudes of churches and members, would have afforded them an asylum of liberty, and stood between them and danger, more especially

as Mr. Taylor says, "all the religious bodies of the North, whose organizations, extended into the South, have fought a series of ecclesiastical battles on the question, as a matter of principle and conscience, resulting in their separation on that ground alone," whilst the Methodist Episcopal Church was rent nearly by the halves on that ground." It could not be that the members and clergymen of the above seven Conferences that are connected with the Northern half of the Methodist Episcopalian Church, fought very hard for freedom, were very conscientious in the matter, felt much of principle or conscience, or were intensely anti-slavery or distinguished foreigners, such as Wilberforce needed not to have dreaded being in jeopardy in their lives or limbs had they visited those parts of the South. Mr. Taylor says, "if the Northern Conferences could have accepted a slave-holding bishop and consented to complicity with slavery, they would have avoided an incalculable amount of trouble and expense, and saved to their organization nearly half-a-million of members who went off South." Numerically and pecuniarily the Northern conferences sustained an immense loss. They were, from the first, constitutionally an anti-slavery church, believing with Wesley, their founder, that "slavery was the sum of all villainies," they could not conscientiously, and hence would not, sacrifice their anti-slavery principles.

The above Mr. Taylor presents as facts in the

book already referred to. But, if such be facts, we may truly ask, what are falsehoods? In the authentic history of the case it is affirmed that Bishop Andrews became a slaveholder. "The Book of Discipline, as it now stands," says the Northern Independent, April 1857, a Methodist newspaper, published at Auburn, New York,—the editor of the above says, "As the Discipline now stands, slaveholding in the ministry is the rule, non-slaveholding the exception. We let all preachers hold slaves if they will consent to be local and unordained. We will consent to ordain them, and let them travel, slaveholders though they be, if wicked slaveholders are disposed to make a law forbidding emancipation." Acquainted with the above ridiculous discrimination, Bishop Andrews doubtless reasoned within himself, if it be right for my brother local preacher to hold a slave, it is right for me, and, consequently, he bought slaves, was suspended, and went off with half-a-million of members in the South. But what anti-slavery principle was there in this? There was no more anti-slavery in the matter than there was honesty to be found in the discrimination between clerical and lay theft! This was the sole cause of division, and, therefore, no question of principle could divide the Methodist Episcopal Church of the North from that of the South. Moreover, if the Northern one was anti-slavery, it would not receive slaveholders into its communion and membership.

But the editor of the Richmond Christian Advocate says, "It is known to you and to me, and to many, many others," addressing himself to Northern Methodists, in answer to Bishop Simpson and Dr. M'Clintock, delegates to the Wesleyan Methodists in England, who maintained that the Northern Methodist Episcopal Church was antislavery—the above editor says, "It is known to you and me, and many, many others, that thousands and thousands of slaves are owned and worked from sun to sun by members and ministers in the Church in which Bishop Simpson and Dr. M'Clintock are ministers." And not only does that Church contain slaveholders, but slave-breeders, as members, if not ministers. The Rev. H. Mattison, a travelling preacher in the Northern Methodist Episcopal Church, in a letter addressed to the Leeds Young Men's Anti-Slavery Society, and published in their report for 1860, says:-

"For myself, I am fully satisfied from figures that 'will not lie,' and from enquiries and correspondence upon the subject for years, that we cannot have to-day less than 10,000 slaveholders and 100,000 slaves in our Northern Methodist Episcopal Church; and the number is rapidly increasing every year. And, still worse, our people raise, buy, and sell slaves, as others do, without rebuke or hindrance. The territory covered by our Church in Delaware, Maryland, Virginia, Kentucky, Missouri, and Arkansas, contains one million of slaves

-one quarter of all the slaves in the Union. This belt of States constitute the great breeding ground of slavery for the citron, sugar, and rice regions of the farther South. About 50,000 slaves go hence annually towards the Gulf States. The annual sale from Virginia alone is 20,000, amounting to thirteen millions of dollars. Missouri sold some 12,000 last year to go 'down the river' to Mississippi and Texas; and yet her late census shows her to have more slaves to-day than she had five years ago. Now, the slaves of Methodists in all this region increase as fast as do the slaves of others. then becomes of them? Do they free them? Seldom or never. Are their slave families expanding twice as fast as those of others? Not at all. They are sold, as other breeders sell their slaves, and there is no denying it. I write it with shame and sorrow, but it is true; and the Christian world ought to know it before we are utterly debauched and ruined."

And in the effort made to change the charter on statute law in the above Church in their last conference, held at Buffalo, in 1860, we see what was the character of their legislation against slavery on that occasion:—

The Chapter as it stands, reads,

The Chapter as proposed by the Committee and adopted by the Conference, reads,

[&]quot;Quest.—What shall be done for the extirpation of the evil of slavery?

[&]quot;Ans.-1. We declare that we

[&]quot; Quest.—What shall be done for the extirpation of slavery?

are as much as ever convinced of the great evil of slavery; therefore, no slaveholder shall be eligible to any official station in our Church hereafter, where the laws of the State in which he lives will admit of emancipation, and permit the liberated slave to enjoy his freedom.

"2. When any travelling preacher becomes an owner of a slave or slaves, by any means, he shall forfeit his ministerial character in our Church, unless he execute, if it be practicable, a legal emancipation of such slaves, conformably to the laws of the State in which he lives.

"3. All our preachers shall prudently enforce upon our members the necessity of teaching their slaves to read the Word of God; and to allow them time to attend upon the public worship of God on our regular days of divine service."

"Ans.-We declare that we are as much as ever convinced of the evil of slavery. We believe that buying, selling, or holding of human beings as chattels, is inconsistent with the Golden Rule, and with that rule in our Discipline which requires 'all who wish to remain among us to do no harm and to avoid evil of every kind.'-We, therefore, affectionately admonish all our preachers and people to keep themselves pure from this great evil, and to seek its extirpation by all lawful and Christian means."

Mr. Mattison says, "Reasoning from these substantial premises, not a few in the General Conference desired something like this to follow the above declaration of principles:—

"'Therefore no slaveholder shall hereafter be eligible to admission into the Methodist Episcopal Church; and those now in the Church are required either to emancipate their slaves or voluntarily retire; and, in case they neglect or refuse to do

either, they are to be dealt with as in other cases of immorality.'

"Nothing short of this would at all correspond with the declaration of principles. But was any-

thing of the kind adopted?

"Instead of prohibiting what is declared to be contrary to the laws of God and nature," and inconsistent with our general rules, the new chapter suddenly tapers down to the following honied admonition:—

"'We therefore affectionately admonish all our preachers and people to keep themselves pure from this great evil, and seek its extirpation by all lawful and Christian means.'

"'What a fall was this, my countrymen!'

"And this is the whole of the new legislation against slavery, except that a law prohibiting the ordination of slaveholders to the ministry was stricken from the discipline. The new chapter was declared not to be mandatory, or, in other words, to be without executive force or meaning; and there we now stand. We have lost all prohibition of slaveholding, both in the laity and ministry, and have gained a tolerable, though rather feeble, declaration of principles, oiled over with an affectionate admonition! The administration on the Border were not only whitewashed but approved, with all its toleration of official and ministerial slaveholding; and, on the whole, so far as practical slaveholding is concerned, the prospects of the

Border was never more bright. Not a slaveholder will retire, or give up his slaveholding; and ministers as well as private members can go into slaveholding, without even violating an obsolete disciplinary prohibition. There will, therefore, be far more, instead of less, slaveholding in our Church for the four years to come."

And the history of the Methodist Episcopal Church is the history of all the principal religious bodies in America whose organizations extended

into the South.

With such a history in our principal denominations, how could the seat of power be reached in the slave States, or the great fly-wheel of Federal Congress be repaired, so as to replace the broken cogs in order to make the little State fly-wheels move in subordination? Here was a noble and glorious work to be done by Christian men, antislavery from principle, not only to purge slavery out of the Churches, and secure to the free negro his rights, but to repair the broken-down machinery of the government. Moral appliances were at their command which, if made available, would, under God's blessing, have met and removed every conceivable difficulty. But this work was too slow and tedious for our avowedly Christian anti-slavery men, hence their dreadful haste to let out deluges of blood in their war crusade, and to merge the country in one common ruin. And, as the war progressed, no portion of our people in America have been more intoxicated with the fumes of war than our religious war crusaders. Bulletins have been issued in the New York Independent, headed, "Peace Items for General M'Clellan," which commenced, "The way to increase our army to a million of men—fight; the way to gain the respect of England and France—fight." . . . Military Revival Recruiting Prayer Meetings have been held in Northern Churches to fill up the army. Regiments of Federal soldiers have marched through Northern cities, on their way to the battle-field, singing:—

"John Brown's body is mouldering in the grave, His soul is marching on."

Bloody battles have been fought at Bull's Run, Antietam, Fredericksburg, Murfreesboro, Vicksburgh, and numerous other places, alternating with victory on one side and then on the other. Conscripts and drafts have been resorted to, to fill up the places of the wounded and the dead. Prisons and forts have been filled up with "suspects." Enormous piles of treasury notes have been put into circulation, containing promises to pay, without the means to make them valid. Immense loans have been raised, and a tremendous war-tax created. On the 15th January 1863, gold was 48 per cent. premium, and exchange 163. And the country is advancing with such accelerated speed into the whirlpool of destruction, that some of our war fanatics are beginning to tremble for their fate.

The following, from the New York Independent, shews what kind of a "heart beat" they have got:—

"A nation bankrupt, is a nation ruined. It may still have a name and a place on the maps, but it is practically extinct, dead. It may have a large population, and that inherent strength which numbers give, but, like the strength of a caged lion, a manacled giant, or an imprisoned warrior, it is useless. It may have fruitful valleys and fertile hills, thriving manufactories and temporary individual prosperity, numerous railroads and far-reaching canals, mines of mineral wealth and all the riches of institutional greatness and magnificence, an immense army and a powerful navy, a good government, honest, God-fearing, man-loving rulers,but if it be tied, fettered, and anchored in bankruptcy, what is it good for? It were better that it should perish, and its name be blotted out for ever. A bankrupt nation, like an individual in such a dilemma, should go into liquidation. should wind up its political affairs, dispose of its assets of name, place, and power, and honestly, before God and the people, yield up its executive life, and ask funeral rites and ceremonies—a decent burial from the sight of man. If we, as a nation, have Bible wisdom, we shall foresee the great evils of bankruptcy, now threatening us, and hide from them. We shall use, without a moment's delay, our strength and power to crush the monster now

gnawing at our vitals. We shall, with the martial tramp of irresistible forces, overwhelm our enemies and end for ever the great conflict between free-

dom and slavery.

"We are endangering more than liberty by longer halting between two opinions. We are imperilling our very existence—our national life. We shall soon be bound with chains which can never be broken. We are blindly and rapidly floating into the depths of bankruptcy. We must now fight or we must die. The nation may will rightly, our armies may cover every hill top, and our rulers be honest, patriotic, and pure; but nevertheless we must now fight, or, as a nation, we must die—this is inevitable.

"The voice from our national treasury is, fight, or we die.

"The voice from the tribune of our political power is, fight, or we die.

"The voice from every workshop and every manufacturing village in the Union is, fight, or we die.

"The voice of a burdened nation of tax-payers is, fight, or we die.

"The voice of every ship's crew, sailing in peril of pirates is, fight, or we die.

"The voice of all the great moneyed institutions of the nation is, fight, or we die.

"The voice of merchants, bankers, and of all business men is, fight, or we die.

"The voice, trumpet-tongued, from our currency troubles is, fight, or we die.

"The voice from every half-frightened, gold-

hoarding miser is, fight, or we die.

"The voice of widows and the fatherless, and of thousands who are now mourning the loss of income is, fight, or we die.

"The voice of soldiers,—sick, wounded, and dying by thousands in hospitals and Southern prisons

is, fight, or we die.

"The voice of every true general, either from West Point or West—anywhere, is, fight, or we die.

"The voice from New York, and every other commercial city of the Union is, fight, or we die.

"The voice of every despairing, homeless, tyranthating exile, the world over, is, fight, or we die.

"The voice of the millions of slaves, bleeding

and manacled, is, fight, or we die.

"The voice of LIBERTY, from the Poles to the Equator; the voice of the round WORLD, groaning in sin and hoping in God; the voice of high Heaven, as plainly as ever thundered from Mount Sinai, is urging us now to duty.

"Will you hear that voice, President Lincoln, for whom thousands are now praying on every shore,

in every land of every Christian nation?

"Will you hear it, Secretary Seward,—war horse of liberty—whose ear has never yet failed to hear the cry of the poor and oppressed?

"Will you hear it, Secretary Chase, overwhelmed

and almost bowed down with unparalleled burdens and cares,—nobly, heroically, and successfully battling with a nation's financial troubles?

"Will you hear it, Secretary Stanton, while a million loyal men stand ready to pour out their

heart's blood to save us?

"Will you hear it, Secretary Welles, and spread every canvass, man every gun, and use every effort to gain for yourself and our matchless navy fresh

glory and honour?

"Will you hear it, Secretary Bates, and boldly and speedily act in behalf of thousands of Union men in peril of life and property all through the South, and especially in your own liberty-seeking, rebelhating state?

"Will you hear it, Secretary Blair, from whom we have a right to expect an open ear when so much is threatened and may be lost for ever?

"Will you hear it, Secretary Smith, from whose home on the priaries thrice ten thousand hearts are

now crying for a nation's salvation?

"Will you, Generals-in-Chief, hear it, and stop fault-finding? Will you admit, as an experiment, that there are several other places in the country beside West Point? Will you go anywhere as directed? Will you fight in front, and not ten miles in the rear of your army? Don't, for once, be afraid of hurting the rebels, who have already cost us a quarter of a million of precious lives. Leave your dignity and your importance for some

more appropriate place than the battle-field, and be quite willing, we pray you, that one or two other generals should do a little of something for our country as well as yourselves.

"Will the army hear it? Yes, we know they will, for they are already ahead of the Government, ahead of their generals, and would be ahead of the rebels, if they were permitted the opportunity.

The great heart of the nation cries out, Put down the rebellion! Crush the enemy. Stop the wasting of lives. Save us from bankruptcy."

The war, therefore, which was considered a military necessity, by the religious war crusaders, to subjugate the South in order to destroy slavery,—by commercial men in the North to keep the trade of the South in their own hands, and to promote their own agrandizement, and by the Unionists from a false pride and love of country to support their tottering idol, which the Rev. Newman Hall says, "slavery has broken up,"—this insane and bloody war is now "necessary," says Beecher in the above, "war manifestoes," or "they will rapidly float into the depths of bankruptcy."

At the commencement of the "War Crisis," our religious war enthusiasts turned to our Negro-hating Moses, in the person of President Lincoln, and in "strange rhythmical chant" sung the Psalms of what was to be the new "modern exodus," combining the "barbaric fire of the Marsellaise with the religious fervour of the old Hebrew prophet"—fire which was

to nerve Lincoln, our modern Moses, for the duties of his mission, and turn him into a grand heroic personage, but to send terror into the heart of the slave-holding Pharaoh, Jeff. Davis.

Hence they sung—

"Oh, go down Moses,

Way down into Egypt's land!

Tell king Pharaoh

To let my people go!

Stand away dere,

Stand away dere,

And let my people go!

"Oh, Pharaoh, said he, would go 'cross!

Let my people go!
Oh! Pharaoh and his hosts were lost!
Let my people go!
You may hinder me here,
But me can't go up dere,
Let my people go.

"Oh, Moses, stretch your hand across!

Let my people go!

And don't get lost in the wilderness—

Let my people go.

He sits in de heavens,

And answers prayers,

Let my people go!"

What a ridiculous farce to compare such a man as Lincoln to Moses!

During the progress of the war our modern Moses Lincoln, so called, has not dared to go down into (Egypt) the South, but what has been more congenial to himself, he has sent his multitudinous hosts, not in the way of merciful interposition to the slave, but with ineradicable hate and implacable vengeance to annihilate (Pharaoh) Jeff. Davis and his minions.

The Rev. Henry Ward Beecher was so elated with the advance of our modern Moses Lincoln's "Israelitish army," that he predicted Pharaoh and his hosts, in the persons of Jeff. Davis and his armies, on their advance to meet it, "would be chucked into the Red Sea by God." But as the miracle was withheld that was to annihilate them, vast numbers of the Northern Israelitish army so called, got chucked into the Red Sea at Bull's Run, on the banks of the Chicahominy, at Fredericksburg, Vicksburg, and other places.

But as the above disasters were traced to the mutable counsels of cunning men, weaving politicians and fault-finding generals, who fought ten miles in the rear of the army, a great and immutable principle was to be struck, which would bring up every general, officer, and private to the post of duty amongst the Northern Israelites, armed with the triple armour of a just cause, and lead them with feelings of unbounded transport and joy to annihilate their enemies, repair the mischiefs of slavery, and introduce the reign of universal liberty. On the 22d of September 1862 an intimation was given by our "modern Moses" Lincoln, that this great immutable principle was to be

announced; and that on the 1st January 1863, he would be the porter to open the way to it-the instrument to lift the silver trumpet of liberty, whose blast, said Beecher, "would roll through the forest, sweep along the mountain side, spread wide over the priaries, be heard on the hither and thither ocean, causing the waves of the Pacific and the Atlantic to lift themselves up and sound together their notes of gladness." In a word, it was to sweep across the Atlantic, be hailed with acclamation in this liberty-loving country, cause triumphal arches to be erected in honour of the event, produce the merry peals of bells, light up bonfires on every hilltop, and bring together monster crowds in every town and village to celebrate with gladness such a boon to humanity.

The 1st of January 1863 has come, and instead of a world's jubilee there is a world's scorn; for instead of striking the rock of great and immutable principles with his pronunciamento, he has only opened up a new and more powerful explosion of the war passion, inaugurated a new era of disaster and strife, split up his own minions into factions, and helped to accelerate his own doom with that of the country he so miserably represents.

O what a mockery in our "modern Moses" to confer freedom where he has no power, and confirm slavery where he has power; to say to the loyal slaveholder, your slaves shall be preserved as a reward of your loyalty, whilst to the disloyal slaveholder he says, your disloyalty shall be punished with the loss of your slaves. Whatever heart-beat there may be to such inhumanity from the people of the New World, there can be none in the Old World amongst judicious and sensible men. Here the cry is measures and not men—principles and not dollars.

Such is the immeasurable calamity which has befallen us in America, in the war policy which has obtained and brought with it such frightful calamities, and fearful and widespread horrors. is consolitary, however, to know that the issue was not in the hands of our "modern Moses" Lincoln, —our religious war crusaders, Cheever, Beecher, Mrs Stowe, and Co.,-our commercial men, who are now trembling for their Morrell Tariffs and entrepots of trade-or our idolaters of the Union, who speak, and think, and write as if the world would not move on should the American Republic break up. No, God has taken the issue out of all their hands; and as John Bright truly said in a recent speech in Birmingham, "He was bringing about a great transaction in history,"—a transaction which will level with the dust his "Model Republic," and demonstrate beyond controversy that America, no more than Rome or Babylon, can harden itself against God and prosper.

Dark, therefore, as the scenes are which we now behold in America, no truth is more palpable than this, that God has come out of His place to make

inquisition for the blood of the slave, and the oppressions of multitudes who wear a different skin to their fellowmen; and, whilst the guilt of slavery has caused Him to open the magazines of His vengeance to punish the slaveholder, in His righteous retribution He will not allow the man who treats the Negro as belonging to an inferior race, and subjects him to every imaginable insult, to escape the just desert of his sins. In the sight of God both sins are of the deepest dye, involving each in the deepest, basest, and most atrocious rebellion against Him. One says to the Negro, if you exist in America, it must be as a slave; the other, says, if you exist, it must not be in America, but in Liberia, or Abbeokuta. One avows that God made him to be a "chattel-personal;" the other swears vengeance against him, and declares that he must be coloniseda thing not easily to be accomplished, if the Negro were willing to go. Need we wonder, therefore, that God's judgments should be a great deep in our guilty land. Our wonder is, that He should have so long borne with our impious treachery, fraud, and blood-guiltiness, as a nation.

It is no less manifest, that a gross and terrible delusion prevails among the avowed disciples in America, in their appeals to the material sword instead of the sword of God's Spirit, the word of God. Dark was the hour in our country's history when the Rev. Henry T. Cheever called his church together

in the autumn of 1859, and adopted the following resolutions:—

"Resolved that it was held to be manifestly and imperatively the duty of the President of the United States promptly to enforce the laws, and to put down rebellion and treason, now upheld and perpetuated in South Carolina, by all the disposable force of the army and navy of the United States.

"Resolved, that we declare our deliberate opinion, that all the Christian people of the country should, and that an overwhelming majority of them will, sustain the President in such a decisive suppression

of the rankest treason and rebellion.

"Resolved, that if he should not do this as being due both to the safety and dignity of such a people, that he be further impeached at the bar of the Senate of the United States."

The above was the first war-spark that has produced such a tremendous conflagration in our land—the first war-cloud that has now made the heavens black with darkness, emitting fiery flashes to blas's what is lovely, beautiful, and fair, and reduce our country to a heap of ruin. No sooner was the above spark lighted in the Congregational Church, Jewett City, Connecticut, than Dr. Cheever added fuel to the flame, as in a thanksgiving sermon in the church of the Puritans, New York, Nov. 24, 1859, he appealed to his people, exclaiming, "was it in your power, it is beyond question your duty and my duty to take horns of powder, torches of Greek fire, per-

cussive caps, and explosive biscuits, and hurl them into the heart of the South, to set the whole slave population into a sudden revolt for the assertion of their own freedom."

Then the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher, in a terrible tilt against slavery, to get at the Seceders, it is said by the reporter of the New York Times, Dec. 15, 1860, appeared six inches taller than usual. with his eyes flashing fire on Jeff. Davis and the Southerns, whom he designated as Pharaoh and his hosts, gave the charge to the Northerns in scriptural language, "Speak to the children of Israel that they go forward, Exod. xiv. 15. "Right before us rolled the sea," cried Beecher, "red, indeed, for there is blood in it. The word of God is, go on. Give me war redder than blood and fiercer than fire, that I may retain my faith in liberty." These sentiments, said the reporter, "caused the uprising of many hundreds of people, accompanied with waving of hats and handkerchiefs, cheers, hurrahs, and shouts, which made the building ring; producing one of the most remarkable and impressive scenes ever witnessed in that church."

After then the war spirit spread with amazing rapidity in the churches of the Free States so called. "Twenty churches on a night," writes Manhattan, "hold prayer meetings to get recruits for the army." And what is the language of the clergy on these occasions? Here is an instance. The Rev. J. W. Sloane, pastor of the third Reformed Presbyterian

Church, New York, was reported in the newspapers to have said, in a speech abounding with similar atrocities, "That it was better that the six millions of white men, women, and children of the South should be slaughtered, than that slavery should not be extinguished." And being censured by an editor for expressing such atrocity, Mr. Sloane replied, that "What he really said was only as follows: But supposing that emancipation should lead to insurrection. Let this, which I by no means admit, be for the time granted, then, I affirm, that it is better, far better, that every man, woman, and child in every rebel State should perish in one widespread, bloody, and indiscriminate slaughter; better that the land should be a Sahara -be, as when God destroyed the Canaanites, or overthrew Sodom and Gomorrah—than that this rebellion should be successful." And, "Mark our words," says Mrs. Stowe, in her reply to the women of England, "if we succeed, the children of these very men who are now fighting us will rise up to call us blessed." Blessed! For what? For laying waste their lands, pillaging their houses, burning their cities, treating ladies as women of the town, ravishing young females, massacreing innocent men in cold blood at the instigation of General M'Neil, imprisoning their clergy because they would not pray for President Lincoln, placing their lives and property in the hands of military governors, who urge, as in the case of Brigadier General Dowe, "that they must not think it hard if they suffer wrongfully?"

No, there is no blessedness in the above, or in the soddening of the battle-fields with rivers of blood, already made memorable with horrid butcheries; and, as those historical and tragical scenes flit before them, they will no more make the children of the Southerners revere the people of the North, or pay homage to their genius or chivalry, than the scenes at Yorktown, Lexington, Concord, or Bunker Hill, lead Americans to revere the Britishers. When we look at the bitter struggle as it now moves along in its bloody and devastating course, the words of Milton sound strangely in our ears:—

"For never can true reconcilement grow, Where words of deadly hate have pierced so deep."

And should the war crusaders succeed, with their gospel of torches, faggots, fire, and sword, in conquering and devastating the South, the slaves whom they had freed from the galling tyranny of their masters would not feel themselves, amidst Northern treatment, to be "a heap much more men," when sold on the auction block in Northern cities as paupers—recently illustrated in the case of a number of fugitive slaves in Illinois—neither would they lift up their hands in blessing and shout, "Bressed be de Lord dat brought us to see dis first happy day of our lives," if shipped out of the country by the chivalrous white man on their

landing in Africa. The thought is madness. Such a state of things may be in accordance with strong delusion, judicial blindness, and hardness of heart, but certainly not with the doctrines of our Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ, the teachings of His most holy Word, or the merciful spirit of Christianity; and yet these wilful and chosen delusions are spreading in this country as well as in America, shown in the vigorous attempts now being made to manufacture a public opinion in honour of these war crusaders in America, who charge the British with "a decline of anti-slavery fire." It is to be hoped that the people of this country will not be blinded by the subterfuges resorted to in dwelling upon the black picture of the South, in order to heighten the virtues of the North, when, by its double dealing, it has excited the pity and deserves the execrations of mankind, or be favourably impressed with the means employed to promote the progress of human liberty. May it ever be the exalted privilege and happiness of this highly favoured nation to endorse a gospel of emancipation founded on reason and argument, and not one of physical force associated with rash and bloody hands—the folly that seeks, through evil, good.

GLASGOW, February 1st, 1863.

COONS, FALSE SHEPHERDS, AND PRESI-DENT OF THE WESLEYAN CONFERENCE.

WHEN President Lincoln was a farmer, he called together his friends and neighbours for consultation in regard to a number of coons which were very destructive in his corn fields. A plan was resolved on to catch some of them; and when caught, farther action was to be taken. It was not long before their labours were crowned with success; but when Lincoln and his friends met to deliberate on what they should do to them, they were unanimously agreed in their opinions that if they killed them, the stench would be so loathsome and intolerable, that they concluded, in view of all the circumstances of the case, "it would be best to let them go." If Lincoln and his advisers had taken a leaf or chapter out of their experience concerning the above unpleasant and disagreeable animals, and applied it to the Southern people, they would soon have got rid of slavery, as we have already shown in a previous letter, and have prevented the fearful stench arising from the red field of battle, which is now filling the world. And how sad to think that no parties have added more to the loathsomeness of the present war in America than the false shepherds in Israel, whose maddening cry has virtually demanded "war to the knife, and the knife to the handle," associating our country with rivers of flowing blood, charnel houses full of festering corpses, commercial ruin, disaster, and woe, the widow's wail and orphan's moan. When referring to one of these false shepherds, the correspondent of the

Daily Telegraph, July 22d, says:-

There was a public meeting some few days since in New York, called for a very admirable and philanthropic purpose—the formation of an association to give permanent aid to sick and wounded soldiers. The attendance was large and influential; the array of orators on the platform imposing. In the course of the evening, Parson Brownlow made a speech. Let me cull a few, a very few, flowers of rhetoric from his harangue: 'If I had the power, sir,' said the reverend Brownlow, 'I would arm and uniform in Federal habiliments every wolf, and panther, and tiger, and catamount, and bear in the mountains of America; every crocodile in the swamps of Florida and South Carolina; every negro in the Southern Confederacy; and every devil in Hell and Pandemonium. . . . This war, I say to you, must be pursued with a vim and a vengeance, until the rebellion is put down, if it exterminates from God's green earth every man, woman, and child south of Mason and Dixon's line. . . And we will crowd the rebels, and crowd and crowd them, till I trust in God we will rush them into the Gulf of Mexico, and drive the entire race, as the devil did the hogs into the Sea of Galilee.' He wound up by saying, 'We can whip the Southern Confederacy; we can take in England and France; and I want to carry it on till we whip out all creation.' Every point in this discourse told immensely, and it would be difficult to determine whether the loudest cheers were elicited by the allusion to the hogs in the Sea of Galilee, or the aspiration of 'whipping out all creation.'"

Most of the above class have generally been found far away in the rear of the army. There are some, however, who have moved to the forefront on the tented field, whose voices have been heard to exclaim amidst the confused noise of the warrior, and garments rolled in blood-"Let us at least kill and maim each other like christian gentlemen." One of these is the Rev. Colonel Jacques, a Methodist clergyman, who has the command of a Federal regiment, officered with reverend clergymen from the same branch of the Church, under him to do the church militant on the battle-field! And according to the statement of the Rev. W. L. Thornton, President of the Wesleyan Conference, as given in the Leeds Mercury, August 4th, "more than one hundred thousand Methodists have actually been in the war; and reckoning the slain, and the wounded, and the captives, more than half are gone!"

Here is war Christianity with a vengeance! Right reverend Fathers in God, and Brothers in Christ. showing their love to their fellowmen, and cutting each other's throats at the same time! And what is

the most wonderful of all, there is no protest, or dignified remonstrance, or sorrowful lament, coupled with the above allusion by the dignitary aforesaid with the outrage on civilization and prostitution of Christianity perpetrated by the above-named class of men!

A high eulogium is given by President Thornton on the Bishops of the Methodist Episcopal Church—men who, for a quarter of a century, had squelched out the fires of abolitionism in the above denomination of Christians, and acted as pointsmen to shunt off from the track of the General Conferences all questions that came with the velocity of an express on that subject! We are now gravely informed, however, by the President referred to, "that the report of the bishops was remarkable as declaring that the time had come to draw the anti-slavery line, and exclude from the Church all who would not liberate their slaves!"

Here is an extraordinary concession! It has not always been the time for the Methodist Episcopal Church to draw the anti-slavery line, and exclude from the Church all who would not liberate their slaves! This is the Church which the editor of the Methodist Recorder, April 25th, 1861, says, "Has ever held high principled views on the subject of slavery;" which the Rev. G. B. Macdonald, in a letter to the London Star, Dec. 1860, called "a protesting anti-slavery church;" and which Bishop Simpson

and Dr. M'Clintock, on a visit to England a few years ago, maintained was "anti-slavery!"

Anti-slavery when it had got to draw the line in the Philadelphia Conference of 1864 for freedom, and resolve to exclude from the Church all who would not liberate their slaves!

But now the set time has come, the grand era has dawned upon our world, the great epoch of time has arrived when the pious slaveholders, so-called, are to be lifted over the stile of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and excluded from its "pastures green," and bounds fixed, over which they are prohibited from coming: but not a word is said about the exclusion or prohibition of the dense multitudes of Methodists who have thrust out from their communion and fellowship as members and ministers persons who wear a colour not their own! We are quite aware that a deputation of five coloured ministers were introduced from what President Thornton calls "African Methodist Churches!" African, to distinguish them from American churches, although not a single member in those churches was probably born in Africa! But the name in America serves to build the wall of caste between the black and white churches, the same as in the case of black and white regiments on the battle-field-to keep alive the stubborn and cruel prejudices of the more favoured classes against the outcasts and down-trodden, and to make the former look big with an inflation of vanity, as they give a tremendous flourish with their trumpets when they go

out from the portals of the white churches on errands of mercy to their sable brethren, penned up in the folds of so-called "African Churches," or when they allow coloured deputations to visit them, on their Annual or General Conferences! Then their virtues, graces, and worth are sometimes discovered; and, although the images of Christ are encased in the darkest ebony, they are pronounced "as eloquent as Punshon!"

At the Conference of the Methodist Episcopal Church recently held in Philadelphia, President Thornton says, "It was his responsible duty toaddress the Conference, and in the name of British Methodism he endeavoured to make his address Wesleyan, Christian, pacific, and anti-slavery." All who are acquainted with the sad history of the Methodist Episcopal Church in America, must honestly confess that there was a needs be for Christian, pacific and anti-slavery addresses in the Conference referred to; and we are glad to perceive that for once a British delegate has felt his responsibility, and made it his duty to call attention to the "sum of all villanies." like the venerable founder of Methodism, John Wesley, on the platform of a New World Conference; as it is a great improvement on the policy adopted by previous delegates from Wesleyan Methodism to America, who have been so peaceful on antislavery questions, as to resemble dumb dogs that could not bark! But if the "few words, guarded, Christian, and unpolitical," which the correspondent

of the Mercury says, "he addressed to President Lincoln," be a type of the pacific words which he uttered in the presence of the assembled delegates in Philadelphia, coupling as they do the bursting of the fetters of the slave with the hostilities of the Federal armies, and the providence of God, otherwise than overruling the designs, plots, schemes, and intrigues of wicked men; and making them subservient to accomplish his gracious purposes; in such a case we may determine the character of his peace principles, and peace words; and may safely class him with the Methodist American peace editors, ministers, and people who maintain the "absolute and most perfect justice of the present war," although associated with the most diabolical barbarities and cruelties, commenced and maintained for the restoration of the Union, which had filled up the measure of its iniquities to the brim, and called down the avenging justice of the Almighty in punishment for its sins.

Mark his doubly guarded language, "Sir, there are many thoughtful and praying men in England who are praying daily for the cessation of hostilities, for the bursting of the fetters of the slave, and who hope and believe these two results will, in the providence of God occur together." Together, as if the deliverance of the slave could not have been accomplished without the present war; as if our Northern people were the friends of the negro, and had taken up the sword to burst the fetters of the slave; as if Christian men could promote the attainment of a righteous

end by the use of diabolical means; and as if the providence of God favoured or sanctioned our Federal government, churches, and people in their present course of blood-thirstiness and blood-guiltiness. The thought is abhorrent to every feeling of humanity, repugnant to every principle of reason, and opposed to every precept of Christianity; and should President Thornton and the men who are uttering his prayer think or believe to the contrary, all we can say is that they are blinded and bound fast with the most terrible delusions, clearly manifest in their withholding of all censure and reproof from their brethren who are crying blood and thunder, and their absence of all condemnation of our horrid demoniacal war.

Since writing the above, we have met with the following resolution which was unanimously agreed upon by the members and delegates of the Wesleyan Conference, of which Mr. Thornton is honorary President. It is dated Bradford, Aug. 13th:—

"Our brethren in the United States have been comforted by the expression of our sympathy in their sorrows and difficulties; and our old and unalterable testimony against slavery has been repeated in circumstances which encourage the hope of a speedy termination of that which our venerable founder has justly designated as 'the execrable sum of all villanies.'"

Comforted by the expression of our sympathy in their sorrows and difficulties! Comfort for men who are full of unreasoning hate towards each otherfanning the lurid flames of war by day and night—demanding the extermination of their fellowmen—and running riot over our present carnival of death in America! O! horror of horrors!

And the words, "repeat our old and unalterable testimony in circumstances which encourage the hope of the speedy termination of slavery," are as misplaced and delusive as the bottles of comfort are mischievous when viewed in connection with the Methodist Episcopal, or any other branch of the Church of Christ in America, since all have abandoned the moral for the military, and have been smitten with judicial blindness and hardness of heart.

And to spring a mine of feeling in favour of the Federals amongst the people of this country, President Thornton says, "there is a hearty veneration for Great Britain in Republican America." In vain, however, do we look for this in the silent contempt with which the memorials of your religious bodies have been treated when addressed to their fellow Christians in America; one of which, even without the formality of being read, was thrown under the table of the Methodist conference, held in Buffalo, 1860, by the magnates of that body; and that one addressed to them by a no less respectable body of Christians than the Wesleyans in England. According to the testimony of Earl Grey, in a speech which he made in the British House of Commons on the eve of the present war breaking out in America, we find that he makes severe complaints against the insulting de272

meanour of the administrators of the Federal government, towards England; consequently we find no "hearty veneration" there. Our researches will be fruitless if we look into our American school books, histories, books of travel written by American authors, or religious literature. In the vast bulk of the above, we shall find any thing and everything but the above. And we beg to remind President Thornton and those who hold similar views with him, that such is not our own conviction, and we claim to have some right to have our say on this subject, both from long and painful experience, and extended observa-In confirmation of the above the reader will find ample proof in our letter addressed to the Leeds Mercury, from St. Paul, Minnesota, July 4th, 1855, contained in the preface to our book, American States and Churches, with the comments thereon of Edward Baines Esq., M.P., and in a letter written on our behalf by Edward Gilbert, Esq. of New York, and endorsed by Dr. Cheever, published at the close of our first edition of the above work, he says, "I know of no reason for the proscription which has been meted out to Mr. Balme, socially and ecclesiastically, except that he is an abolitionist and by birth an Englishman." And the correspondent of the Daily Telegraph, Augustus M. De Sala, in a letter written from New York, July 4, 1864, says:—"You are all at home, of course, aware that when this hurly-burly in the States is over, we English people, we perfidious, base, and brutal Britishers, are to be 'whipped.' Yes, sir, that

is the word, 'Whipped.' John Bull had better bare his shoulders, and adjust his wrists to the triangles at once. The lictors are binding their rods, the drummers are combing their cats, the birch is in pickle, and the blood knots are tying. This time it is not Parson Brownlow, but millions, who utter the threat. So soon as the Confederates have been 'whipped,' our turn is to come. Maximillian and the French Protectorate in Mexico may even be let alone for a time, but there is to be no respite for John Bull. That wicked old man is to suffer, come what may. The piracies of the Alabama are to be brought home to him. Those rams which Messrs. Laird built for the French merchants, likewise for the Pasha of Egypt, also for the Sheikh of the Soudan, perhaps for the Caliph Haroun Alraschid, peradventure for the Prophet Mahomet, but always for the Confederate Government-those most flagitious rams are to lie heavy on his soul. The Federal commerce having suffered from the depredations of Captains Semmes, Maffitt, and Maury-principally because the Federal navy has been locked up in trying to maintain an impossible blockade, and the Federal Monitors won't float, and the Federal ocean ironclads can't go to sea, and Mr. Gideon Welles, the Secretary of the Federal Navy, won't do anything but sleep, and concede questionable contracts, and sit for a portrait of the Prophet Jeremiah in a spun-glass beard-and the American commercial flag having come to grief on the high seas, compensation and apology will be demanded from the British

Government. In case of refusal, we are to have war. War to the bitter end—war to the red-hot stump! Vermont and Maine will seize upon Canada—Myers of Rouse's Point, leading the van of invaders perchance. Admirals Farragut and Dupont will gobble up the West Indies; the Fenian Brotherhood will take care of Ireland—and British shipping will be swept from the seas by Yankee privateers out of New York and Boston. In a word, our atrocious violations of neutrality are to meet at last retribution and

vengeance."

And as we find no veneration of the whites born in old England; even so we find no veneration of the blacks who are British subjects. Out of many cases that may be given to illustrate the above, we will confine ourselves to the following, given in the Daily Telegraph, July 22, "The Rev. W. S. Kinnaird has the misfortune to wear a dark hue on his skin. He was born in the State of Delaware, a slave, but his owner set him free. He went to Canada, became a British subject, and this summer was accredited as a delegate to the Methodist Episcopal Church, then holding its quadrennial session in Philadelphia. The envoy from the British provinces was very cordially received by his brethren in the City of Brotherly Love, and, as was natural, thought he would take a trip to his native Delaware before he went home again. Now, the State of Delaware is the smallest in the American Union. It has enjoyed considerable notoriety as the last State to retain the brutal practice of

flogging women, and not many years since scandalised the entire Union by sentencing a white female to receive 'thirty-nine lashes well laid on.' Little Delaware is very loyal, but has not yet abolished slavery within its confines—in fact, it is, in many respects as far behind the age as the State of New Jersey, which the New Yorkers contemptuously declare not to be in the Union at all, and where the Dutch and Swedish farmers are said, when a presidential election comes round, invariably to vote for Andrew Jackson, ignoring all other candidates whatsoever. Delaware there is a law forbidding any negro to sojourn in the State under a penalty of fifty dollars. Very soon after his arrival at Camden, in Delaware, the Rev. Mr. Kinnaird was arrested, proved to have contravened the law by being born black, and fined fifty dollars and costs. He had not the money by him to pay this mulct, whereupon the hospitable Delawarians sold this clergyman and British subject at public auction. Fortunately for himself he was bought by the brother of the person who had formerly emancipated him. This good Samaritan gave a bond to the authorities for his leaving the State within three days, and took Mr. Kinnaird's bill for the payment of the expenses he had incurred on his behalf-a bill which the Episcopal Methodists of Canada will doubtless be delighted to honour. Mr. Kinnaird has very properly laid his case before Lord Lyons, who has, of course, complained to Mr. Seaward, and that delightful minister will doubtless confer great benefit on the

purveyors of goosequills and foolscap to the Government stationary office, by writing lengthy and cheerful letters to Lord Lyons on the subject. Only, if Mr. Seward have any notion of equal justice, or of what is sauce for the goose being sauce for the gander, he ought certainly to remember that he justified the kidnapping of Don Jose Arguelles by the specious plea that no person accused of trading in human flesh could expect protection from the United States Government: also that America has an extradition treaty with England; and then, having recalled those facts, he should forthwith deliver up the State authorities of Delaware to the British Government, in order that they might be tried at the Old Bailey for man-stealing, which is felony. At all events, whether Mr. Kinnaird obtains any redress or not, it would be as well to lay this little story up in lavender, ready for the compensation controversy. If any noble lords or honourable gentlemen in the British parliament want any more instances of British subjects having been drugged, kidnapped, decoyed, and forced, not into negro slavery, but into the scarcely less intolerable servitude of the Federal army and navy, I dare say that her Majesty's consuls at the ports of New York, Boston, and Portland will be enabled to supply them with dozens, cut and dried."

Here is a case not only for Lord Lyons and the Episcopal Methodists of Canada, but for the President of the Wesleyan Conference, and as Mr. Thornton has already favoured Mr. Kinnaird and his brother black delegates with such an eloquent tribute to their talents, we may fairly calculate on the eloquence of the above dignitary, if not of "Punshon's" in denouncing this American outrage on a British subject, and obtaining for him redress.

Before we conclude this letter, we must introduce to your notice one of the eulogised bishops, already referred to, that you may see what kind of an antislavery line is now sought to be drawn, and the character of the men who draw the blood line. Commenting on the above, the editor of the Daily Telegraph, Nov. 25, 1864, says:—

"Bishop Simpson, of Pennsylvania, is the minister of God who has lately added his voice to swell the chorus of fraticidal hate, and he was listened to the other day by an enthusiastic audience at New York. But that words like his must ring in the ears of men who are swift to shed their brother's blood, they would be only another item of that mixture of blasphemy and bombast which so often characterizes American oratory, and which would sometimes be amusing if it were not painfully profane. For instance, the Bishop hazarded a truly Yankee doctrine—'with reverence. God could not do without America.' On the peculiar character of the bishop's 'reverence' we need not enlarge; but the thought itself that the New World was wanting to complete the resources of Almighty power, discloses a state of mind rather difficult to realize. With every wish to look at the question from his point of view, we find it impossible to agree with our 278

episcopal friend. Of course we are prejudiced; but it seems to us that if the Yankee never existed God's great designs in this world could have been worked If nobility of bearing, pure self-denial, chivalrous self-sacrifice, readiness to face death for a good cause, some worship for a grand past, some veneration for God's altars, deep love for homes made holy through human affections-if these be things which God loves to see on earth, it seems to us that this Old World, in its varied story of man's trials and man's victories over his baser self, has given to history and to the unwritten page of sweet human. memories much that may seem good in the Creator's eyes. We never thought, until Bishop Simpson taught us, that the Yankee was wanting to complete the full idea of man noble in God's sight. We should not have supposed that the worship of the almighty dollar was needed as a new religion upon earth. We should not have fancied that God's glory or man's moral education lacked the sublime lesson of 'repudiation'-that peculiar political economy which, as Mr. Lowell sings, 'sacrifices private ends, your enemy's too, to duty.' We should have thought that on this old continent there had been enough of rulers and soldiers who had sung Te Deums when they had cut their neighbours' throats, or removed their neighbours' landmarks, though we may have had no very tall Yankee in a long-tailed coat to decree, with an upcountry story too broad for print, the murder of thousands of his fellow-men. In the olden time,

American demagogues, hardly caricatured by the writer of the 'Biglow Papers,' set aside the Gospel as unfinished because 'they didn't know everything down in Judee.' Certainly they did not know that a whole nation ought to choose for itself the mission of Cain, and then to call the work a fulfilment of the Divine will. The poet of New England could satirise the men who warred on Mexico, putting into their mouths the plea that, because the States surpassed Mexico in extent, 'their rights were bigger,' 'an' that it's all to make 'em free that we air pulling trigger.' Now the honest satirist of the old day is as warlike as the rest; he too is carried away by the frenzy of the time; he too is in favour of the bigger rights of the bigger nation; he holds up for present Yankee imitation the man who would 'smash the Tables of the Law in time of need to load his guns;' the man who can see but one side—'If his, 'tis God's, and that is plenty.' Here is the crowning result of national insanity. That the demagogue should rave; that the preacher living on pew rents should out-rant the rest; that journalists should prostitute the press-all this we might have feared; but we did hope that the poet-'dowered with the hate of hate, the scorn of scorn, the love of love'-would have kept the whiteness of his soul, would have rebuked the fury of the time, or at least would have preserved a golden silence amid the brazen bellowings of the crowd.

"Bishop Simpson, however, is not content with thinking that the chorus of praise which goes up from the temple of God's green earth would be sadly deficient unless the Yankee accent were distinctly heard in it; that the multiform beauty of angels given to us by the painters of all ages would be incomplete without the novel and crowning grace of a Yankee visage surmounting the usual wings. He also thinks that Providence watches the destiny of the North, and specially helps it at its greatest need. We know how Alison's History was described as 'a work in ten volumes, proving that upon the whole Heaven was on the side of the Tories during the late war.' We also remember how it was publicly stated from an English pulpit, that the Irish potato rot was a judgment drawn down by the increased grant to Maynooth. We may not, therefore, laugh too loudly at this portion of the transatlantic trash. In all ages it has been the accursed custom of ribald priests and their inflamed dupes to represent the inscrutable and beneficent Power, 'whose sun shines on the just and the unjust,' as their peculiar partizan—as a Moloch who delights in the blood shed by their hands. Bishop Simpson thinks that Providence uncovered the mines of California that America might pay for the Mexican war, and that now He has pointed out the newly-opened fields of gold in Nevada to help the Cabinet of Washington in redeeming its greenbacks and paying its way. What a pity it is that none of these discoveries was timely enough to enable Pennsylvania to satisfy its bondholders; for in that case a people

might have saved its character without sacrificing its own cash, and some foreign creditors might not have had cause to groan. It would seem, however, that the American Providence—the idol invented by the ministers of the Yankee Gospel-does not lay much stress on common honesty. As depicted by his priests, that spurious deity will aid the nation to despoil Mexico, or to carry fire and sword into the South, but he never thinks of helping them to pay their ordinary debts. We suppose each people to some ex tent gives the national colours to the white light of religion; but while other nations have hierarchies more or less elevated above the vulgar world, the American priests and preachers are the creatures of the society they live in, the creatures of faction, the agents of the market-place. Politics, social questions, personal disputes, get inextricably mixed up with every church and creed; conferences and convocations, called for purely religious purposes, have again and again been split up on topics of the day; and the rival sections have sought separate altars, and separate priests. so that the Abolitionist and the Democrat may not overhear each other's prayers to the distinct and peculiardeities they each worship. It has even been said that in the old Union days the Scripture Lessons printed for the South were changed to suit Southern views; and doubtless, in time to come, we may have an American Bible. But further Yankeefication is. perhaps, hardly needed, if American pulpit oratory is fairly represented by the preacher who, enlarging on

Noah's 'faith' in building the ark, pointed out that the patriarch, by giving up his flocks and herds, had 'sacrificed property to a considerable amount in dollars."

J. R. BALME.

3 St. Luke Street, Hull, Feb 7, 1865.

THE EXPIATORS OR SAVIOURS OF THE SOUTHERN PEOPLE OF AMERICA.

To the Editors of the Liverpool Mercury.

GENTLEMEN,—Who could have expected in the year of grace 1864 a class of persons would have made their appearance as advocates of the blasphemous doctrine that the sufferings and deaths of Federal soldiers who have fallen on the battle-field, in our present horrible war in America, are vicarious? However astounding or humiliating it may be to contemplates such a state of things, yet, alas, it is true.

In the Address to the Women of England by Mrs. Harriet Beecher Stowe, there is the following remarkable passage:—"Our sons die to redeem the very brothers that slay them; they give their blood in expiation of this great sin (slavery), begun by you in England, and perpetuated by us in America," &c.

In a recent letter addressed by Richard Cobden, M.P., to Simeon Whitely, Esq., President of the Denver Council of the Union League of America, he says—"If it can be shown that, as the result of this war, four millions of human beings have been elevated from the condition of mere chattels to the rank of free

men, it wilk be an atonement and consolation for the horrors with which it has been accompanied, such as have never yet been afforded in the annals of human warfare."

The American Missionaries, also, in Turkey, in a letter addressed to Federal soldiers in America, from Constantinople, and signed "Cyrus Hamlin, Geo. A. Perkins, and H. A. Schauffler," have put on record the following sentiment:—"Our land was plunged into fearful guilt before God, and without the shedding of blood there could be no remission of its sin. And it is patriot blood alone that can purify the land. It is not the blood of rebels slain, but the blood of our fathers, brothers, and sons, of the best and noblest hearts of the land, the shedding of which God will bless and sanctify to our redemption from the manifold curses and degrading influences of slavery."

Such being the doctrine advocated, let us look at the character of the men who go forth to bear the guilt of the Southern people, and to lay down their lives as an expiation for their sins. Are they without sin in general, or the particular sins of the Southerners? They will not attempt to claim exemption from the former; and as to the latter it is quite true that, for the profit which waits on crime, they have mortgaged the slave plantations of the South; taken slaves and sold them on the auction blocks for bad debts; fitted out slave-ships under the name of missionary-ships, in order to give the African races an opportunity of sharing in the blessings of our so-called

"patriarchal institution," so often and extensively lauded by our American people; put up slave-boards at noon day prayer-meetings in connection with our great and wonderful revivals of religion; systematically taught the humanity and divinity of slavery in all our principal colleges and seminaries; issued pictorial representations from book-rooms, as in the case of the New York Methodist Episcopal Church, in 1860, to show that Abolitionists were destructives, and that a separation of slavery from Methodism would be its destruction; filled the churches with bitterness, uncharitableness, and a violent spirit of persecution towards Abolitionists; called into being religious institutions whose committees and agents gladly welcomed slaveholders, slavebreeders, and negro-haters, as life members and directors, that they might create a fund in order to make "pastures new" in Turkey, where the missionaries referred to might roam with fond delight, and to provide them with bibles, translations, and tracts, in order to convert the Arabs, &c.; turned church deacons and members into grand inquisitors, as in the case of the Gordons at Boston, Massachusetts; and also ministers or clergymen into recruiting officers, to fill up the grand army of the Union and to take the command of regiments, like the Rev. Colonel Jacques, to prove their principles orthodox by "apostolic blows;" sent forth crimps into all parts of the world, to augment the number of the citizen soldiers who are now marching into the South with the torch and dagger, to kill and destroy; commissioned Quakers

to go out as representatives of Christian Commissions, designated by President Lincoln "accompaniments" (or auxiliaries) "of our Federal armies, for the relief of soldiers and volunteer refreshment saloons," and armed with an instruction from Secretary Chase not to give "Old Mother England a lug of her hair," as Chase pronounced to be her just desert; not to do this act of wanton barbarity and cruelty, but to caress and flatter her, and put his hand deep into her purse, that these expiators and saviours of the South may be more at liberty to increase and perpetuate their horrible carnage and slaughter. Great God! is such the character of the men who claim to be expiators and saviours of the South? How unlike the character of our Saviour, who went about doing good, and only good. And as they enter what the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher has wickedly called the "Gethsemane" of the Southern battle-field, how different are the means which they employ to those which the world's Redeemer and Saviour made use of, as they, with the returning light of each succeeding day, make "new widows howl, new orphans cry, new sorrows strike on the face of heaven;" or, to use an American phrase, "pile up the agonies." Next to the attainment of a righteous end, which His creatures are commanded to seek, righteous means are to be used. But in our "Holy War," so called, what chicanery and craft are used-what lying in wait to deceive-what treachery and fraud-what unnatural pretences and supernatural powers are claimed as they associate themselves with pains, penalties, and prison-houses, and arm themselves with steel and faggots, Greek fire and demoniacal fire, that they may meet their foes in savage bloodthirstiness in the work of human carnage, slaughter, and blood. How fearful to contemplate that such men are so wrapt with the delusion that they can sanctify the means which they are using, or the Lord God in their hearts! And yet, forsooth, this war, with all its attendant horrors and infernal agencies and instrumentalities, is god-fathered by W. E. Forster, M.P., as recently shown in his speech at Bradford, whilst the editors of the Leeds Mercury, in an editorial designated "Cost and Consequences of War with America," claim our American religious war fanatics as "strict allies and competitors in the work of evangelising the world." And oh, how sad to relate that memorials from ministers and clergymen have been sent from this country to fraternise with these men of blood, whilst religious associations have received men under the garb of philanthropists, given them their godspeed, and pledged their co-operation to sustain the auxiliaries or accompaniments of our Federal armies, under the name of "Christian Commissions," or "Freedmen's Aid Societies." We would not forget, however, to pay our tribute to the Congregational Union in their refusing to receive Levi Coffin and to read his message. But whilst no thunderbolts have been let fall, or fires of a terrible indignation have flashed forth from the religious organisations of the land to smite down Beecher, Cheever, Sloane, Brown-

low, Mrs. Stowe, Miss Dickenson, and others, for their unceasing clamour for blood, noble peers of the realm, and commercial editors, have unmuzzled their thunders against the atrocities of our unrighteous war, put a restraint on religious fanaticism in your churches, and to some extent rescued our fatherland from disgrace. All honour to these men. And whilst I am thus writing, new sensations rise to gladden the spirit with the news borne on the pinions of the telegraph that the Southerns have entered into the project and are laying their plans to arm the able-bodied slaves and make soldiers of them under a guarantee of free-This is a move in the right direction, as it will add a new element of strength to the cause of the South, create a gulf stream of sympathy on behalf of Southerns, and give them an impelling power to drive through every difficulty with acclamation in establishing their rights or claims to Southern independence, whether on the basis of their acknowledged sovereignties as States or the Declaration of Independence. which associates Americans with the men, the deed. and the day when they were freed from the "flatfooted despotism and grinding tyranny," so-called, of the mother country. Believing, as I do, that the separation of the North from the South will be the first effectual step to freedom, crumple up the oppressive tariff of the North, and liberate our churches from their serfdom to the States, and cause them to emerge from their defilements, like Zion in her ancient grandeur and beauty, the success of the South will

make the writer bound along through the valleys of gladness, leap up on the mountains of joy, plant his feet on the loftiest peaks of the raptures of delight, plunge deep into a sea of earthly bliss, and, as he comes upon the rising wave, cause him to drop music from his fingers and flash ecstacy from his emotions, whilst with exultant voice he extends the invitation to men of every tribe and clime to celebrate the event in one grand hallelujah chorus of praise to the triune Jehovah, who makes the wrath of Jeff. Davis to praise Him and overwhelms Lincoln and his chariots in what the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher calls the "red sea of agitation."—Yours, for truth and liberty,

JOSHUA R. BALME,
An Uncompromising Abolitionist

HALIFAX, 20 Clarence-street, Nov. 5, 1864.

AMERICA AND ROME.

To the Editor of the Eastern Counties Herald.

SIR,—There are many points of resemblance between the two countries above referred to. Allow me to notice a few. Like Rome, there is no nation claims to be in possession of more exalted virtues, to be the embodiment of sublimer principles, or to be a more perfect model in her institutions to the world; and yet, with all her preposterous claims, Rome never exceeded America, the country described by John Bright "as the land of which angels might dream." Rome never surpassed her in the extent or completeness of her misery arising from her inward corruptions, which have made her fall an easy prey to superstition, pride, avarice, vain-glory, daring impiety, low buffoonery, ribaldry and scorn; so that there is no country on the one hand produces a more prodigious growth of error and falsehood, or on the other more monstrous crimes against God and man.

At the general convention of the Episcopal Church, held a short time ago in New York, Bishop M'Croskey, of Michigan, asserted "that in the United States

there was less religion, with more pretence, than in any other country in the world professedly Christian." The Rev. Dr. Cheever, in a letter dated New York, April 4th, 1862, and published in an Edinburgh newspaper, avowed "it is not our piety, our sense of duty, our humanity, or our desire to obey God, that influences us, but only expediency and necessity; so that, if slavery be abolished in this slaveholding empire, it will be God's providence, God's mercy and power, in spite of our religion, and the opposition of a great part of the professed religionists of the country." The above inference is applicable to all other gross evils that effect America. The Rev. Henry Ward Beecher, in October, 1859, when preaching from that terrible message of Jehovah by the mouth of his prophet Jeremiah, recorded Jer. vi. 12-19, commenced his discourse as follows:-"I need not stop to point out the remarkable pertinence which these things have in many respects to our nation in the past, and to our times in the present."

It is no less remarkable that America has fallen from her pride of place amongst the nations, and become a hissing and a bye-word, a proverb and taunt, from the same cause as that which led to the downfall of Rome, namely priestcraft. No two countries have been more opposed to the circulation of the Bible. We had a powerful illustration of this in the case of the imprisonment of the Madaii a few years ago; but where one has been placed under the ban of proscription or maltreated from diffusing a knowledge

of God, through His written word in Italy, hundreds have been banished or tortured under the more oppressive slave-laws of America; and when the monks and priests of Rome could not stop the circulation of the Bible, they sought to prevent and corrupt what they could not destroy: even so, our Protestant clergy in America have been priests "writ large" in the above respect. The former put the cross behind the crucifix, the Bible behind tradition, and salvation behind the priest—the latter restricting the texts and doctrines of God's word to distinction of colour, so that if a quadroon or an octaroon (so called in America amongst the coloured people) comes under the power of Christianity, and is brought to experience its saving benefits, their white blood, according to American theory, can only be taken into heaven at death, whilst their black blood will be cast out and doomed with the inferior creatures to perish. perversion of the word of God, and its unwarrantable translation for the exclusive use and benefit of the white man, has been so general that every branch of the Church has robbed the word of God of its value, circumscribed its influence, and impaired its lustre by those monstrous theories, that man may hold property in man, and that one man is inferior to another because he wears a different complexion on his countenance. Putting their fingers on Leviticus, xxv. 45, and on the doulos in the New Testament, these corrupters and defilers of the word of God have shouted, "We must have a new revelation from Heaven before

slavery can be disproved from the Bible," creating a ground swell of complacency and delight in the churches, from the frozen regions of the North to the flaming belt of the equator.

Commencing with the 1st chapter of Genesis, and 24th verse, which they say was not translated, or the words "naphesh chayah" in the original would disprove the unity of the human race, they have traversed the Scriptures until they have come to the text in Corinthians, which avows that "all flesh is not the same flesh," as proof positive that negroes were further down in the scale of being than white persons, so that our Churches have not only produced "menstealers for ministers, women-whippers for missionaries, and cradle plunderers for church members," but men who have excluded coloured people from the blessings and privileges of Christianity, and turned them over to the uncovenanted mercies of God in the Black Churches, where they could engage in acts of devotion as outer court worshippers, thus contravening the arrangement of Jehovah where he says, "My house is a house of prayer for all people;" and amongst those corrupters and defilers we find not only a Vandyke of New York, a Nehemiah Adams, of Boston; Professor Hodge, of Princeton College; Lord, of Dartmouth College; Stuart, of Andover, but also Drs. Channing and Wayland-who admitted that "The Apostles did not preach a religion proclaiming freedom to the slaves," &c. : whilst Mrs. Stowe, like Tetzel, stood forth to the view of the world with her

"indulgences" to "Lady pious slave-holders" and "Christian slave-traders," as shown in her "Key to Uncle Tom,"—not, indeed, for any stipulated sum, like her prototype; but where he got his hundreds of pounds in the brisk trade which he drove in support of his preposterous claims, Mrs. Stowe obtained her thousands by covering up the bad with the good with her "brand new mantle of piety" for the classes referred to; so that by trading on the ignorance of mankind she enthroned herself in the affections of millions, which caused gifts to flow in upon her in a most surprising manner, and to an extraordinary extent.

When the temporal interests of the monks and priests at Rome were jeopardised, as shown in the German Reformation, in a spirit of the utmost vindictiveness, and with feelings of the most rancorous malignity and deadly hate, they issued their bulls, proclaimed their anathemas, and threatened with pains and penalties, bonds and imprisonments, the faggot and the sword, all who called in question the infallibility of the Pope, rejected the worship of saints and images, and opposed auricular confession and mass, &c. Even so, when the cry arose in America that the Union was in danger, and Acts of nullification and secession were passed by the Southern States on the two-fold basis of their sovereignty and declaration of independence, which gave them a special and also a general right to do so, our Northern Protestant priests who made the Union a part of their religion, and twined around it their superstitious veneration, were the first to raise the cry of blood, rouse the war passions, and kindle them into a flame. Unceasingly they took the war trumpet and sounded it loud and long, until the whole land was filled with the notes of the preparations of war-hostile legions marshalled in battle arrayhecatombs of the slain piled up amidst the shrieks of the dying, and the land was made to mourn with the torch as well as the dagger; nor has the cry of these "war Christians" become less fierce or clamorous, nor their enormous thirst for blood or plunder less eager, since recently their plaintive voices have been heard through the columns of the Boston Recorder, as recorded in the Daily Telegraph, Oct. 21, 1864, 'deploring the danger to which the loyal North is exposed from selfish desires for peace, and from being too ready to take the divine prerogative of forgiveness into our own hands, as if we were more merciful than God, and pardon those dreadful offenders whom the Lord in mercy to posterity has delivered to us, to punish and destroy;" and in support of this comfortable theory of religious duty, the correspondent of the Telegraph says, the Recorder cites as a lesson which American Christians should not forget, at such a crisis as this, the example of Saul, when commanded by the Lord, through Samuel the prophet, to go and smite the Amalekites and utterly destroy all that they had, and spare them not, but slay both men and women, infants and sucklings, oxen and sheep, camels and asses-1 Sam. xv. 30. But as Saul took Agag, the King of the Amalekites alive, instead of killing him, and allowed the soldiers of the Jewish army to spare the best of the sheep and oxen, under pretence of reserving them for sacrifice, instead of destroying them utterly, according to the literal terms of the commission he had received from the Almighty, he was rejected from being King over Israel. Even so the Recorder dreads the fiercest wrath of the Almighty from the leniency of our modern Pharaoh, Lincoln, who has already let out deluges of blood; and also of his soldiers, who have looked with such covetous eyes on the gold and silver, and oxen and sheep of the Southerns.

"Is this the land our fathers loved, The freedom which they toiled to win."

The thought ought to make us glow with indignation and scorn against such bloodthirsty miscreants, as well as their abettors and promoters, and to lead us to endeavour to create an influence which will go forth like an electric shock to send the cold stream of horror down their backs, and destroy every vestige of their evil influence in society and the world.

When Luther was requested to take the sword to promote the German Reformation, he flung the light-ning flashes of his indignation into the faces of the men of violence, whilst with dignified remonstrance he entered his protest against their abandonment of the moral for the military, manfully avowing that it was "by the word of God alone error must be dislodged, overthrown, and done away." "If I resort to

force," said Luther, "what shall I gain?" Replying to his own question he answered, "grimace, fair appearances, apings, cramped uniformity, and hypocrisy; but there will be no hearty sincerity, no faith, no love: when these are wanting all is wanting, and I would not give a straw for such a victory." How these sentiments ought to make the ears of our religious fiery war spirits and their sympathisers and supporters to tingle, and their cheeks to crimson with shame: for God never designed that aggression on error or crime should ever be made, except by means purely and solely moral. What then must we think of the new theory put forth by our "religious war crusaders, that war is the expression of moral force?" How strange that men, who have hitherto made the domain of peaceful arguments and conquests the boundary line of their sympathies, efforts, and influences, saying here shall you go and no further, have taken leave of their modesty, allowed their judgments to become impaired, and their passions to ride rough-shod over them, whilst, Jehu-like, they became vehement in their support of what they had been most earnestly and eloquently wont to condemn! And, strange to say, many of the Quakers who were formerly members of the Peace Society, if not now, have smoked out their pipes of peace, entwined their sympathies around the war whoop, and are now feasting their eyes with delight on scenes of devastation and of blood, such as the world has never seen or known before, and the like of which we pray may never be seen or beheld

again. Armed with the word of God, and taking hold of God's strength by prayer, Luther boldly defied the Papists, sophists, and the gates of hell, and was more than a match for all the powers that were combined against him. Nothing could withstand him, "poor monk though he was." A current of magnetic power went forth from him that flowed from heart to heart, until the cry was raised in one place after another, in quick succession, "Down with superstition, down with idolatrous worship to saints and images, down with the Pope." It is quite true that he was excommunicated, but he excommunicated them. He was called "foul-mouthed and foul-lived," but, like the moon, he held on the even tenor of his way, although the monks and Jesuits, like dogs, barked and gnashed on him with their teeth. Is not the word of God sufficient for America? Does it not meet the exigencies of nations as well as men? Why has it not been applied? Are there not five millions of avowed disciples of Christ in that country? If the word of God had been diffused by them in its original simplicity and purity, would it not have created an atmosphere where neither slavery, negro-hating, high tariffs, or war could have lived or existed? Were there difficulties, the greater would have been their triumphs? Did lions and beasts of savage name howl and roar about their pathway? Judah's Lion would have roared in their defence.

Some of them who sometimes came into your midst with letters of introduction from their canny bishops,

who have recently been drawing their anti-slavery line in blood, audaciously declared, like Beecher in his sermon called "Summer in the Soul," "War is impossible in America," "Our extraordinay Revivals of Religion are a Preservative against War;" and as they visited spots sacred to the memory of Luther, they cried in the language of the poet, where he says—

"Steel me to shame, reproach, disgrace;
Arm me with all thine armour now;
Set like a flint my steady face,
Harden to adamant my brow."

But never had the courage to grapple with the corrupters and defilers of God's heritage in America, or to take their monstrous crimes and dash them against the wall, thundering in their ears that the ways of Church transgressors are hard, like others; those who sin against God, and harden their hearts against Him, cannot prosper. There are those, however, who repaired to the armoury of their divine Master, clothed themselves with His breastplate, and smote down wickedness, both in the high places of the Church and State, fearless of results, feeling that duty was theirs, but results God's. Some of them fell with their faces to the foe-others had to leave house, home, and property, under the ban of proscription, rejoicing that they were counted worthy to suffer in such a cause; and though the seed corn which they planted has been drowned by a sea of blood, yet they feel that a power is still given them to make the old race of vipers more furious, and thoroughly to earn the death they desire to inflict.

Claiming the honour to be an uncompromising advocate of freedom, believe me to remain yours, for truth as well as liberty,

JOSHUA RHODES BALME, American Clergyman.

3 St. Luke's-street, Hull.

CONCLUSION.

How sickening is the spectacle which America presents to the view of men in the terrible war which is now being waged with such deadly strife, producing such terrible results in the awful destruction of human life, the enormous waste of property, and the untold misery which is experienced through the disarrangement and annihilation of commerce. What a distressing and harrowing picture of the atrocities and fearful calamities of war are made manifest in the following article, published in the *Old Guard*, a monthly journal recently established in New York, under the heading—

"HOW WE ARE REVENGING FORT SUMPTER."

"The reported casualties of this war from its beginning to Jan. 1, 1863:—

Federals,	killed wounded died of dis made priso		wound	s		:	43,874 97,029 250,000 68,218
						Total,	459,374
Confeder		ed rom dise prisoners		wound	* * * *	Total	20,893 59,915 120,000 22,169

^c They have killed twenty-two thousand eight hundred and seventy-four more of our men than we have of theirs.

"They have wounded, not mortally, thirty-nine thousand four hundred and fourteen more of our men than we have of theirs.

"One hundred and fifty thousand more of our men have died of disease and wounds than of theirs.

"They have made prisoners of forty-six thousand more of our

men than we have of theirs.

"Our total casualties are two hundred and thirty-seven thousand two hundred and ninety-seven more than theirs—that is, our casualties have been fourteen thousand more than as much again

"This is the way we have 'revenged the firing on Fort Sumpter.'

"But this is not all. We have spent almost two thousand millions more of money than they have spent.

"We have made two hundred thousand of our women widows.

"We have made one million of children fatherless.

"We have destroyed the constitution of our country.

"We have brought the ferocious savagery of war into every corner of society.

"We have demoralised our pulpits, so that our very religion is a source of immorality and blood.

"Instead of being servants of Christ our ministers are servants of Satan.

"The land is full of contractors, thieves, provost marshals, and a thousand other tools of illegal and despotic power, as Egypt was of vermin in the days of the Pharaohs.

"We are rapidly degenerating in everything that exalts a nation.

"Our civilization is perishing.

"We are swiftly drifting into inevitable civil war here in the North.

"We are turning our homes into charnel houses.

"There is a corpse in every family.

"The angel of death sits in every door.

"The Devil has removed from Tartarus to Washington.

"We pretend that we are punishing the rebels, but they are punishing us.

"We pretend that we are restoring the Union, but we are destroying it.

"We pretend that we are enforcing the laws, but we are only

catching negroes.

"That is the way we are 'revenging Sumpter.'

"Selling our souls to the Devil, and taking Lincoln and Co's promise to pay. We have it in greenbacks and blood.

"That is the way we are 'revenging Sumpter."

As our Northern people have hurled the thunder bolts of war, they have also been made to feel the effects of war.

With the same measure in which they have tried to meet out destruction to the South, it has been measured back again, pressed down, shaken together, and running over with misery, ruin, and woe.

What a fearful and tremendous responsibility rests on those who instigated President Lincoln and his cabinet to the adoption of war measures for the subjugation of the South, and also now urge their continuance under the strange hallucination that they are fighting for freedom, whilst military despotism is trampling down their own liberties and those of the people under its black hoofs, and engulphing the flower and strength and resources of the nation in the vortex of destruction!

How infatuated and blind such parties must be, not to see that the great call in God's providence was for the North to let the South go! And this is equally manifest in their non-recognition of, and indifference to, the retributive providences of Jehovah, which thunder in their ears the announcement which He

made by the prophet Jeremiah to the Jews, "Ye have not hearkened unto me in proclaiming liberty every one to his brother, and every man to his neighbour, behold, I proclaim a liberty for you, saith the Lord, to the sword, to the pestilence, and to the famine."

Who does not see that if the "Old Union" had continued in America, the divine throne and government of God must have been subverted. If we believe in the moral government of God, we must admit that He will be supreme in the exercise of His authority over nations and men; and that whatever nations amongst men oppose his government, He will make it supreme over their wicked governments, as well as His laws and word over the wicked laws and corrupt creeds and blasphemous doctrines taught by men.

We owe it to his goodness and continued forbearance that as a nation and people we have not long since been swept away beneath the overrunning flood of His wrath for our accumulated transgressions and sins. We cannot wonder, therefore, that our brother's blood should cry from the ground for vengeance on the oppressors of our fellowmen. Neither do we feel surprised that, when men will plan and scheme to frustrate the purposes of Jehovah, although He may permit it for a season, yet He will ultimately accomplish the overthrow of their schemes and wicked devices, by their own wickedness, and bring the punishment on themselves, however formidable the league or vast their conspiracy.

We cannot therefore pity our Federal administrators in their wicked blundering policy, or bid them 'God speed,' in seeking to restore a Union which has been based on a covenant with death and an agreement with hell in its law of compact, and associated with the foulest conspiracy against human rights, and on the grandest scale the world ever knew.

In vain do our orators, poets, and philosophers point to our prosperity, and with the magic wands of their enchanting eloquence make men feel their mighty spell as they cause new palaces, cities, and states to flit before their vision. It is here where has been the great mistake. They have interpreted our boundless prosperity as a sign of God's approbation instead of his forbearance; and, therefore, like Jeshurun of old, they have waxed fat, and kicked against the Almighty-and He has brought down His avenging arm on themselves in return. Thus our prosperity has proved a snare, and accelerated our ruin as a nation and people. These retributive scenes have come on us in America at a time when the nations were lulled to sleep on the lap of a false repose concerning the prospects of peace; whilst philanthropists and revivalists were taking up the trumpet of fame to proclaim the blessing of peace, and to announce the dawn of a political, as well as a spiritual, millennium amongst men.

In an able article recently published in the Liver-

pool Mercury, the editors remark :-

"A few years only have elapsed since the idea of the

Exhibition of all Nations was promulgated, which was to be the golden chain to unite the kindreds of the earth in brotherhood, peace, and love. The palace was built, beautiful in its proportions, fairy-like in its construction. From the frigid to the torrid zone the products of the earth were poured into it, and the many-tongued and diverse-coloured races of men met beneath its glittering roof, apparently forgetful of their jealousies, and happy as a prosperous and united family could be. Oh, thought some, the halcyon days of the world have dawned—the panacea for national woe has been discovered. Henceforth the only emulation will surely be that of becoming the best as well as the greatest, and of developing the resources of every country and clime. The cloudless sun of prosperity has reached its meridian brightness, and far away in human imaginings lie stretched the elysian fields wherein the nations of the world are to roam in amity and friendship. Bright and happy thoughts, yet, alas, illusive and vain; for ere the last remnant of the world's place of assembly had been removed, the thunders of the Crimean guns dissolved the spell, scattered the illusion, and proved the insufficiency of such day-dreams to arrest the spirit of aggression, and check the tyranny and power of man.

"Despite the failure, the experiment has been again tried, but with no better success, for at this moment the vast continent of America is torn by a civil strife which scarcely finds its parallel in the history of the world. Without entering into the merits of the question involved in this struggle, we speak but the feelings of humanity when we say the heart sickens at the remembrance of the sacrifice of human life by which the war has been characterised. It is estimated that upwards of 800,000 human beings, comprising the bravest, the noblest, and the best of America's sons, have been immolated to the god of war. The most fertile land beneath high Heaven reeks with human blood; broken hearts are counted by hundreds of thousands, and the frightful catalogue of widows and orphans affords terrible proof of the devastations of the sword. Nor is this all. The resources of what might have been the richest country in the world have been drained, and a national debt of £200,000,000 has been contracted, which, like an incubus, will spread its influence over the land, disturbing its quietude, arresting its progress, and paralvsing its powers."

In our deep emergency as a people, both Northerns and Southerns have courted the favour of England; and to influence the government and public opinion, one party has reminded you that your destinies as a people were suspended on a thread, and that thread a very tender one, namely cotton—and the other that they were bound up by a blade, and that blade a very slender one, namely, a blade of wheat. When referring to the former, Mr. Mann, an eminent citizen of Georgia, said,—" With the failure of cotton, England fails. Stop her supply of southern slave grown

cotton and her factories stop, her commerce stops, the healthful normal circulation of her life blood stops." Again, he says,—"In one year from the stoppage of England's supply of southern slave grown cotton, the Chartists would be in all her streets and fields; revolution would be rampant throughout the island,—and nothing that is, would exist. Why, sirs, British lords hold their lands, British bishops their revenues, and Victoria her sceptre, by the grace of cotton as surely as by the grace of God."

In the above sentiments Senator Wigfall united, saying, "If we stop the supply of cotton for one week, England would be starving. Queen Victoria's crown would not stand on her head one week if the supply of cotton was stopped; nor would her head stand on

her shoulders."

Vice-President Stephens also said, "There will be revolution in Europe; there will be starvation there. Our cotton is the element that will do it." When referring to the latter, the Rev. Henry Ward Beecher, in a sermon on Thanksgiving day, Nov. 28, 1861, reported in the New York Tribune, said,—"Providence in giving us plenty, and ordaining scarcity abroad, had taken the crown from king cotton, and put it on the head of corn. The speaker had gone through the corn fields, and had heard the corn rustling, and he thought it was the wind blowing through the corn; but it was God speaking to him, and interpreting to him in a language he now understood, but then did not. And every blade lift-

ing up its head said, "Liberty is coming, Emancipation is coming." But how was liberty or emancipation to come? Hear him! "Now, just when mechanical England would have demanded our ports to be opened, she needs our corn more than cotton. The scarcity of food in England and France had put them on their good behaviour; and these two antagonists, liberty and God, slavery and the devil, were to fight out the matter between themselves."

Both parties, therefore, profess to hold your destinies in their hands, try to prepossess you in their favour, and lift up the thread and blade in turns as Ward Beecher says, "to put you on your good behaviour!"

England, therefore, say the Southerns, is bound to interfere—her supply of cotton, her commercial interests, her existence demands it. England dare not interfere, say the Northerns, for if she do so, bread riots will break out, and the people of this country will be thrown into a state of starvation!

One party says, we will compel you to break the peace of nations by the "grace of cotton!" And the other says, we will compel you to keep the peace by the influence of "king corn!" According to one, the British lion must wag his tail, and growl defiance to the North, or he must cease to be! According to the other, if he should do so, the lion must die of hunger. Either way, you have got to die. Therefore, it is not so much our national existence that is imperilled in America as your own! How monstrous the delusion! What a story to tell by a people who were

born to national existence with falsehood on their lips, and the fruit of robbery in their hands; and who are now undergoing a severe punishment, justly due for the enormous guilt of their crimes!

What arrogancy and pride such language discovers! We are a great people ain't we! And we can't help thinking that if the interests of this country are in the hands or our American people—they are like the interests of freedom in "villainous custody." For it is impossible to "recognise in the corrupt mass of American politicians, North or South, the chosen instruments of the world's regeneration."

"Whilst the Hon. Gentleman," (Roebuck), says Bright, "told them that the North was overbearing, he forgot to tell them that its government had hitherto been administered by his friends of the South." This is quite true, but not the whole truth, since that administration was with the consent of the North, and no truth looms up to our view more clearly or distinctly in connexion with the inexorable logic of facts in our American history, than this, that if our Northern people had sought to embody the original charters of her freedom in the spirit of impartial justice to all, irrespective of colour or condition, the Union would long ago have been destroyed, and slavery too. When God created the world, He said, "let there be light;" but all great parties in America, both North and South, have combined to put down agitation. Peace, peace, shouted the President from his chair of State in the White House—the governors in their annual

messages—the judges from their benches—the senators and legislators from their places in the Halls of Congress-the editors from their columns in the newspaper - and clergymen from their pulpits; peace we have had, when there has been no peace, because it has been a false peace; the first threat of agitation to let in light upon our terrible condition, used by President Lincoln only as a "catch word," and not intended to be enforced by him, has brought the whole frame work of the Union to the ground, and laid prostrate the "Grand Republic" in ruins! How insecure were its foundations and rotten its timbers, when a political mountebank brings it down with a word which he utterred as a prediction, and disavowed it as expressing a wish or purpose on the subject of freedom or slavery!

How true the words of Bishop M'Croskey of the Episcopal Church in the State of Michigan, when he said, "there was less religion and more pretence in the United States of America, than in any country of

the world professedly christian!"

In an Egyptian legend it is said that every five hundred years Phœnix comes to the altar of the sun, and burns himself to ashes. On the first day after this a worm springs out of the ashes—on the second, an unfledged bird—and on the third the full-grown Phœnix flies away. Out of the ashes of our revolution we shall have not only a new nation in the shape of a worm, but probably many. They may creep the first day, be weak the second, but at last their free pinions will

strike the air, and brood over the whole land, to be claimed by each and all as the bright heritage of freedom. Thus will the Phœnix of our revolution be prolific. and in her pangs not only give birth to "a new and" better order of things," but to a higher and nobler life for her progeny? The process is trying and severe; but the fiery process was necessary in order to remove the "hindrances to the development of our social, political and spiritual well-being." All hail, therefore, to the new progeny that are to crown with freedom America's destiny. O worms, let us see you crawl out to your new life, rise up before the nations full formed and fledged, the marvel of strength and beauty. Then the air will breathe peace, and the different tribes of men will sing the anthem of peace, and no harsh words in the hallelujah chorus of peace will disturb the world's harmony like those which Wendel Phillips, Esq., in his celebrated Abingdon Speech, said, were uttered by the Rev. Moncure D. Conway, "Let the English come on, we will meet them." Neither would the hoarse voice of the auctioneer be heard-

"Going, going, going!
Who bids for the mother's care?
Who bids for the blue-eyed girl?
Her skin is fair, and her soft brown hair
Is guiltless of a curl.

"Going, gentlemen, going! The child is worth your bids. There is a bargain to be gained; This tiny thing will one day bring A pile of yellow gold."

All hail the blessed day of freedom.

JOSHUA R. BALME.

An American Baptist Clergyman.

32 Sun Street, Liverpool, July 2, 1863;



AMERICAN STATES, CHURCHES, AND SLAVERY.

BY THE

REV. J. R. BALME,

AN AMERICAN CLERGYMAN.

OPINIONS OF THE PRESS.

"Mr. Balme writes with considerable observation, some humour, and a positive air of sincerity. There is a sledge hammer method of oratory with which he knocks down all the idols of American enthusiasm, which renders it very easy to believe that he made himself a most unpleasant neighbour among the idolaters of the Union. The Jesuitical cunning of Everett, the Pharoah's hard-heartedness of Lincoln, the hypocrisy of the Beechers and Mrs. Stowe, the unblushing sophistry of Seward, the impious inconsistency of most of the negro-hating emancipationists who are still clamouring to reduce the South by war, are held up to universal 'loathing and contempt' with a fervour which would probably land him in Fort Lafayette, if he were now within the reach of President Lincoln's police."—Saturday Review, Nov. 8, 1862.

"At the present momentous epoch in American affairs hardly anything can be published which does not contain more or less interest. Pamphlets and volumes which may have been published years ago are eagerly enquired after, since they are almost certain to contain facts and allusions which in some way bear on the great crisis that has suddenly riven a continent in twain. Mr. Balme's work, in spite of its imperfections, contains a vast amount of useful and important facts, which are probably unknown to the great pro-

portion of English readers. And though much of what he writes is well known to them, it is acceptable as being recorded in a permanent form. His opinion of the President, the Secretary of State, and other men in the government, is by no means flattering, and some extracts from their writings and speeches are peculiarly interesting. As a book of reference, and containing much that is useful and curious this work will, we doubt not, find many readers."—Christian News, Aug. 30, 1862.

"The author of this volume is British-born, but having emigrated to America he acquired property, and was naturalized as a subject of the United States. Taught from his early years to regard slaveholding as a monstrous wrong, he did not, like very many of our countrymen who emigrate, lay aside his anti-slavery thoughts and feelings, imbibe the prevailing prejudices against the coloured races. and palliate and defend the enormities of the "institution." Instead of this, the more intimate his knowledge of the system the more deep-rooted became his abhorrence of it. Instead of speaking with bated breath upon the subject, he lifted his voice like a trumpet in behalf of the down-trodden negro, and vehemently denounced all who were directly or indirectly engaged in the accursed traffic. The result was such as might have been anticipated. He was subjected, not to petty annoyances and foul reproach, but to the most truculent and unrelenting persecution, being compelled, after a narrow escape from Lynch-law, to sail for England, in which he landed two years ago in a state of destitution. True to his mission as an apostle of emancipation, we find him here coming forward with unconquered spirit, telling the people of this country what he thinks of the Federals and the Confederates in their connection with slavery, showing the fearful extent to which the ministers of religion and the Christian denominations are implicated, and declaring that, in the war now raging, with its accumulated horrors, there are the tokens of Heaven's vengeance on the unfaithfulness of those who profess to be witnesses for God. The

writer expresses his views with no small strength of lan guage, but his character as a man of veracity is attested by abundant evidence, and he is careful to support the more important of his statements by documentary proof.

"At the commencement of the war the people of the Free States had a golden opportunity of washing their hands of all further share in the guilt of slaveholding, and if they had at once taken the bold and honest step of declaring all men equal before the law, recognising at the same time the claim for compensation on the part of those who, under the protection of legal guarantees, had acquired property in slaves, they would have secured the moral support of Europe; but few or none had the idea of equal rights to the black and the white man, and many who resisted the extension of slave territory were equally prepared to resist the removal of the legal brand of inferiority which was stamped on the African. The Union was the idol of the people, and to preserve it they were willing, not only to abate their demands on the subject of extension, but to fence round the vile system with new and more effectual barricades. Having sown the wind they are reaping the whirlwind.

"Those who are really desirous to know the position of the American Churches in regard to slavery will do well to procure this volume. They will find ample evidence that even the Cheevers, and the Beechers, and the Stowes are not absolutely free of the taint, that the anti-British feeling of these is intense, and that they condescend, when it suits their purpose, to pander to the worst passions of the mob. We shall be glad to learn that Mr. Balme's book has a large circulation."—Morning Journal, Aug. 25, 1862.

[&]quot;We have already given samples of this thrilling volume; but we cannot withhold a general and very fervent recommendation of it. Its appearance is peculiarly seasonable. and its extensive circulation can scarcely fail to give an impulse to the reviving anti-slavery spirit of England. is replete with facts, many of them of the highest import-

ance as touching individuals, churches and Christian communities. It is a book which may be opened anywhere and read straight on, for a spirit of life pervades the whole. It is quite a repertory of slavery matters, and greatly suited to the eventful hour which is passing over us."—British Standard, Aug. 29, 1862.

"Mr. Balme may be regarded as a John Brown redivivus, except that he has not yet sealed his testimony with his blood; and being an English Baptist, who only went to America in 1852, he has entered with energy into a matter of American sins and sorrows. We have said that this volume is amusing, but it is also instructive. Mr. Balme has gathered together a number of sayings of their leading men (Americans), which tell painfully against them, and illustrate the rotten state of their boasted civilization."—
Scotsman, Aug. 16, 1862.

"Mr. Balme expounds many phases of American society, and draws pictures that ought to startle those, who, like John Bright, have been in the habit of lauding the institutions of the new world as vastly superior to those of the old. He is unflinching in his denunciation of slavery and slave-owners, but he also strongly condemns the war carried on by the North against the South. He writes clearly, and enunciates his opinions fearlessly. We commend his book."—Leed's Intelligencer, August, 27th, 1864.

"We sincerely wish that these letters could be put into the hands of every person in this country, inasmuch as they are calculated to correct many of those misconceptions into which not a few of our countrymen have fallen, respecting the great quarrel in which the States of America are now engaged. The author shews himself to be perfectly familiar with all the facts and circumstances connected with the history of the United States."—Staffordshire Sentinel, May 21, 1864.

- "It illustrates wide spread errors through all classes of the American community, and exhibits no less the mischiefs resulting from the dereliction of the fundamental duties on which their political institutions repose."—Morning Post, Aug. 29, 1862.
- "The circumstances of Mr. Balme's life have been such as to make him practically acquainted with the horrors of slavery. He had suffered much in behalf of the cause of freedom. For his advocacy of this cause we give him all honour."—Daily Review, Sept. 8, 1862.
- "Mr. Balme's experience enables him to teach with authority."—Wendell Phillips, Esq., Boston, Sept. 22, 1862.
- "Mr. Balme is a very extensive author, and the work before us is a very able exposure of slavery in all its forms and with all its patronage. The book is well got up, and will, we trust, have a rapid sale."—Glasgow Examiner. Sept. 13, 1862.
- "His book is replete with interesting matter; a well furnished store house of facts."—Morning Advertiser, Aug. 7, 1862.
- "Rev. J. P. Mursell, said, Mr. Balme had long been known to him by name as one of the most unflinching advocates of freedom in America, and had made it his object to purify the Church of the dreadful sin of slavery. He quite sympathised with his fervour and enthusiasm, and honoured him for it. He had not only advocated freedom, but suffered for it."—Report of a Public Meeting at the Town Hall, Leicester, May, 1861, in the Leicester Mercury.

"The appearance of the volume before us is well-timed, for at no period since the outbreak of the present war in America, have the Unionists on both sides of the Atlantic been more active to deceive the British subjects into the belief that the emancipation of the negroes is the chief object which the Northern public has in view in carrying on the conflict. When people in England, suspected of Southern proclivities, are charged with wishing to see established on the American continent, a new Republic, the chief corner-stone of which would be slavery, one is apt to suppose, that the old Republic, for the restoration of which soldiers are fighting and divines are praying, was altogether free from this particular sin of holding the negro in bondage, and that the men and women of the North who are suffering by reason of the war, are noble martyrs in the cause of freedom. There is a section of the English people who cherish this conviction. Ministers like the Rev. Newman Hall, whose feelings are stronger than their intellect, and politicians of the Bright and Cobden school, whose admiration of the Republican institutions makes them believe in anything sooner than the final disruption of the American Union, strive with all the eloquence that they have at their command to convince the English people that the North alone is deserving of their sympathies, that the South must in the end succumb, and that the result of the war will be the restoration of the Union, and the complete overthrow of the institution of slavery. Hence, we are told it is the duty of Englishmen to pray for the success of the stars and stripes, to flatter Mr Lincoln with unctuous addresses, while the cause of the South must be regarded with loathing and contempt. By such means as these, many a good, well meaning man has been induced to cast in his lot with the pro-Federals, and to become most ardent advocates of their cause. But we think that if these kindly disposed people had been acquainted with the real history of the slavery question, so far as the North is concerned, their attitude towards the South would be very different

from what it is at present. Mr. Balme in his work on the American States, Churches, and Slavery has given to the world this history, which, we would hope, is destined to work a great change in the minds of those who think that the Confederates alone are to blame for the existence and spread of slavery on the American continent. Mr. Balme is a vigorous and pleasing writer. He can be humorous and even pathetic at times, but the trenchant, sledge-hammer style becomes him the best, and woe be to the object of his wrath or censure. He is an uncompromising opponent of slavery, and a thorough hater of those hypocritical time-servers who, for the sake of pelf, once fraternised in Christian fellowship with the very men whom they are now seeking to exterminate. Had not the South seceded from the Union, there never would have been the present outcry in the North against slavery. When profit was to be made out of the system-when the Funds of the Missionary, Bible, and Tract Societies, were swelled, with what is justly called the "blood money" of the Souththe pulpit then was silent. It was deemed no sin for Northern Christians to hold communion with Southern slaveholders. Whilst the South was for slavery, the North was not against it, and even after the war commenced, it was openly avowed that "if the Southerners would return to their allegiance to the Federal Government before the date given for Lincoln's proclamation to come into operation, the Federal Government would give them new guarantees for slavery." Before the war broke out even the Leeds Mercury—which is now the mouth-piece of the Yorkshire War Christians-admitted that "in almost every religious community even in the Free States, there is a majority who, whilst disliking slavery themselves, decline to make opposition to it a leading article of their political and religious creed, and would object to form either political parties or religious associations on the basis of a thorough and constant antagonism to the dreadful crime of slave-holding." But this is not all. Northern Christians were not content

with tolerating slavery and fraternising with slave-holders: they must needs make the sincere abolitionist, who would have nothing whatever to do with the accursed thing, an object of persecution. Our author was one of those unfortunates, and the narrative he gives of the sufferings he endured for conscience sake, ought to be read by all who are inclined to think that the guilt of slavery attaches solely to the South. Mr. Balme thus forcibly sets forth the influence exerted by Northern Christianity on the Southern mind, in reference to slavery. "You," says the South to the North, "taught us that slavery was a divine and holy thing. You made slavery sacred as an institution of the South, and fenced it about without, whilst we made it secure within! You helped to enthrone slavery in the supreme government of the States and Churches of our land! And when you quickened us into life, and nursed us into power, you bowed your necks to the yoke in servility, crouched at our feet, and crawled in the dust to pick up the 'almighty dollar' in your commercial policy, that we might bear political rule over you! Where was the constitution then? And where were your black hoofs? And as you have long set us the example of trampling upon what you call 'constitutional rights and forms of enlightened government,' now you think to rob us of our commercial dues when you take back our political power and rule! But in this you are mistaken. At least we shall see what we will see." It is clear, then, that we should act unjustly to the South, if we should charge upon it the full sin of slavery. Northern Christians, Northern politicians, Northern men of business, are equal sharers of the guilt, and to pretend to be otherwise is the height of hypocrisy and deception. Abolitionism is only popular in FreeStates even now, when allied with the cause of the Union. On Mr Balme first entering a Northern pulpit the advice given to him by the leading members of his church was to 'preach the Gospel, and let slavery alone." Because his conscience would not allow him to do this, he was literally starved out. This took place at Chicago. Mr Balme then removed to St. Paul, Minnesotta, whither the malignant opposition of his adversaries followed him. He was vituperated and plundered of his property. "Stern necessity" at length compelled him to leave his home, and we ultimately meet with him at New York, where, after untold hardships, he arrived "with blistered feet and crunching pain in his limbs from rheumatic fever, the very picture of penury, sorrow and grief." He looked around, he says, for the "kind and gentle hearts that feel another's woe;" but being an abolitionist, "he was shunned as the plague by the mass of the clergy and laity in New York," and with few exceptions, he found it no better among the abolitionists themselves. He met with better treatment in Boston, where he obtained the means to secure a "deck passage" to England; and he is now, he tells us, trying to raise the means to re-establish his mission in America by means of the press. We believe that Mr Balme, who resided in Hull before he went to America, is at present in the town; and we are glad to learn that he has met with here a greater number of real friends of the slave then he ever found in the boasted Free States of America."-Hull News.







